Covariant Holographic Renormalization of Non-Conformal Field Theories

E.P. van Eijk

November 30, 2010

Abstract

We present a Covariant Holographic Renormalization (CHR) procedure of fake supergravity (sugra) systems. Holography is a strong/weak coupling duality between gravitational and gauge theories, and fake sugra is a theory of gravity coupled to scalars in which the scalar potential can be derived from a superpotential in some specific way.

Other systematic methods of holographic renormalization of fake sugra exist, but they are all restricted to spacetimes that are asymptotically anti-de Sitter (aAdS). According to the AdS/CFT correspondence, their dual quantum field theories are conformal in the ultraviolet.

Covariant Holographic Renormalization can be applied to fake sugra systems in both aAdS and non-aAdS backgrounds. The field theories dual to non-aAdS sugra systems are non-conformal. So far, the method is limited to the renormalization of two-point functions.

The CHR procedure shows that the divergences from the bare fake sugra action can be cancelled by covariant counterterms without introducing new divergences.

Doctoral Thesis supervised by Dr. Wolfgang Mück

Università degli studi di Napoli "Federico II"

E-mail: vaneijk@na.infn.it

Contents

1	Introduction and outline	5
	1.1 Part I: Background	5
	1.2 Part II: Developments	9
	1.3 Part III: Case Studies	11
	1.4 Part IV: Summary, Outlook and Appendix	12
Ι	Background	13
2	Renormalization in QFT	14
	2.1 Free Scalar Field Theory	14
	2.2 Interacting Scalar Field Theory	15
	2.3 Regularization	16
	2.4 Redefinition of parameters	16
	2.5 Counterterms	17
3	Holographic Renormalization 3.1 Holographic Generating Functional	18 18
4	Fake Supergravity 4.1 Bare Action 4.2 Fluctuations around the background	20 20 21
5	Gauge Invariant Fluctuations 5.1 Diffeomorphism invariance	23 23
6	Ward Identities 6.1 Translational Ward identity 6.2 Conformal Ward identity 6.2.1 Anomaly, scheme dependence and finite terms	27 27 27 29
7	Holographic Renormalization in aAdS 7.1 Fixed point	30 30 31

	7.2	Standard method	33
	7.3	Hamilton-Jacobi method	36
		7.3.1 Case studies: GPPZ and CBF	39
II	D	evelopments	41
8	Dive	ergences of the Bare Action	42
	8.1	Bare Action Redefined	42
	8.2	Scalar variation	43
	8.3	Metric variation	44
	8.4	Total variation	45
9	Non	-Covariant Counterterms	46
	9.1	Regularization and renormalization	46
	9.2	Counterterms	47
	9.3	Finite two-point functions	48
	9.4	Scheme dependence	50
		9.4.1 Scheme dependence and finite terms	51
10	Diff	erential Equations for Counterterm Matrices	52
	10.1	Counterterm Matrix	52
	10.2	Counterterm Function	53
	10.3	Away from the Background	54
11	Bou	ndary Covariant Counterterms	55
	11.1	Comparison to Hamilton-Jacobi method	55
	11.2	Covariant Holographic Renormalization	56
	11.3	Anomaly	62
12	Ren	ormalized Action	63
	12.1	Two finite functions	63
	12.2	Zeroth order terms	65
	12.3	Preliminaries for the first order terms	66
	12.4	First order terms	69 70
	12.5	Second order terms	70
13	One	-Scalar Systems in aAdS	73
	13.1	Preliminaries	73
	13.2	Counterterms from scalar solution	73
	13.3	Counterterms from metric solution	75
	13.4	Four-dimensional aAdS counterterms	-77

III Case Studies

14	GPP	Z	79
	14.1 (Conventional Construction of Counterterms	79
	1	14.1.1 Scalars	80
	1	14.1.2 Metric	81
	14.2 \$	Solving differential equations	82
	1	$14.2.1$ Scalar \ldots	82
	1	14.2.2 Metric	83
	1	14.2.3 One-point functions	84
15	Could	omb Branch Flow	85
10	15.1 (Conventional Construction of Counterterms	85
	10.1	15.1.1 Scalar	86
	1	15.1.2 Metric	86
	15.2.5	Solving differential equations	87
	10.2 1	15.2.1 Scalars	87
	1	15.2.2 Metric	87
]	15.2.3 One-point functions	88
16	Two	Scalars in aAdS	89
10	16.1 (Conventional Construction of Counterterms	89
	10.1 (16.1.1 Scalars	90
	1	16.1.2 Metric	93
	16.2.5	Solving differential equations	93
	16.3 I	Preferred Scheme	95
	16.4 9	Spontaneous Vev	96
	16.5 I	Inversion in the two-scalar system	97
17	Non-	a A dS. Klebanov-Strassler	ga
т,	17 1 F	Rackground	99
	17.2 (Cancellation of Divergences	100
IV	σ Sι	ummary, Outlook and Appendix	102
18	Sumr	nary	103
	18.1 (Covariant Holographic Renormalization	103
19	Outlo	ook	106
	19.1 I	Leaving the background	106
	19.2 I	Recombination	106
	19.3	Translational Ward identity	107
	19.4 H	Higher n -point functions $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	108

 $\mathbf{78}$

\mathbf{A}	Not	ation	109
	A.1	Scalars	109
	A.2	Metric	110
в	Cou	nterterm expansion	111
	B.1	Expansion of Individual Counterterms	111
	B.2	General Expansions	112
\mathbf{C}	One	-point functions	115
	C.1	Renormalized Action	115
	C.2	Linear Expansion	116
	C.3	Quadratic Expansion	118
	C.4	One-point Functions	120

Chapter 1 Introduction and outline

 \diamond This thesis is divided into four parts. In the first part we discuss the required background. This comprises an overview of the literature on the subject of holographic renormalization until the present day including an exposition of all the formulas that are interesting to us, ending in a formulation of our research question. In the second part we specifically discuss our research, *i.e* the development of the Covariant Holographic Renormalization method. In the third part we apply CHR to some case studies in aAdS and non-aAdS. We end in the fourth part with a summary and outlook, followed by the appendix and references. Each part is divided into a number of chapters. Below we give a qualitative overview of the content of each chapter, while we simultaneously introduce our notation and terminology. \diamond

1.1 Part I: Background

Chapter 2: Renormalization in QFT Quantum Field Theory (QFT) is very successful in describing interactions between fundamental particles. The heart of the theory is a *generating functional* that is built from the action, from which correlation functions can be found by functional differentiation. In turn, the correlation functions, or *correlators* for short, appear in formulas that predict cross-sections and decay widths. These are physically measurable predictions that have been scrutinously tested at particle colliders, with great precision and success.

A major stumbling block in the development of QFT was the obiquitous occurence of infinities. In an interacting quantum field theory, the so-called bare action leads to a generating functional that generates infinite correlators, yielding senseless physical predictions such as an infinite probability for two particles to collide. The infinities arise because the correlators are calculated by taking integrals over the virtual momenta, which go from zero to infinity, and are therefore called *ultraviolet divergences*.

Luckily this problem was overcome by the procedure of *renormalization*. The philosophy of renormalization is that the parameters in the action that in the free theory have the interpretation of physical particle masses and coupling constants can no longer be interpreted this way in the interacting theory. This reinterpretation is justified because the parameters in the action are not directly measurable quantities.

First, the interacting theory must be *regularized* in some artificial way, for example by integrating the momenta from zero to some finite cut-off instead of to infinity. Then, in many theories the dependence on the cut-off can be absorbed into a redefinition of the masses and coupling constants. When the action is rewritten in terms of the physical masses and couplings, it reproduces the bare action, but this time with the physical parameters, plus other terms called *counterterms*. The regularized action is defined as the sum of the bare action plus the counterterms, and the renormalized action is defined as the regularized action in the limit where the cut-off goes to infinity. A field theory is called renormalizable when this limit exists. All quantum field theories of the Standard Model are renormalizable.

Counterterms do not alter the equations of motion. Their only job is to cancel the divergences from the bare action by introducing equal divergences with opposite sign. The renormalization procedure has an inherent ambiguity, since we are always free to add finite terms to the action. Each finite term can be multiplied by an arbitrary constant called a *scheme constant*. The dependence of the renormalized action (and hence the correlators) on the scheme constants is called *scheme dependence*.

Chapter 3: Holographic Renormalization To make predictions with quantum field theory, one often has to rely on perturbation theory. Unfortunately, perturbation theory only works in the regime where the couplings are small, and is unfitted for strongly coupled interactions, such as the confinement of quarks in mesons and hadrons. To describe such a phenomenon, we need a theory that is predictive at strong coupling.

At first sight, one might think that we are forced to look for a theory that is not based on perturbation, since we are precisely interested in the regime where the gauge coupling becomes too strong to be used as a perturbation parameter. But physics knows many examples of strong/weak coupling dualities. These are dualities between two equivalent theories, one of which has a strong coupling while the other has a weak one. We may then perform a pertubation in the weak coupling parameter, and afterwards map the result to the strongly decoupled description using the duality.



Indeed, there exists a strong/weak coupling duality between quantum field theories on one side and classical supergravity theories on the other. This duality is called *holography* [25, 26], since the sugra theories live in d + 1 dimensions while their dual quantum field theories live in only d dimensions. According to the holographic duality, the on-shell action of a supergravity theory in d+1 dimensions is the generating functional of the connected correlators of a quantum field theory in d dimensions. In some cases we may even define a quantum field theory by its gravitational dual. The duality is quite remarkable, not only because one theory lives in a different number of spatial dimensions than the other, but also because one theory describes classical gravity while the other describes quantum gauge interactions. The duality has not yet been proven, but by now the accumulated evidence in favor of it is enormous.

When two theories are dual, all symmetries and properties in one theory have their counterparts in the dual theory. For example, the ultraviolet (UV) divergences of quantum field theory are related to infrared (IR) divergences in the supergravity theory that arise due to the infinite volume of spacetime. Both theories therefore require regularization and renormalization (which in both cases is scheme dependent). In quantum field theory, we can renormalize the bare action by adding counterterms to it. The dual counterpart of this procedure is called *holographic renormalization*: instead of adding counterterms to the bare quantum field theory action, we add them to the bare supergravity action.

\iff	Dual	\iff	Bare QFT Action
			\downarrow
			QFT Renormalization:
			Add counterterms
			\downarrow
\iff	Dual	\iff	Renormalized QFT Action
	\Leftrightarrow	eq:def-def-def-def-def-def-def-def-def-def-	$\Leftrightarrow \text{Dual} \Leftrightarrow \\ \Leftrightarrow \text{Dual} \leftrightarrow \\$

The occurence of divergences in the on-shell bare action was noted already in [12, 13, 19]. The first divergence that was removed by adding a counterterm was the divergence of the boundary volume in the setting of pure gravity (no scalar fields) on an Anti-de Sitter (AdS) background [15]. According to the AdS/CFT correspondence [16, 28], the gravitational theory in AdS has a dual quantum field theory with conformal symmetry, and is therefore called conformal field theory (CFT). The general structure of the divergent terms and the relation of the logarithmically divergent terms to the conformal anomaly, also known as Weyl anomaly, of the dual CFT was discussed in [14], but still in the context of pure gravity in AdS.

So far, only three systematic procedures of holographic renormalization are known for gravity coupled to scalar fields Φ : the *standard method* [4], the *Hamilton-Jacobi method* [8, 17], and *Hamiltonian Holographic Renormalization* [21]. However, these methods are restricted to supergravity theories living in a spacetime that is asymptotically anti-de Sitter. Hence, their duals are always conformal field theories. We will discuss the standard method and the Hamilton-Jacobi method in section 7, but we will not discuss Hamiltonian Holographic Renormalization in this thesis.

In order to calculate strongly coupled correlators in non-conformal quantum field theories, it is therefore necessary to extend the method of holographic renormalization to spacetimes that are not aAdS. Indeed, the AdS/CFT correspondence is believed to hold more generally, including a *non-AdS/non-CFT correspondence*. In general the holographic duality is called the *gauge/gravity correspondence*. There are many reviews on this subject, for example [1,9-11,20,23,24].

Chapter 4: Fake Supergravity In order to extend the holographic renormalization program for scalars coupled to gravity from aAdS to general spacetimes, we consider a special type of theory, called *fake supergravity*. The action couples gravity to an arbitrary number of scalars Φ^a by some sigma-model metric G_{ab} , where *a* and *b* run from one to the number of scalars n_s . By definition of a fake supergravity theory, the scalar potential $V(\Phi)$ must be derivable from a superpotential $W(\Phi)$ by some specific prescription. Fake supergravity theories can be supersymmetric, but they are not necessarily so, hence the adjective "fake". The relation between supergravity and fake supergravity was studied in [7,29]. The sigma-model metric and the superpotential together define the theory completely. The fake sugra system allows for solutions which are the gravitational duals of renormalization group flows in quantum field theory.

Fake supergravity theories arise in a variety of physical models, such as consistent truncations of type IIB supergravity, see for example section 3 in [2]. Fake sugra is well suited for our research, because the generic action is simple yet general enough to allow for solutions that are either aAdS or not, depending on the choice of superpotential. If the superpotential approaches a constant at the boundary, called a *fixed point*, then the solutions are aAdS, otherwise they are not. The existence of a fixed point simplifies the holographic renormalization procedure considerably, since it allows for a Taylor expansion of the potential and superpotential around the fixed point.

Chapter 5: Gauge Invariant Fluctuations Our work builds especially upon [6], which focussed on the renormalization of two-point functions in a general spacetime. To study two-point functions, an expansion of the action up to quadratic order in the fluctuations around the background is enough. On the background, the scalars are functions of the radial coordinate r only. When we consider small fluctuations around the background, the scalar fields become dependent on the boundary coordinates x as well. Similarly, we consider small metric fluctuations.

In [2] the degrees of freedom of the scalar and metric fluctuations are combined into combinations that are invariant under diffeomorphisms (gauge invariant), denoted by \mathfrak{a}^a , \mathfrak{b} , \mathfrak{c} , \mathfrak{d}^i , and \mathfrak{e}^i_j . The unphysical (gauge) degrees of freedom are denoted by ϵ^i , H and h.

The generating functional of the quantum field theory is the *on-shell* supergravity action, so the physical fluctuations satisfy their equations of motion (The unphysical degrees of freedom are not dynamical so they do not obey any equations of motion.) We use the equations of motion to eliminate \mathfrak{b} and \mathfrak{c} in favor of \mathfrak{a}^a , and find \mathfrak{d}^i equal to zero to the required order. We are then left with only the equations of motion for \mathfrak{a}^a and \mathfrak{e}^i_j . A great avantage of the gauge invariant formalism is that the equation of motion for the the gauge invariant scalar fluctuations \mathfrak{a}^a decouples from the equation of motion for the traceless and transverse metric fluctuations \mathbf{e}_{j}^{i} , so that they can be studied separately. Another advantage is that \mathbf{e}_{j}^{i} behaves like a massless scalar.

Chapter 6: Ward Identities Before we discuss the existing methods of holographic renormalization in aAdS, we first discuss the translational Ward identity, which should always hold (since the dual field theory should have translational invariance), and the conformal Ward identity that holds only in aAdS (since then the dual field theory is conformal). This allows us to define the conformal anomaly, which we need to discuss the Hamilton-Jacobi method.

Chapter 7: Holographic Renormalization in aAdS We show how the existence of a fixed point allows for a Taylor expansion around this fixed point, so we can write down general expansions for the potential $V(\Phi)$ and the superpotential $W(\Phi)$. Then we respectively discuss the standard method and the Hamilton-Jacobi method of holographic renormalization in aAdS, which rely on this Taylor expansion right from the beginning.

1.2 Part II: Developments

Chapter 8: Divergences of the Bare Action We start our research by explicitly writing down all divergences of the bare action in terms of the gauge invariant variables. There are three divergent terms, involving respectively only the fields \mathfrak{a}^a , \mathfrak{e}^i_j and h. Each term is of quadratic order of the same field without any mixing to other fields.

Chapter 9: Non-Covariant Counterterms In [6] a counterterm matrix \mathcal{U}_{ab} was constructed to renormalize the two-point functions of quantum field theory operators dual to the fluctuations of the gauge invariant bulk scalars \mathfrak{a}^a that live in a general spacetime. Since the physical metric behaves like a massless scalar, we can immediately write down the equivalent counterterm function \mathcal{T} for the traceless transverse metric fluctuations \mathfrak{e}^i_j . For simplicity, we will refer to \mathcal{U}_{ab} and \mathcal{T} collectively as "counterterm matrices". The counterterm matrices appear in the counterterm action "sandwiched" between the fluctuations, like

$$\mathfrak{a}^{a}\mathcal{U}_{ab}\mathfrak{a}^{b}, \qquad \mathfrak{e}^{i}_{j}\mathcal{T}\mathfrak{e}^{j}_{i}.$$

Clearly, the counterterms obtained this way are not covariant. As a non-covariant counterterm for the gauge field h we just write down the divergent term from the bare action with opposite sign. These three counterterms together form a counterterm action $S_{\rm cnt}$ that cancels all divergences from the bare action, but is not covariant.

Chapter 10: Differential Equations for Counterterm Matrices The counterterm matrices \mathcal{U}_{ab} and \mathcal{T} are defined in terms of the dominant solutions to the equations of motion for the scalars and metric respectively. Since these solutions satisfy differential equations, so do the counterterm matrices. These differential equations turn out to be very useful in what follows.

Chapter 11: Boundary Covariant Counterterms The goal of this thesis is to show how the required non-covariant counterterm action S_{cnt} arises consistently from a boundary covariant one S_{cov} . By "boundary covariant" we mean that the counterterm action is allowed to depend explicitly on the cut-off of the radial variable, but must be covariant with respect to the boundary coordinates such that the dual field theory, that lives on the boundary, is fully covariant. We will often abbreviate "boundary covariance" to just "covariance" when it is clear from the context what we mean.

We construct the covariant counterterms in $S_{\rm cov}$ such that, after an expansion up to quadratic order in the fluctuations, they produce the required non-covariant part $S_{\rm cnt}$. Starting with covariant counterterms, the expansion in fluctuations automatically produces another part $S_{\rm fin}$, which has to be finite by itself because the divergences from the bare action are already cancelled by $S_{\rm cnt}$. After the expansion in fluctuations, we therefore have $S_{\rm cov} = S_{\rm cnt} + S_{\rm fin}$. Working with covariant counterterms has the advantage that the unphysical degrees of freedom can be studied along with the physical ones, without any gauge fixing.

First, we write down the general structure of all possible covariant counterterms. Each counterterm is classified by its number of derivatives. We keep terms up to four derivatives, which after the expansion and partial integration yields terms up to quadratic order in the d'Alembertian \Box . This order is sufficient for four-dimensional field theories. There are seven counterterms to be determined: one at zeroth order, two at first order and three at second order in \Box .

The starting point we described above is the same as in the Hamilton-Jacobi method. However, in the Hamilton-Jacobi method, the next step is to expand the unknown functions of the scalars into a Taylor series around the fixed point. In non-aAdS spacetimes there is no fixed point, so this step is impossible. Instead, we expand the counterterms *around the background* up to quadratic order in the fluctuations.

We then fix the background values of the unknown functions by demanding that the renormalized action is finite. Five out of seven counterterms are fixed by the requirement that we reproduce the non-covariant counterterms proportional to $\mathfrak{a}^{a}\mathcal{U}_{ab}\mathfrak{a}^{b}$ and $\mathfrak{e}_{j}^{i}\mathcal{T}\mathfrak{e}_{i}^{j}$. The other two counterterms are determined by the requirement that the remaining part of the expanded action is finite by itself.

Chapter 12: Renormalized Action We show that we do not introduce any new divergences. When we expand the covariant counterterm S_{cov} up to quadratic order in the fluctuations, not only do we find the required non-covariant part S_{cnt} that kills the divergences from the bare action by construction, but also another part S_{fin} , which has to be finite by itself. The requirement that S_{cov} produces the required part S_{cnt} fixes S_{fin} up to first order in \Box , but we have the freedom to choose the counterterms such

that all terms of order \Box^2 are finite. At zeroth and first order, we explicitly show that there are no divergences in S_{fin} under a reasonable assumption.

Chapter 13: One-Scalar Systems in aAdS We show that Covariant Holographic Renormalization reproduces the same results as the Hamilton-Jacobi method for aAdS systems with one scalar.

1.3 Part III: Case Studies

In the third part we test our method on three aAdS systems: the GPPZ flow, the Coulomb Branch Flow, and the two scalar $SU(2) \times U(1)$ flow, and finally on a non-aAdS system, the Klebanov-Strassler theory. In one-scalar systems, we distinguish between operator flows and vev flows. In an operator flow, the QFT operator \mathcal{O} dual to the bulk scalar Φ has a vacuum expectation value (vev) that is purely scheme dependent, while in a vev flow it has a non-zero vev independently of the scheme. We construct the counterterm matrices \mathcal{U}_{ab} and \mathcal{T} in two ways. First by their explicit definition in terms of the dominant solutions to the equations of motion, and then by solving the differential equations they obey. Either way leads to the same result, but the second way is much faster.

Chapter 14: GPPZ The GPPZ flow is an operator flow. The operator dual to the bulk scalar has conformal dimension $\Delta = 3$. We find the counterterms, calculate the one-point functions and show that the Ward identities are satisfied.

Chapter 15: Coulomb Branch Flow The Coulomb Branch Flow is a vev flow. The operator dual to the bulk scalar has conformal dimension $\Delta = 2$. We find the counterterms, calculate the one-point functions and show that the Ward identities are satsified.

Chapter 16: Two Scalars in aAdS The $SU(2) \times U(1)$ flow has two scalars, one with $\Delta = 2$ and one with $\Delta = 3$. We find the counterterms and show that when the $\Delta = 3$ scalar is made inert, the counterterms reduce to the counterterms for the Coulomb Branch Flow, such that the operator dual to the remaining scalar has a non-zero vev independently of the scheme.

Chapter 17: Non-aAdS: Klebanov-Strassler The Klebanov-Strassler system is non-aAdS. Because of its complexity, we are not yet able to construct the counterterms, but we are able to show a non-trivial cancellation of divergences that confirms one of the predictions of Covariant Holographic Renormalization. The cancellation of divergences takes place at first order in \Box within the counterterms themselves. This is an important result, because it shows how the counterterms conspire to cancel divergences from the bare action without introducing new divergences.

1.4 Part IV: Summary, Outlook and Appendix

We summarize our work and indicate the direction of our future research. Appendix A gives an overview of our notation, appendix B shows the details of the expansion of the counterterm action up to second order in the fluctuations, and appendix C shows how to calculate one-point functions up to linear order in the fluctuations from the renormalized action.

Part I Background

Chapter 2 Renormalization in QFT

 \diamond We review renormalization in Quantum Field Theory (QFT), assuming the reader is already familiar with this subject. Our working example is scalar field theory. The action leads to physical predictions through a generating functional from which correlators can be derived. We discuss the physical interpretation of the correlators and the philosophy of regularization and renormalization. In this thesis, we will always use a cut-off for the regularization and counterterms for the renormalization. This section relies heavily on section 10.2 in [22]. \diamond

A quantum field theory is defined by an action $S[\phi]$, which is a functional of some set of fields ϕ . Our goal is to make physical predictions with the action, so we need to subtract physical quantities from it.

2.1 Free Scalar Field Theory

Consider a free scalar field theory defined by the Klein-Gordon Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi - \frac{1}{2} m^2 \phi^2, \qquad (2.1.1)$$

where m has the interpretation of the mass of the scalar field ϕ . From the Lagrangian, we construct the generating functional¹

$$Z[\mathfrak{s}] \equiv e^{-iW[\mathfrak{s}]} \equiv \int \mathcal{D}\phi \exp\left(i\int d^4x \left[\mathcal{L} + \mathfrak{s}(x)\phi(x)\right]\right), \qquad (2.1.2)$$

where $\mathfrak{s}(x)$ is the *source* coupling to the QFT operator $\phi(x)$. The physical quantities we can subtract from the generating functional are called *n*-point correlation functions, or *n*-point functions for short. The *n*-point function is defined by taking *n* functional

¹The quantity $W[\mathfrak{s}] = i \log Z[\mathfrak{s}]$ is the generating functional of *connected* correlators. In [22] the symbol J(x) is used for the source, while we use $\mathfrak{s}(x)$.

differentiations of the generating functional with respect to the source. For example, the one- and two-point functions are given by

$$\langle \phi(x) \rangle = -\frac{i}{Z[\mathfrak{s}]} \frac{\delta Z[\mathfrak{s}]}{\delta \mathfrak{s}(x)} \Big|_{\mathfrak{s}=0}, \qquad \langle \phi(x)\phi(y) \rangle = (-i)^2 \frac{1}{Z[\mathfrak{s}]} \frac{\delta^2 Z[\mathfrak{s}]}{\delta \mathfrak{s}(x)\delta \mathfrak{s}(y)} \Big|_{\mathfrak{s}=0}.$$
(2.1.3)

The physical interpretation of the one-point function is the vacuum expectation value (vev) of the field $\phi(x)$, while the interpretation of the two-point function is the amplitude for the propagation of a particle between spacetime coordinates x and y, and the square of this amplitude is proportional to the probability for this to happen. In general, from the *n*-point functions we can calculate collision cross-sections and decay widths, which of course have to be finite values.

In the free Klein-Gordon theory, the two-point function is the Feynman propagator

$$\langle \phi(x)\phi(y)\rangle = \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{ie^{-ip\cdot(x-y)}}{p^2 - m^2 + i\epsilon},$$
 (2.1.4)

where ϵ is a small positive constant needed to define the integral. In momentum space, the propagator takes the form

$$\int d^4x e^{ip \cdot x} \left\langle \phi(x)\phi(0) \right\rangle = \frac{i}{p^2 - m^2 + i\epsilon}.$$
(2.1.5)

In the free theory the two-point function is finite, but, without renormalization, this is not the case in the interacting theory.

2.2 Interacting Scalar Field Theory

Consider the interacting Klein-Gordon theory

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi - \frac{1}{2} m^2 \phi^2 - \frac{\lambda}{4!} \phi^4, \qquad (2.2.1)$$

where λ is the coupling of the scalar field to itself. From the new Lagrangian we construct a new generating functional, and from the new generating functional we calculate the new *n*-point functions. The two-point function in momentum space that we calculated in the free theory eq.(2.1.5) changes in the interacting theory to

$$\int d^4x e^{ip \cdot x} \left\langle \phi(x)\phi(0) \right\rangle = \frac{iF}{p^2 - Fm^2 + \delta_m + i\epsilon} + \text{finite}, \qquad (2.2.2)$$

where F and δ_m are divergent quantities. When we consider four-point functions, we will find another divergent quantity δ_{λ} . Higher point functions are finite. Thus the interacting Klein-Gordon theory contains three divergent quantities: $F, \delta_m, \delta_{\lambda}$. The divergences appear because on the left-hand side the integral over the spacetime position x of the incoming particle comes arbitrarily close to zero, the position of the outgoing particle. In momentum space the divergence comes from taking the integral over arbitrarily high momenta. Divergences of this kind are called ultraviolet divergences.

2.3 Regularization

In order to proceed, we have to take a step back to the point just before things go wrong and diverge. We must *regularize* the theory so that we are always working with finite quantities. One way to do this is by introducing a cut-off Λ in the integration over the four-momentum,

$$\langle \phi(x)\phi(y)\rangle = \int_0^\infty d^4p \dots \to \int_0^\Lambda d^4p \dots$$
 (2.3.1)

The value of the cut-off is arbitrary, because eventually the limit $\Lambda \to \infty$ must be taken. At this point we have

$$\lim_{\Lambda \to \infty} F(\Lambda) = \infty, \tag{2.3.2}$$

but $F(\Lambda)$ itself is finite (regularized), so it is well defined and we can safely work with it. The same argument applies to δ_m and δ_{λ} .

Since both F and δ_m are divergent functions of Λ , we can not identify the pole $Fm^2 - \delta_m$ in the propagator with the physical mass. This means that, in going from the free to the interaction theory, either m loses its interpretation of the physical mass (interpretation one), or the interacting Lagrangian is missing a second mass term (counterterm) that will cancel the divergence from the pole, resulting in a finite physical mass (interpretation two). Consequently, we may *renormalize* the interacting theory in two equivalent ways.

2.4 Redefinition of parameters

First, we may think of the Lagrangian as physical (renormalized), but its parameters as unphysical (bare),

$$\mathcal{L}_{r} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi_{b} \partial^{\mu} \phi_{b} - \frac{1}{2} m_{b}^{2} \phi_{b}^{2} - \frac{\lambda_{b}}{4!} \phi_{b}^{4}.$$
(2.4.1)

We already saw that in the free theory, the interpretation of the bare quantities coincides with the physical quantities, but in the interacting theory this interpretation must be modified. In other words, if we set $\lambda_b = 0$, then m_b has the interpretation of the physical mass m, otherwise m_b diverges and can not have this physical interpretation anymore. Since we replaced $\phi \to \phi_b$ and $m \to m_b$ in the Lagrangian, we must do the same in the two-point function that follows from it,

$$\int d^4x e^{ip \cdot x} \left\langle \phi_b(x) \phi_b(0) \right\rangle = \frac{iF}{p^2 - Fm_b^2 + \delta_m + i\epsilon} + \text{finite.}$$
(2.4.2)

The divergences can be absorbed into the bare parameters as follows

$$\phi_r \equiv \frac{\phi_b}{\sqrt{F}}, \qquad \delta_F \equiv F - 1, \qquad \delta_m \equiv F m_b^2 - m_r^2, \qquad \delta_\lambda \equiv F^2 \lambda_b - \lambda_r.$$
 (2.4.3)

From now on we consider ϕ_r, m_r, λ_r as the physical quantities. The *physical* two-point function then becomes finite, since we can divide by F on both sides,

$$\int d^4x e^{ip \cdot x} \left\langle \phi_r(x) \phi_r(0) \right\rangle = \frac{i}{p^2 - m_r^2 + i\epsilon} + \text{finite}, \qquad (2.4.4)$$

and thanks to the renormalized coupling constant λ_r the physical four-point function becomes finite as well, but we will not discuss that here. In terms of the physical quantities, the Lagrangian reads

$$\mathcal{L}_r = \frac{1}{2}\partial_\mu\phi_r\partial^\mu\phi_r - \frac{1}{2}m_r^2\phi_r^2 - \frac{\lambda_r}{4!}\phi_r^4 + \frac{1}{2}\delta_F\partial_\mu\phi_r\partial^\mu\phi_r - \frac{1}{2}\delta_m\phi_r^2 - \frac{\delta_\lambda}{4!}\phi_r^4.$$
(2.4.5)

Let us summarize what we have done. We started with a Lagrangian that is known to give the correct equation of motion for a free scalar field. From the Lagrangian we constructed a generating functional, from which we calculated *n*-point functions. Unfortunately, when we consider interactions, the two- and four-point functions become infinite. We then reinterpreted the three quantities in the interacting Lagrangian ϕ_b, m_b, λ_b as *unphysical*, and rewrote the same Lagrangian in terms of physical quantities ϕ_r, m_r, λ_r , that are defined by the requirement that the correlators calculated from ϕ_r give finite values in terms of the measurable parameters m_r and λ_r .

2.5 Counterterms

We may use the equivalent method of counterterms: instead of viewing the parameters ϕ, m, λ in the Lagrangian as unphysical (bare), we may view the interacting Lagrangian itself as unphysical (bare),

$$\mathcal{L}_b = \frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu \phi_r \partial^\mu \phi_r - \frac{1}{2} m_r^2 \phi_r^2 - \frac{\lambda_r}{4!} \phi_r^4.$$
(2.5.1)

As we have seen, calculating correlators from this Lagrangian yields infinite and thus unphysical results. But we can construct the physical (renormalized) Lagrangian by

$$\mathcal{L}_r = \mathcal{L}_b + \mathcal{L}_c, \tag{2.5.2}$$

where the *counterterm* Lagrangian is given by, see eq.(2.4.5):

$$\mathcal{L}_c = \frac{1}{2} \delta_F \partial_\mu \phi_r \partial^\mu \phi_r - \frac{1}{2} \delta_m \phi_r^2 - \frac{\delta_\lambda}{4!} \phi_r^4.$$
(2.5.3)

Thus, neither the bare Lagrangian \mathcal{L}_b nor the counterterm Lagrangian \mathcal{L}_c is physical by itself, but their sum is. It is \mathcal{L}_r that appears in the generating functional, which then produces finite correlators.

We shall use the counterterm renormalization method in the rest of this thesis. This has the advantage that all fields and their masses and couplings are always physical.

Chapter 3 Holographic Renormalization

 \diamond The heart of holography is the idea that the on-shell action of a gravitational theory acts as the generating functional of connected correlators in a dual quantum field theory. To obtain finite correlators, in holographic renormalization we add counterterms to the gravitational action instead of directly to the quantum field theory action. \diamond

According to the AdS/CFT correspondence [9, 16, 24], a classical theory of gravity in a d + 1 dimensional Anti-de Sitter geometry (*the bulk*) is dual to a Conformal Field Theory (CFT) living on the *d*-dimensional boundary of the bulk. Similarly, there exists an non-AdS/non-CFT correspondence. In general, the duality is called *holographic duality* or *gauge/gravity duality*.

We can visualize the bulk geometry as a (d + 1)-dimensional ball with radial coordinate r. The boundary is a d-dimensional sphere with boundary coordinates x^i (i = 1, ..., d), which we collectively denote by x. Infinities arise since the quantum field theory lives on the boundary, which lies infinitely far away at $r \to \infty$, called the infrared (IR) limit. The IR divergences are the holographic duals of the infamous ultraviolet (UV) divergences in quantum field theory.

3.1 Holographic Generating Functional

Let us rewrite the QFT generating functional eq.(2.1.2) in Eucledian signature for a general number of dimensions d and a general number n_s of operators \mathcal{O}_i coupled to sources \mathfrak{s}_i $(i = 1, \ldots, n_s)$,

$$\exp\left(-W[\mathfrak{s}]_{\rm QFT}\right) \equiv \int \mathcal{D}\phi \exp\left(\int d^d x \left[-\mathcal{L}_{\rm QFT} + \mathfrak{s}_i(x)\mathcal{O}_i(x)\right]\right). \tag{3.1.1}$$

The holographic duality states that¹

The renormalized, on-shell action of the gravitational theory $S_{ren}[\mathfrak{s}]$ is identified with the generating functional of connected correlators $W[\mathfrak{s}]$ in the dual quantum field theory

$$W[\mathfrak{s}]_{\rm QFT} = S_{\rm ren}[\mathfrak{s}]. \tag{3.1.2}$$

The gravitational action consists of bulk terms, which are (d+1)-dimensional integrals, plus boundary terms, which are *d*-dimensional integrals. The equation of motion for a physical field is found by the requirement that the bulk terms varied with respect to that field vanish.² The on-shell action thus contains only integrals over the *d*-dimensional boundary. This agrees with the idea that the quantum field theory lives in *d* dimensions, while the gravitational theory lives in d+1 dimensions.

The goal of holographic renormalization is to obtain finite quantum field theory correlators by adding counterterms to the on-shell gravitational action instead of the quantum field theory action. The one- and two-point functions for the quantum field theory operators \mathcal{O}_i can thus be calculated from the renormalized, on-shell gravitational action S_{ren} through the following formulas

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_i(x) \rangle = -\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \mathfrak{s}_i(x)} \Big|_{\mathfrak{s}=0}, \qquad \langle \mathcal{O}_i(x) \mathcal{O}_j(y) \rangle = \frac{\delta^2 S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \mathfrak{s}_i(x) \delta \mathfrak{s}_j(y)} \Big|_{\mathfrak{s}=0}.$$
(3.1.3)

The *exact* one-point function is defined without setting the sources to zero,

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_i(x) \rangle_{\mathfrak{s}\neq 0} = -\frac{\delta S_{\mathrm{ren}}}{\delta \mathfrak{s}_i(x)_{\mathfrak{s}\neq 0}}.$$
 (3.1.4)

The exact one-point function thus carries information of higher point functions. For example, the two-point function can be obtained from the exact one-point function as follows

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_i(x)\mathcal{O}_j(y)\rangle = -\frac{\delta}{\delta\mathfrak{s}_j(y)} \left\langle \mathcal{O}_i(x)\right\rangle_{\mathfrak{s}}\Big|_{\mathfrak{s}=0}.$$
 (3.1.5)

Given a bare action S_{bare} , the challenge is to find the counterterm action S_{cov} such that the renormalized action $S_{\text{ren}} \equiv S_{\text{bare}} + S_{\text{cov}}$ yields finite correlators. The bare action that we will work with is the fake supergravity action, which we will now present.

¹Since $S_{ren}[\mathfrak{s}]$ is the generating functional of *connected* correlators, we will always imply the connected correlators whenever we talk about correlators or use the brackets $\langle \dots \rangle$.

²Before the variation, it is ambiguous to speak of bulk terms and boundary terms, since by Stokes' theorem a boundary term can always be written as a bulk term and vice versa. However, after the variation with respect to some field is performed, the *varied* action can be unambiguously split into bulk and boundary terms.

Chapter 4 Fake Supergravity

 \diamond We present the fake supergravity action, its background solutions and small fluctuations around the background. The fluctuations are decomposed into irreducible components so that the physical degrees of freedom can be isolated from the gauge degrees of freedom, which we shall do in the next section. \diamond

4.1 Bare Action

The bare gravitational action we consider is that of n_s scalars with potential $V(\Phi)$ coupled to gravity through the sigma-model metric G_{ab} , where $a, b = 1, \ldots n_s$,

$$S_{\text{bare}} = \int dr d^d x \sqrt{\mathbf{g}} \left(-\frac{1}{4} \mathbf{R}[\mathbf{g}] + \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{g}^{\mu\nu} G_{ab}(\Phi) \partial_\mu \Phi^a \partial_\nu \Phi^b + V(\Phi) \right) + \frac{1}{2} \int d^d x \sqrt{\gamma} \mathcal{K}.$$

$$(4.1.1)$$

Here, $\mathcal{K} \equiv \mathcal{K}_m^m$ is the trace of the second fundamental form, which we present later in eq.(8.1.3). The first integral runs over the (d + 1)-dimensional bulk while the second integral, the Gibbons-Hawking boundary term, runs over the *d*-dimensional boundary. The equations of motion follow from the bulk term only. The counterterms are boundary terms, and therefore do not modify the equations of motion.

Fake supergravity systems are defined as systems for which the scalar potential $V(\Phi)$ can be derived from a function called superpotential $W(\Phi)$ as follows

$$V(\Phi) = \frac{1}{2} W^a W_a - \frac{d}{d-1} W^2, \qquad (4.1.2)$$

where we have used the notation

$$W^a \equiv G^{ab} W_b, \qquad W_a \equiv \partial_a W \equiv \frac{\partial W}{\partial \Phi^a}.$$
 (4.1.3)

The motivation for the requirement eq.(4.1.2) becomes clear when we consider the Hamilton-Jacobi method in section 7.3. The equations of motion that follow from the action are second order differential equations, so there are two independent solutions, one of which is dominant and the other one is subdominant at the boundary,

$$\Phi^a(r,x) = \hat{\Phi}^a_i(r)\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}i}(x) + \check{\Phi}^a_i(r)\Phi_{\mathfrak{r}i}(x).$$
(4.1.4)

where $\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}i}$ is the source of the dominant solution $\hat{\Phi}_i^a$ and $\Phi_{\mathfrak{r}i}$ the response of the subdominant solution $\check{\Phi}_i^a$. The indices a and i both run from 1 to n_s , the number of scalars.

Background solutions The fake sugra system allows for background solutions which are the gravitational duals of renormalization group flows in quantum field theory,

$$ds^{2} = dr^{2} + e^{2A(r)} \eta_{ij} dx^{i} dx^{j}, \qquad \phi^{a}(r), \qquad i, j = 1, \dots d,$$
(4.1.5)

where η_{ij} is the constant Minkowski metric and A(r) is the warp function. The warp function goes to infinity when r goes to infinity, which allows us to think of A as an alternative radial coordinate. The domain wall background satisfies the equations of motion that follow from the fake supergravity action if (but not only if)¹ the warp function A and the scalar background solution ϕ^a satisfy

$$\dot{A} = -\frac{2\mathcal{W}}{d-1}, \qquad \dot{\phi}^a = \mathcal{W}^a.$$
(4.1.6)

Here $\dot{A} \equiv \partial_r A$, $\dot{\phi} \equiv \partial_r \phi$ and $\mathcal{W} \equiv \mathcal{W}(\phi)$ is the background value of the superpotential.

4.2 Fluctuations around the background

In this thesis, we are only interested in calculating one- and two-point functions. Then it is sufficient to know the solutions to the equations of motion up to second order in small fluctuations around the background. Since we want to formulate the fluctuation dynamics gauge invariantly, we expand the scalar fields in a way that is sigma-model covariant by using the exponential map [27],

$$\Phi^{a}(r,x) = \exp_{\phi}(\varphi)^{a} = \phi^{a}(r) + \varphi^{a}(r,x) - \frac{1}{2}\bar{\mathcal{G}}^{a}_{bc}(r)\varphi^{b}(r,x)\varphi^{c}(r,x) + \dots, \qquad (4.2.1)$$

where $\bar{\mathcal{G}}^a_{bc}$ is the sigma-model connection evaluated on the background,

$$\bar{\mathcal{G}}^{a}_{bc} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \bar{G}^{ab} \left(\partial_c \bar{G}_{db} + \partial_b \bar{G}_{dc} - \partial_d \bar{G}_{bc} \right).$$
(4.2.2)

¹The Euler-Lagrange equations are second order differential equations, so when we substitute the domain wall background, we obtain second order differential equations for A and ϕ . These second order equations are solved automatically when the first order equations above are satisfied, but not the other way around. The first order equations for A and ϕ are therefore sufficient but not necessary, and thus represent only a subclass of solutions.

For further details, see section (4.1) in [2].

To study metric fluctuations, we conveniently rewrite the background eq.(4.1.5) as

$$ds^{2} = (n^{2} + n_{i}n^{i})dr^{2} + 2n_{i}drdx^{i} + \gamma_{ij}dx^{i}dx^{j}.$$
(4.2.3)

The matrix γ^{ij} is the inverse of γ_{ij} , and is used to raise hypersurface quantities,

$$\gamma_{ik}\gamma^{kj} = \delta_i^j, \qquad n^i = \gamma^{ij}n_j. \tag{4.2.4}$$

However, indices on the partial derivative are raised with the inverse Minkowski metric,

$$\partial^{i} \equiv \eta^{ij} \partial_{j}, \qquad \Box \equiv \partial^{i} \partial_{i} = \eta^{ij} \partial_{i} \partial_{j}. \qquad (4.2.5)$$

The source of the boundary metric $\gamma_{\mathfrak{s}ij}(x)$ is defined by

$$\gamma_{ij}(A,x) = e^{2A} \gamma_{\mathfrak{s}ij}(x) + \dots \tag{4.2.6}$$

The metric fluctuations can be written as

$$n = 1 + \nu, \qquad n_i = \nu_i, \qquad \gamma_{ij} = e^{2A} \left(\eta_{ij} + h_{ij}\right).$$
 (4.2.7)

All the dependence on the boundary coordinates x in Φ^a , n, n_i and γ comes through the fluctuations. We recover the background solutions eq.(4.1.5) by setting the fluctuations to zero.

We decompose ν_i into longitudinal and transversal parts,

$$\nu_L \equiv \partial_i \nu^i, \qquad \nu_T^i \equiv \Pi^i_j \nu^j, \qquad (4.2.8)$$

where the transverse projector is defined by

$$\Pi_j^i \equiv \delta_j^i - \Box^{-1} \partial^i \partial_j. \tag{4.2.9}$$

We decompose h_{ij} into irreducible components as well,

$$h_j^i = h_j^{TTi} + \partial^i \epsilon_j + \partial_j \epsilon^i + \frac{\partial^i \partial_j}{\Box} H + \frac{\delta_j^i h}{d-1}.$$
(4.2.10)

Here, $h_{j}^{TT_{i}}$ is traceless and transversal, and ϵ^{i} is transversal,

$$h_{i}^{TT_{i}} = 0, \qquad \partial_{i} h_{j}^{TT_{i}} = 0, \qquad \partial_{i} \epsilon^{i} = 0.$$

$$(4.2.11)$$

Thus we find the useful relations

$$\partial_i h_j^i = \Box \epsilon_j + \partial_j \left(H + \frac{h}{d-1} \right)$$

$$\partial_i \partial^j h_j^i = \Box \left(H + \frac{h}{d-1} \right)$$

$$h_k^k = H + \frac{d}{d-1} h.$$
(4.2.12)

The following fields are all independent and irreducible,

$$\varphi^a, \quad \nu, \quad \nu_L, \quad \nu_T^i, \quad h_j^{TTi}, \quad \epsilon^i, \quad H, \quad h.$$
 (4.2.13)

Chapter 5

Gauge Invariant Fluctuations

 \diamond Due to diffeomorphism invariance (or gauge invariance), the degrees of freedom in eq.(4.2.13) are not all physical degrees of freedom. In this section we isolate the physical fluctuations from the gauge fields, and recombine the fluctuations into new fields that are invariant under diffeomorphisms. For further details, see [2]. \diamond

5.1 Diffeomorphism invariance

Physics is invariant under diffeomorphisms. Consider a diffeomorphism generated by an infinitesimal vector field ξ^{μ}

$$x^{\mu} = \exp_{x'} \left[\xi(x')\right]^{\mu} = x'^{\mu} + \xi^{\mu}(x') - \frac{1}{2}\Gamma[\mathbf{g}]^{\mu}_{\nu\rho}(x')\xi^{\nu}(x')\xi^{\rho}(x') + \mathcal{O}\left(\xi^{3}\right), \qquad (5.1.1)$$

which again uses the exponential map. Under this coordinate transformation, the scalar fields transform as $\Phi \to \Phi + \delta \Phi$, with $\delta \Phi$ given by

$$\delta \Phi = \xi^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \Phi + \frac{1}{2} \xi^{\mu} \xi^{\nu} \nabla[\mathbf{g}]_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \Phi + \mathcal{O}(\xi^{3}). \qquad (5.1.2)$$

Note that this expression is covariant, since $\partial_{\mu} \Phi = \nabla[\mathbf{g}]_{\mu} \Phi$. The metric transforms as

$$\delta \mathbf{g}_{\mu\nu} = \nabla [\mathbf{g}]_{(\mu} \xi_{\nu)} + \mathcal{O}(\xi^2) . \qquad (5.1.3)$$

The metric is thus not gauge invariant, and neither are the connections $\Gamma[\mathbf{g}]^{\mu}_{\nu\rho}$ derived from it. The important thing is that the gravitational action is invariant, $\delta S = 0$. The situation is analogous to classical electrodynamics. The potential A_{μ} is not directly measurable, only the field strength tensor $F_{\mu\nu}$. Any variation δA_{μ} leading to the same field strength is therefore physically equivalent. The requirement $\delta F_{\mu\nu} = 0$ is automatically satisfied by $\delta A_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu}\lambda$, for any arbitrary λ . Since A_{μ} and $A_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\lambda$ are physically equivalent potentials, λ is an unphysical (gauge) degree of freedom of A_{μ} . The connections $\Gamma[\mathbf{g}]^{\mu}_{\nu\rho}$ are the gravitational analogue of the gauge potential A_{μ} , and ξ^{μ} is the analogue of λ . Since μ runs from 1 to d + 1, ξ^{μ} encodes d + 1 unphysical degrees of freedom of the metric.

As we will show below, we can view the fields ϵ^i , H and h as unphysical. The scalars H and h carry one degree of freedom each, and the vector ϵ^i carries d-1 degrees of freedom (*i* runs from 1 to d, but one degree of freedom is killed by the constraint of transversality, $\partial_i \epsilon^i = 0$). In total, ϵ^i , H and h carry all d + 1 degrees of freedom of ξ^{μ} .

Gauge invariant fields We combine the seven fields in eq.(4.2.13) into five new fields such that they become invariant under diffeomorphisms (gauge invariant) up to first order, see [2, 5]:

$$\mathfrak{a}^{a} = \varphi^{a} + \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{4\mathcal{W}}h + \mathcal{O}(f^{2})$$

$$\mathfrak{b} = \nu + \partial_{r}\left(\frac{h}{4\mathcal{W}}\right) + \mathcal{O}(f^{2})$$

$$\mathfrak{c} = e^{-2A}\nu_{L} + e^{-2A}\frac{\Box h}{4\mathcal{W}} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{r}H + \mathcal{O}(f^{2})$$

$$\mathfrak{d}^{i} = e^{-2A}\nu_{T}^{i} - \partial_{r}\epsilon^{i} + \mathcal{O}(f^{2})$$

$$\mathfrak{e}^{i}_{j} = h^{TTi}_{j} + \mathcal{O}(f^{2}).$$
(5.1.4)

Sets of fields Three sets of fields are distinguished,

$$I = \{ \mathfrak{a}^{a}, \mathfrak{b}, \mathfrak{c}, \mathfrak{d}^{i}, \mathfrak{e}^{i}_{j} \}, \qquad Y = \{ \varphi^{a}, \nu, \nu_{L}, \nu^{i}_{T}, h^{TTi}_{j} \}, \qquad X = \{ \epsilon^{i}, H, h \}.$$
(5.1.5)

The fields in I are identified as the physical fields while the fields in X are gauge degrees of freedom. The inverse relations Y = I + X are

$$\varphi^{a} = \mathfrak{a}^{a} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{4\mathcal{W}}h$$

$$\nu = \mathfrak{b} - \partial_{r}\left(\frac{h}{4\mathcal{W}}\right)$$

$$e^{-2A}\nu^{i} = \mathfrak{d}^{i} + \partial_{r}\epsilon^{i} + \frac{\partial^{i}}{\Box}\left(\mathfrak{c} - e^{-2A}\frac{\Box h}{4\mathcal{W}} + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{r}H\right)$$

$$h^{TTi}_{\ j} = \mathfrak{e}^{i}_{j}.$$
(5.1.6)

Linearized equations of motion The linearized equations of motion for the gauge invariant fields that follow from the action are derived in section (4.4) of [2], and read

$$\mathfrak{b} = -\frac{\mathcal{W}_a}{\mathcal{W}}\mathfrak{a}^a, \qquad \mathfrak{c} = \frac{\mathcal{W}_a}{\mathcal{W}}\left(\delta_b^a \mathcal{D}_r - \mathcal{M}_b^a\right)\mathfrak{a}^b, \qquad \mathfrak{d}^i = 0.$$
(5.1.7)

$$\left[\left(\delta^a_b \mathcal{D}_r + \mathcal{M}^a_b - \frac{2d}{d-1} \delta^a_b \mathcal{W} \right) \left(\delta^b_c \mathcal{D}_r - \mathcal{M}^b_c \right) + e^{-2A} \delta^a_c \Box \right] \mathfrak{a}^c = 0.$$
 (5.1.8)

$$\left[\left(\partial_r - \frac{2d}{d-1} \mathcal{W} \right) \partial_r + e^{-2A} \Box \right] \mathfrak{e}^i_j = 0.$$
 (5.1.9)

The mass matrix is symmetric,

$$M_b^a \equiv D_b W^a - \frac{W^a W_b}{W}.$$
(5.1.10)

Covariant derivatives The *background covariant derivative* and *sigma-model covariant derivative* are respectively defined by

$$D_r F^a \equiv \frac{d}{dr} F^a + \mathcal{G}^a_{bc} W^b F^c, \qquad D_b F^a \equiv \partial_b F^a + \mathcal{G}^c_{ab} F^c.$$
(5.1.11)

On the background we have, see eq.(4.1.6),

$$\mathcal{D}_r F^a(\phi) = \dot{\phi}^b \partial_b F^a + \bar{\mathcal{G}}^a_{bc} \mathcal{W}^b F^c = \mathcal{W}^b \left(\partial_b F^a + \bar{\mathcal{G}}^a_{bc} F^c \right) = \mathcal{W}^b \mathcal{D}_b F^a.$$
(5.1.12)

Note that \mathbf{e}_j^i satisfies the equation of motion of a massless scalar, and that the equations of motion for \mathbf{e}_j^i and \mathbf{a}^a are decoupled. These are two advantages of working with gauge invariant variables.

Solutions Like in eq.(4.1.4), the fluctuations have two independent solutions, one of which is dominant and the other one is subdominant at the boundary, see eq.(2.10) in [6]

$$\mathbf{a}^{a}(A,x) = \hat{\mathbf{a}}^{a}_{k}(A,\Box)\mathbf{a}_{\mathfrak{s}k}(x) + \check{\mathbf{a}}^{a}_{k}(A,\Box)\mathbf{a}_{\mathfrak{r}k}(x)$$

$$\mathbf{e}^{i}_{j}(A,x) = \hat{\mathbf{e}}(A,\Box)\mathbf{e}^{i}_{\mathfrak{s}j}(x) + \check{\mathbf{e}}(A,\Box)\mathbf{e}^{i}_{\mathfrak{r}j}(x), \qquad (5.1.13)$$

where \mathbf{a}_{sk} and \mathbf{e}_{sj}^i are the sources of the dominant solutions $\hat{\mathbf{a}}_k^a$ and $\hat{\mathbf{e}}$, and \mathbf{a}_{rk} and \mathbf{e}_{rj}^i the responses of the subdominant solutions $\check{\mathbf{a}}_k^a$ and $\check{\mathbf{e}}$. Since \mathbf{e}_j^i is traceless and transversal, so are its source and response functions. Since the indices a and k both run from 1 to n_s , the number of scalars, the most general solution to the scalar equation of motion $\mathbf{a}^a(A, x)$ is therefore an $n_s \times n_s$ matrix. The equations of motion show that we can expand the dominant solutions as

$$\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a}(A,\Box) = \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{0i}^{a}(A) + \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{1i}^{a}(A)e^{-2A}\Box + \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{2i}^{a}(A)e^{-4A}\Box^{2} + \dots
\hat{\mathfrak{e}}(A,\Box) = 1 + \hat{\mathfrak{e}}_{1}(A)e^{-2A}\Box + \hat{\mathfrak{e}}_{2}(A)e^{-4A}\Box^{2} + \dots$$
(5.1.14)

The leading terms are independent of \Box . We can make a similar expansion for the subdominant solutions,

$$\check{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a}(A,\Box) = \check{\mathfrak{a}}_{0i}^{a}(A) + \check{\mathfrak{a}}_{1i}^{a}(A)e^{-2A}\Box + \check{\mathfrak{a}}_{2i}^{a}(A)e^{-4A}\Box^{2} + \dots$$
(5.1.15)

Then we can write

$$\mathfrak{a}^{a} = \mathfrak{a}_{0}^{a} + \mathfrak{a}_{1}^{a} e^{-2A} \Box + \mathfrak{a}_{2}^{a} e^{-4A} \Box^{2} + \dots$$
(5.1.16)

with

$$\mathfrak{a}_{0}^{a} = \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{0i}^{a}\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i} + \check{\mathfrak{a}}_{0i}^{a}\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}i}, \qquad \mathfrak{a}_{1}^{a} = \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{1i}^{a}\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i} + \check{\mathfrak{a}}_{1i}^{a}\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}i}, \qquad \dots$$
(5.1.17)

Gauge fields We saw in eq.(3.1.3) that we can obtain field theory one- and two-point functions by taking functional differentiations of the on-shell, bare supergravity action with respect to the sources. The sources of the gauge invariant scalar fluctuations are given by $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}(x)$ and the source of the traceless transverse metric fluctuation is given by $\mathfrak{e}^i_{\mathfrak{s}i}(x)$, see eq.(5.1.13).

The gauge fields H, h and ϵ^i do not have equations of motion, and therefore we can not write them in the form eq.(5.1.13). To calculate correlation functions involving operators dual to the gauge fields, we must take the functional differentiation of the on-shell action with respect to the full gauge fields H(r, x), h(r, x) and $\epsilon^i(r, x)$, even though the gauge fields generally depend on r. The way the gauge fields depend on rtherefore does not affect the correlation functions. This is as it should, because the way the gauge fields depend on r depends on the choice of gauge. The asymptotic behaviour of the gauge fields can therefore never cause divergences in the correlation functions, in contrast to the asymptotic behaviour of $\mathfrak{a}(r, x)$ and $\mathfrak{e}(r, x)$.

Zero modes In section (4.4) of [2], one starts with the equations of motion for the scalars and the normal component and the mixed components of Einsteins equation, and solves these equations algebraically for \mathfrak{b} , \mathfrak{c} and \mathfrak{d}^i . However, one assumes that $\mathfrak{c} \neq 0$ in order to derive the equation of motion for \mathfrak{b} .

The equation of motion for \mathfrak{b} in eq.(5.1.7) is not valid for zero mode solutions of the scalars $\bar{\mathfrak{a}}^a(r)$. A zero mode means that the solution depends only on r, not on \Box . From the scalar equation of motion eq.(5.1.8) we see that a zero mode solution is given by

$$\bar{\mathfrak{a}}^a \sim \frac{\mathcal{W}^a}{\mathcal{W}},\tag{5.1.18}$$

which follows directly from the identity

$$\mathcal{D}_r \frac{\mathcal{W}^a}{\mathcal{W}} = \mathcal{M}_b^a \frac{\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}}.$$
(5.1.19)

From this identity also follows that $\mathbf{c} = 0$ for the zero mode solution $\bar{\mathbf{a}}^a$, in which case the equation of motion for \mathbf{b} is altered. When we consider the on-shell action, we will use the equation of motion for \mathbf{b} given by eq.(5.1.7), so this excludes the zero modes. Finally, we notice that in general we may write

$$\frac{\mathcal{W}^a}{\mathcal{W}} = \hat{c}_i \hat{\mathbf{a}}^a_{0i} + \check{c}_i \check{\mathbf{a}}^a_{0i}, \qquad (5.1.20)$$

where \hat{c}_i, \check{c}_i are constants and the zero modes $\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{0i}^a, \check{\mathfrak{a}}_{0i}^a$ are the leading terms of the expansions for $\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_i^a, \check{\mathfrak{a}}_i^a$ respectively, see eq.(5.1.14).

Chapter 6 Ward Identities

 \diamond Dual theories share the same symmetries. Each symmetry has an associated Ward identity. Invariance under diffeomorphisms leads to the translational Ward identity, and invariance under Weyl transformations (only in aAdS) leads to the conformal Ward identity. Checking explicitly that the Ward identities are satisfied provides a good consistency check. When a classical symmetry is broken after quantization, this leads to an anomalous Ward identity. The most important goal of this section is the concept and definition of the Weyl anomaly, also known as conformal anomaly [14]. \diamond

6.1 Translational Ward identity

From invariance under diffeomorphisms, see (4.18) in [4],

$$\delta\gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}^{ij} = -\nabla^{(i}\xi^{j)}, \qquad \delta\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}i} = \xi^{j}\nabla_{j}\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}i}, \tag{6.1.1}$$

we derive the translational Ward identity

$$\nabla^{i} \langle T_{ij} \rangle = - \langle \mathcal{O}_{i} \rangle \nabla_{j} \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}i}, \qquad (6.1.2)$$

where T_{ij} is the energy-momentum tensor of the field theory. Since we know $\langle T_{ij} \rangle$ only up to first order, we can keep the right-hand side to first order as well

$$\nabla^{i} \langle T_{ij} \rangle = - \langle \mathcal{O}_{i} \rangle_{0} \,\partial_{j} \varphi_{\mathfrak{s}i} + \mathcal{O}(f^{2}) \,. \tag{6.1.3}$$

6.2 Conformal Ward identity

If the gravitational theory is aAdS, its dual field theory is conformal. Consider the Weyl transformations in a one-scalar system, see eq.(4.20) in [4]

$$\delta\gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}^{ij} = -2\sigma\gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}^{ij}, \qquad \delta\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}} = -(d-\Delta)\sigma\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}, \qquad (6.2.1)$$

where Δ is the conformal dimension of the tree-level operator dual to the scalar, related to the spacetime dimension d of the field theory and the square of the scalar mass $m^2 = V''(0)$ by

$$\Delta = \frac{d}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{d^2}{4} + m^2}.$$
(6.2.2)

The invariance under the Weyl transformations leads to the conformal Ward identity

$$\langle T_i^i \rangle + (d - \Delta) \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}} \langle \mathcal{O} \rangle = \hat{\mathcal{A}},$$
 (6.2.3)

where the *rescaled conformal anomaly* is given by

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}} \equiv -\lim_{A \to \infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}}} \frac{\delta S_{\text{cov}}}{\delta A}.$$
(6.2.4)

The variation is with respect to the explicit cut-off, and therefore comes only from the counterterm action. Furthermore, we may split the counterterm action into a part that depends explicitly on the cut-off and a part that does not

$$S_{\rm cov}(\gamma, \Phi, A) = \bar{S}(\gamma, \Phi) + S(\gamma, \Phi, A), \qquad (6.2.5)$$

showing that only \tilde{S} contributes to the anomaly,

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}} = -\lim_{A \to \infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}}} \frac{\delta \tilde{S}}{\delta A}.$$
(6.2.6)

We will see later that \overline{S} kills the power divergences from the bare action, while \widetilde{S} kills the logarithmic divergences.

Since we take the limit of the cut-off going to infinity in eq.(6.2.4), the rescaled anomaly is by definition independent of the cut-off. It is useful to introduce the *un*rescaled conformal anomaly \mathcal{A} by the definition

$$\sqrt{\gamma}\mathcal{A} \equiv \sqrt{\gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}}\hat{\mathcal{A}}.$$
(6.2.7)

We will refer to both $\hat{\mathcal{A}}$ and \mathcal{A} as "the anomaly" when it is clear from the context which quantity we intend. Since the right-hand side is finite, the left-hand side is finite as well, although both $\sqrt{\gamma}$ and \mathcal{A} depend on the cut-off. In general, \mathcal{A} has a part that does not explicitly depend on the cut-off A and a part that does, see also eq.(6.2.5),

$$\mathcal{A}(\gamma, \Phi, A) = \bar{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma, \Phi) + \tilde{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma, \Phi, A), \qquad (6.2.8)$$

where we shall refer to $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$ as the *linear anomaly* and to $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$ as the *non-linear anomaly*. The linear anomaly only appears in even dimensions d and the non-linear anomaly only appears for scalars dual to operators with conformal dimension $\Delta = d/2$. The anomalous part of the Lagrangian thus reads

$$\tilde{\mathcal{L}} = -A\bar{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma, \Phi) - \int^{A} dA' \tilde{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma, \Phi, A').$$
(6.2.9)

6.2.1 Anomaly, scheme dependence and finite terms

The anomalous part of the counterterm depends explicitly on the cut-off, and therefore always introduces scheme dependence due to the inherent ambiguity in choosing the cut-off at any arbitrary finite value. Instead of choosing the cut-off at A, we may just as well choose the cut-off at A + C, where C is any finite constant, called a *scheme constant*.

The general expression for the anomalous Lagrangian thus reads¹

$$\tilde{\mathcal{L}} = -(A+C_1)\,\bar{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma,\Phi) - \int^{A+C_2} dA'\tilde{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma,\Phi,A').$$
(6.2.10)

Making a Taylor expansion in the second term yields

$$\tilde{\mathcal{L}} = -A\bar{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma, \Phi) - \int^{A} dA' \tilde{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma, \Phi, A') - C_1 \bar{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma, \Phi) - C_2 \tilde{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma, \Phi, A) + \dots$$
(6.2.11)

The first two terms are the divergent parts of the anomalous counterterm, the terms proportional to the scheme constants give the finite contributions, and the terms on the dots go to zero at the boundary. This is consistent with the fact that $\sqrt{\gamma} \mathcal{A} \equiv \sqrt{\gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}} \hat{\mathcal{A}}$ is finite.

¹Both \overline{A} and \widetilde{A} stand for a collection of anomalous terms. Although it was impossible to indicate here, each anomalous term has its own independent scheme constant in general.

Chapter 7 Holographic Renormalization in aAdS

 \diamond In this section we focus on one-scalar systems in aAdS. We respectively discuss the standard method and the Hamiltonian-Jacobi method of holographic renormalization in aAdS. Both methods rely on a Taylor expansion around the aAdS fixed point, and can therefore not be applied to non-aAdS backgrounds. \diamond

7.1 Fixed point

The fake supergravity system is general enough to describe both aAdS and non-aAdS spaces, depending on the choice of the superpotential \mathcal{W} . If we choose a potential with a *fixed point*, then the spacetime becomes aAdS. A fixed point means that \mathcal{W} approaches a non-zero constant value at the boundary,

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} \mathcal{W} = -\frac{d-1}{2L}.$$
(7.1.1)

We have chosen to write the unknown non-zero constant value in terms of the finite constant L, because now we find from eq.(4.1.6)

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} \dot{A} = \frac{1}{L}, \qquad \lim_{r \to \infty} A = \frac{r}{L} + \text{constant}, \tag{7.1.2}$$

where the constant can be removed by a change of coordinate. Then we see that the metric given by eq.(4.1.5) becomes AdS at the boundary

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} ds^2 = \frac{dr^2}{L^2} + e^{2r/L} \eta_{ij} dx^i dx^j.$$
(7.1.3)

Any AdS metric can be brought into this form by a suitable coordinate transformation. An *asymptotically* AdS metric metric is defined as

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} ds_{\text{aAdS}}^2 = ds_{\text{AdS}}^2. \tag{7.1.4}$$

From eq.(7.1.3), we see that the constant L represents the characteristic AdS length scale, which is conventionally set to unity, L = 1.

7.1.1 Expansion around the fixed point

For simplicity, we will consider one scalar systems only in the rest of this section. In aAdS, the leading behaviour of a scalar field on the background is

$$\phi = e^{-(d-\Delta)r}\phi_{\mathfrak{s}} + \dots \tag{7.1.5}$$

where the background scalar source $\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}$ is a constant. The constant Δ is given by eq.(6.2.2) and can be interpreted as the conformal scaling dimension of the operator dual to the scalar. Operators with $\Delta < d$ are called *relevant*, while operators with $\Delta = d$ are called *marginal*. For scalar fields dual to relevant operators $d > \Delta$, the fixed point is zero,

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} \phi = 0, \tag{7.1.6}$$

while for scalars dual to marginal operators $d = \Delta$ the fixed point is a non-zero constant,

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} \phi = \phi_{\mathfrak{s}}.\tag{7.1.7}$$

From now on we will consider only relevant operators. Then we have, away from the background,

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} \Phi(r, x) = 0, \tag{7.1.8}$$

which is true for any finite but otherwise arbitrary value of the source $\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}(x)$. In aAdS we can always Taylor expand the potential $V(\Phi)$ and the superpotential $W(\Phi)$ around the fixed point $\Phi = 0$,

$$V(\Phi) = V(0) + \frac{1}{2}V''(0)\Phi^2 + \dots, \qquad W(\Phi) = W(0) + W'(0)\Phi + \frac{1}{2}W''(0)\Phi^2 + \dots$$
(7.1.9)

The potential $V(\Phi)$ has no term linear in Φ . The mass of the scalar *m* can be found in the usual way from the quadratic part of the potential,

$$m^2 = V''(0). (7.1.10)$$

Furthermore, for L = 1 we know that V(0) and W(0) are given by, see eq.(7.1.1),

$$V(0) = -\frac{d(d-1)}{4}, \qquad W(0) = -\frac{d-1}{2}.$$
(7.1.11)

Thus the expansions of $V(\Phi)$ and $W(\Phi)$ around the fixed point read

$$V = -\frac{d(d-1)}{4} + \frac{1}{2}m^{2}\Phi^{2} + \frac{1}{3!}v_{3}\Phi^{3} + \frac{1}{4!}v_{4}\Phi^{4} + \mathcal{O}(\Phi^{5})$$

$$W = -\frac{d-1}{2} + w_{1}\Phi + \frac{1}{2}w_{2}\Phi^{2} + \frac{1}{3!}w_{3}\Phi^{3} + \frac{1}{4!}w_{4}\Phi^{4} + \mathcal{O}(\Phi^{5}). \quad (7.1.12)$$

We will now determine the coefficients w_1, w_2, \ldots for one-scalar, fake supergravity systems, which must satisfy eq.(4.1.2),

$$V = \frac{1}{2} \left(W' \right)^2 - \frac{d}{d-1} W^2.$$
 (7.1.13)

To lowest order in the expansion around the fixed point, this requires $w_1 = 0$. Thus, in fake supergravity neither V nor W has a linear term. At quadratic order in the expansion, eq.(7.1.13) becomes

$$m^2 = w_2^2 + dw_2. (7.1.14)$$

This is a quadratic equation for w_2 , so there is a sign amibiguity

$$w_2 = -\frac{d}{2} \pm \sqrt{\frac{d^2}{4} + m^2}.$$
(7.1.15)

However, we have the requirement

$$\dot{\phi} = \mathcal{W}' = w_2 \phi, \tag{7.1.16}$$

which has the solution

$$\phi = e^{w_2} \phi_{\mathfrak{s}},\tag{7.1.17}$$

with some constant background source $\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}$. Since we require ϕ to vanish at the boundary, we require w_2 to be negative. Since the square root is always positive, we must choose the plus sign to ensure that w_2 is always negative, for any d and m,

$$w_2 = -(d - \Delta), \tag{7.1.18}$$

where we have used the definition of Δ from eq.(6.2.2). Our requirement $w_2 < 0$ is only satisfied for $\Delta < d$, and hence we consider only these cases.

From the cubic order, we find

$$w_3 = \frac{v_3}{3\Delta - 2d}, \quad \text{for} \quad \Delta \neq \frac{2d}{3}.$$
 (7.1.19)

If $\Delta = 2d/3$, the relation between V and W that defines a fake sugra system can not be satisfied at the cubic order, unless $v_3 = 0.1$ We conclude that fake supergravity systems in aAdS have the following superpotential

$$W = -\frac{d-1}{2} - \frac{d-\Delta}{2}\Phi^2 + \frac{v_3}{18\Delta - 12d}\Phi^3 + \mathcal{O}(\Phi^4).$$
(7.1.21)

$$\Delta = \frac{k-1}{k}d,\tag{7.1.20}$$

¹ In general, the relation eq.(7.1.13) can not be satisfied (and hence the system is not a fake supergravity system) if there exists some integer k > 2 such that

unless the coefficients of the potential v_i coincidentally have some specific values. An example is GPPZ, where $\Delta = 3$ and d = 4, so for k = 4 we indeed have $\Delta = d(k-1)/k$. However, in GPPZ the values of v_3 and v_4 are such that this is still a fake supergravity system, see eq.(28) in [17], where the GPPZ case is discussed below.

7.2 Standard method

To keep things as simple as possible, we discuss the standard method of holographic renormalization using as an example the Coulomb Branch Flow in a *fixed* background metric. This way we only obtain the scalar counterterms, but this suffices to demonstrate all features of the standard method. In general one has to include the metric in each of the steps.

Given a potential $V(\Phi)$, the standard method of holographic renormalization consists of the following steps:

- 1. Taylor expand the potential $V(\Phi)$ around the fixed point $\Phi = 0$. The mass term is given by $m^2 = V''(0)$ and the conformal dimension Δ by eq.(6.2.2).
- 2. Derive the equation of motion for Φ from the bare action using the variational principle.
- 3. Find the solution for $\Phi(x, r)$ recursively by substituting the ansatz into the equation of motion, each time using a higher order in the expansion. The result will be an expansion in e^{-2r} with leading terms

$$\Phi = \begin{cases} e^{-(d-\Delta)r}\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}} + e^{-\Delta r}\Phi_{\mathfrak{r}} + \dots & \Delta \neq \frac{d}{2} \\ e^{-dr/2}\left(r\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}} + \Phi_{\mathfrak{r}}\right) + \dots & \Delta = \frac{d}{2}, \end{cases}$$
(7.2.1)

where $\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}(x)$ is the source and $\Phi_{\mathfrak{r}}(x)$ the response. The required order to which we need to keep the terms in the expanded potential depends on d and Δ . For example, a term like

$$\sqrt{\mathbf{g}}\Phi^n \sim e^{[d-n(d-\Delta)]n}$$

goes to zero when

$$n > \frac{d}{d-\Delta}$$

- 4. Substitute the solution for Φ into the bare action $S_{\text{bare}}[\Phi]$ to obtain the on-shell bare action $S_{\text{bare}}[\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}, r]$.
- 5. Integrate $S_{\text{bare}}[\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}, r]$ over r from zero until the cut-off r to obtain $S_{\text{bare}}[\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}, r]$.
- 6. Isolate the finite number of divergent terms in $S_{\text{bare}}[\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}, r]$ as $r \to \infty$.
- 7. Define the *non-covariant* counterterm action $S_{\text{cnt}}[\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}, r]$ as minus the divergent terms from the bare, on-shell action $S_{\text{bare}}[\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}, r]$.
- 8. The covariant counterterm $S_{\text{cov}}[\Phi, r]$ is the unique covariant on-shell action that contains the non-covariant counterterm $S_{\text{cnt}}[\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}, r]$ as the only divergent terms, plus finite terms $S_{\text{fin}}[\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}]$. The covariant counterterm $S_{\text{cov}} = S_{\text{cnt}} + S_{\text{fin}}$ can be found by inverting the expansion $\Phi(x, r)$ in terms of $\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}(x)$; that is by writing $\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}(x)$ in terms of $\Phi(x, r)$, up to the required order.
Let us now discuss each step in more detail, using as an example the Coulomb Branch Flow (CBF, see section 15), given by the potential

$$V(\Phi) = -3 - 2\Phi^2 + \mathcal{O}(\Phi^3).$$
 (7.2.2)

The mass is given by

$$m^2 = V''(0) = -4, (7.2.3)$$

and the conformal dimension of the operator dual to the scalar follows from eq.(6.2.2), $\Delta = 2$. The action, with $V(\Phi)$ expanded as above, yields an equation of motion for the scalar that has the solution

$$\Phi(x,r) = e^{-2r} \left[r \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}(x) + \Phi_{\mathfrak{r}}(x) \right] + \mathcal{O}\left(e^{-4r}\right), \qquad (7.2.4)$$

where the source $\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}(x)$ and the response $\Phi_{\mathfrak{r}}(x)$ are two independent, unknown functions of x. We need to keep terms in the potential including terms of order Φ^n , where

$$n = \frac{d}{d - \Delta} = 2. \tag{7.2.5}$$

Thus, cubic terms of order $\mathcal{O}(\Phi^3)$ can be neglected. To keep things as simple as possible, we keep the background metric *fixed* so we can use the familiar result that AdS is a maximally symmetric spacetime with constant negative curvature

$$\mathbf{R}[\mathbf{g}] = -d(d-1) = -12, \tag{7.2.6}$$

where we used d = 4. The action thus reads²

$$S_{\text{bare}}[\Phi] = \int dr d^4 x \sqrt{\mathbf{g}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \mathbf{g}^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \Phi \partial_{\nu} \Phi - 2\Phi^2 + \mathcal{O}(\Phi^3) \right).$$
(7.2.9)

Since $\sqrt{\mathbf{g}} = e^{4r}$, $\gamma^{ij} = e^{-2r}\eta^{ij}$, and $\Phi \sim re^{-2r}$, the only contributions to the on-shell action are

$$S_{\text{bare}}[\Phi] = \int dr d^4 x e^{4r} \left(\frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_r \Phi \right)^2 - 2\Phi^2 + \dots \right).$$
 (7.2.10)

Substituting the solution for Φ yields the on-shell, bare action

$$S_{\text{bare}}[\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}, r] = \int dr d^4 x \left(-2r \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2 + \frac{1}{2} \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2 - 2\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}} \Phi_{\mathfrak{r}} \right).$$
(7.2.11)

²Notice that the leading (constant) in the potential V(0) = -3 cancelled against the Ricci scalar

$$-\frac{1}{4}\mathbf{R}[\mathbf{g}] + V(0) = 0.$$
(7.2.7)

This is no coincidence, since in general we have, in aAdS

$$V(0) = -\frac{d(d-1)}{4L^2}, \qquad \mathbf{R}[\mathbf{g}] = -\frac{d(d-1)}{L^2} = 4V(0). \tag{7.2.8}$$

Now we perform the integration over r from zero to the cut-off r

$$S_{\text{bare}}[\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}, r] = \int d^4x \left(-r^2 \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2 + \frac{1}{2} r \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2 - 2r \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}} \Phi_{\mathfrak{r}} \right).$$
(7.2.12)

Notice that the on-shell bare action has only divergent terms; there are no finite contributions. We define the non-covariant counterterm as minus the divergent terms coming from the bare action

$$S_{\rm cnt}[\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}, r] = \int d^4x \left(r^2 {\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}}^2 - \frac{1}{2} r {\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}}^2 + 2r \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}} \Phi_{\mathfrak{r}} \right).$$
(7.2.13)

Now there is a unique covariant counterterm that contains these divergent terms plus finite terms

$$S_{\rm cov}[\Phi, r] = \int d^4x \sqrt{\gamma} \left(1 - \frac{1}{2r}\right) \Phi^2, \qquad (7.2.14)$$

where the scalars are evaluated at the cut-off, $\Phi(x, r)$. The uniqueness is actually only true up to scheme dependence. Since we could have chosen the cut-off at r + C for any finite constant C, we find the general counterterm, including the scheme dependence

$$S_{\rm cov}[\Phi, r+C] = \int d^4x \sqrt{\gamma} \left(1 - \frac{1}{2(r+C)}\right) \Phi^2 = \int d^4x \sqrt{\gamma} \left(1 - \frac{1}{2r} + \frac{C}{2r^2} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-3})\right) \Phi^2,$$
(7.2.15)

where the scalars are evaluated at the shifted cut-off $\Phi(x, r + C)$. The covariant counterterm can be split into the required non-covariant counterterm plus a non-covariant finite part

$$S_{\rm cov}[\Phi, r+C] = S_{\rm cnt}[\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}, r] + S_{\rm fin}[\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}, C], \qquad (7.2.16)$$

where the finite part is given by

$$S_{\rm fin}[\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}, C] = \int d^4x \left(\Phi_{\mathfrak{r}}^2 - \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}} \Phi_{\mathfrak{r}} + \frac{C}{2} \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2 \right).$$
(7.2.17)

By construction, the divergences from the counterterm cancel against those coming from the bare action, but there are remaining finite terms. The renormalized, on-shell action is explicitly finite

$$S_{\rm ren} = S_{\rm bare} + S_{\rm cov} = S_{\rm fin}.$$
 (7.2.18)

We can now calculate the exact one-point function as follows

$$\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}}} \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}} = -\frac{\delta S_{\text{fin}}}{\delta \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}} = \Phi_{\mathfrak{r}} - C\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}.$$
 (7.2.19)

The vev is what remains after we put the source to zero, $\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle_0 = \Phi_r$. The vev is non-vanishing independently of the scheme. This shows that the CBF is a vev flow instead of an operator flow.

In this case, the contributions to the one-point function come exclusively from the counterterms, but this is not always the case. In general, the on-shell bare action has a finite part as well. In any case the procedure above demonstrates the importance of using covariant counterterms: the difference between the covariant counterterm $S_{\rm cov}$ and the non-covariant one $S_{\rm cnt}$ is precisely the finite part $S_{\rm fin}$ that contributes to the correlators. Furthermore, covariance of the counterterms ensures that the translational Ward identity is satisfied. Notice that the standard method relies on the Taylor expansion of the potential $V(\Phi)$ around the fixed point. This restricts the procedure to aAdS, because in non-aAdS there is no fixed point.

7.3 Hamilton-Jacobi method

The starting point of the Hamilton-Jacobi method is similar to Covariant Holographic Renormalization, as we will discuss later in section 11. One writes down a general set of counterterms, where each term is multiplied by some unknown function of the scalar. Then one determines these functions by requiring that the Hamiltonian constraint is satisfied. This constraint yields a *descent equation* at each order in \Box . When the descent equation can not be resolved completely, the unresolved remainder contributes to the linear anomaly. For further details, we refer to the original paper [17].

We recall from eq.(9.1.1) that the regularized action is defined as

$$S_{\rm reg} = S_{\rm bare} + S_{\rm cov},\tag{7.3.1}$$

where the Lagrangian of the covariant counterterm can be split as follows, see eq. (6.2.5),

$$\mathcal{L}_{cov}(\gamma, \Phi, A) = \bar{\mathcal{L}}(\gamma, \Phi) + \mathcal{L}(\gamma, \Phi, A).$$
(7.3.2)

Now we make a further split

$$\bar{\mathcal{L}}(\gamma, \Phi) = \bar{\mathcal{L}}_{[0]}(\gamma, \Phi) + \bar{\mathcal{L}}_{[2]}(\gamma, \Phi) + \dots$$
(7.3.3)

In the Hamilton-Jacobi method, one assumes that the counterterms are covariant and that $\bar{S}_{[2k]}$ contains k inverse metrics. Then

$$\begin{split} \bar{\mathcal{L}}_{[0]} &= C_0(\Phi) \\ \bar{\mathcal{L}}_{[2]} &= \frac{1}{2} C_1(\Phi) \left(\nabla \Phi \right)^2 + C_2(\Phi) R \\ \bar{\mathcal{L}}_{[4]} &= \dots \\ \tilde{\mathcal{L}} &= -A \bar{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma, \Phi) - \int^A dA' \tilde{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma, \Phi, A'). \end{split}$$
(7.3.4)

The functions $C_0(\Phi), C_1(\Phi), C_2(\Phi), \ldots$ are unknown functions of the scalar Φ . The Hamiltonian constraint yields a number of descent equations that determines the unknown functions and the anomaly, and therefore the complete covariant counterterms.

The unknown functions are determined by the parts of the descent equations that can be resolved, while the linear anomaly $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$ is identified with the remaining part of the descent equations that can not be resolved (the non-linear anomaly $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$ has to be derived separately). There are remaining parts at each level of the descent equations, so there are contributions to the linear anomaly at each level,

$$\bar{\mathcal{A}} = \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[0]} + \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[2]} + \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[4]} + \dots$$
 (7.3.5)

Level 0 descent equation The level zero descent equation reads

$$V + \frac{1}{2} \left(C_0' \right)^2 - \frac{d}{d-1} C_0^2 = 0.$$
(7.3.6)

We remarked in eq.(4.1.2) that in fake supergravity the potential $V(\Phi)$ can be derived from a superpotential $W(\Phi)$ as follows

$$V = \frac{1}{2} \left(W' \right)^2 - \frac{d}{d-1} W^2.$$
 (7.3.7)

Hence, the level 0 descent equation is automatically satisfied for $C_0 = -W$. Since this solves the level 0 descent equation completely, there is no remainder and hence no contribution to the linear anomaly at this level. This means $\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[0]} = 0$ in fake supergravity systems.

Level 2 descent equation The level 2 descent equation reads:

$$0 = \left(-\frac{d-2}{d-1}C_0C_1 + 4C_0C_2'' - \frac{1}{2}C_0'C_1' - \frac{1}{2}\right)(\nabla\Phi)^2 + \left(4C_0C_2' - C_0'C_1\right)\nabla^2\Phi + \left(-2\frac{d-2}{d-1}C_0C_2 + C_0'C_2' + \frac{1}{4}\right)R.$$
 (7.3.8)

We assume that the counterterms are *universal*, meaning they work for *any* aAdS system. Then, functionally independent terms must vanish separately, leading to the following three descent equations

$$0 = -\frac{d-2}{d-1}C_0C_1 + 4C_0C_2'' - \frac{1}{2}C_0'C_1' - \frac{1}{2}$$

$$0 = 4C_0C_2' - C_0'C_1$$

$$0 = -2\frac{d-2}{d-1}C_0C_2 + C_0'C_2' + \frac{1}{4}.$$
(7.3.9)

$$C_2 = c_0 + c_1 \Phi + \frac{1}{2} c_2 \Phi^2 + \mathcal{O}(\Phi^3).$$
(7.3.10)

$$c_{0} = \frac{1}{4(d-2)}, \quad \text{for} \quad d \neq 2$$

$$c_{1} = 0$$

$$c_{2} = \frac{(d-2)(d-\Delta)}{(d-1)(\Delta - d/2 - 1)}c_{0}, \quad \text{for} \quad \Delta \neq \frac{d}{2} + 1, \quad d \neq 1$$

$$C_{1} = -\frac{1}{2(\Delta - d/2 - 1)} + \mathcal{O}(\Phi), \quad \text{for} \quad \Delta \neq \frac{d}{2} + 1. \quad (7.3.11)$$

The contributions to the anomaly are those terms of the descent equations that remain unresolved

$$\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[2]} = \frac{1}{2} (\nabla \Phi)^2 + \frac{d-2}{8(d-1)} \Phi^2 R, \quad \text{for} \quad \Delta = \frac{d}{2} + 1,$$

$$\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[2]} = -\frac{1}{4} R, \quad \text{for} \quad d = 2$$

$$\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[4]} = \frac{1}{16} \left(\frac{1}{3} R^2 - R^{ij} R_{ij} \right), \quad \text{for} \quad d = 4.$$
(7.3.12)

We refer to section 3.3 of [17] for a derivation of the non-linear anomaly in the Hamilton-Jacobi method. We simply present the result,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{A}} = \begin{cases} -\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\Phi}{A}\right)^2 & \Delta = \frac{d}{2} \\ 0 & \Delta \neq \frac{d}{2}, \end{cases}$$
(7.3.13)

and we notice that the non-linear anomaly is indeed finite

$$\sqrt{\gamma}\tilde{\mathcal{A}} = -\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\gamma}\left(\frac{\Phi}{A}\right)^2 \sim 1, \quad \text{for} \quad \Delta = \frac{d}{2}, \quad (7.3.14)$$

which follows because

$$\Phi = e^{-dr/2} \left(r \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}} + \Phi_{\mathfrak{r}} \right), \qquad \sqrt{\gamma} \Phi^2 \sim r^2, \qquad \text{for} \qquad \Delta = \frac{d}{2}. \tag{7.3.15}$$

The anomalous part of the counterterm is thus given by, see eq.(6.2.9),

$$\tilde{\mathcal{L}} = \begin{cases} -A\bar{\mathcal{A}} - \frac{\Phi^2}{2A} & \Delta = \frac{d}{2} \\ -A\bar{\mathcal{A}} & \Delta \neq \frac{d}{2}. \end{cases}$$
(7.3.16)

Summary We can summarize the results of the Hamilton-Jacobi method as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_{cov}(\gamma, \Phi, A) = \bar{\mathcal{L}}(\gamma, \Phi) + \tilde{\mathcal{L}}(\gamma, \Phi, A), \qquad (7.3.17)$$

where

$$\bar{\mathcal{L}} = -W(\Phi) - \frac{(\nabla \Phi)^2}{4(\Delta - d/2 - 1)} + \left(\frac{1}{4(d-2)} - \frac{d-\Delta}{8(d-1)(\Delta - d/2 - 1)}\Phi^2\right)R + \dots$$
(7.3.18)

The last two terms are not present for d = 2 and $\Delta = d/2 + 1$. The anomalous part of the counterterm is given by eq.(7.3.16), and the linear anomaly is given by

$$\bar{\mathcal{A}} = \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[0]} + \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[2]} + \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[4]} + \dots,$$
 (7.3.19)

where $\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[0]} = 0$ for fake sugra systems, and

$$\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[2]} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} (\nabla \Phi)^2 + \frac{d-2}{8(d-1)} \Phi^2 R & \Delta = \frac{d}{2} + 1, \\ -\frac{1}{4} R & d = 2 \end{cases}$$
$$\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[4]} = \frac{1}{16} \left(\frac{1}{3} R^2 - R^{ij} R_{ij} \right), \quad \text{for} \quad d = 4. \tag{7.3.20}$$

7.3.1 Case studies: GPPZ and CBF

Example: GPPZ The GPPZ flow (d = 4) has the following potential

$$V(\Phi) = -3 - \frac{3}{2}\Phi^2 - \frac{1}{3}\Phi^4 + \mathcal{O}(\Phi^6).$$
 (7.3.21)

From this we read off

$$m^2 = -3, \qquad \Delta = 3, \qquad v_3 = 0.$$
 (7.3.22)

Then we find from eq.(7.1.21) that the GPPZ is a fake supergravity system with superpotential

$$W(\Phi) = -\frac{3}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\Phi^2 - \frac{1}{18}\Phi^4 + \mathcal{O}(\Phi^6).$$
 (7.3.23)

The counterterm is given by $S_{\rm cov} = \bar{S} + \tilde{S}$, where

$$\bar{\mathcal{L}} = -W(\Phi) + \frac{1}{8}R, \qquad \tilde{\mathcal{L}} = -A\bar{\mathcal{A}}, \qquad (7.3.24)$$

and $\bar{\mathcal{A}} = \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[0]} + \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[2]} + \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[4]}$, where

$$\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[0]} = 0, \qquad \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[2]} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\nabla \Phi \right)^2 + \frac{1}{12} \Phi^2 R, \qquad \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[4]} = \frac{1}{16} \left(\frac{1}{3} R^2 - R^{ij} R_{ij} \right).$$
 (7.3.25)

The full counterterm (excluding the finite, scheme dependent terms) thus reads

$$\mathcal{L}_{cov} = -W(\Phi) + \frac{1}{8}R + A\left[-\frac{1}{2}(\nabla\Phi)^2 - \frac{1}{12}\Phi^2R + \frac{1}{16}\left(R^{ij}R_{ij} - \frac{1}{3}R^2\right)\right].$$
 (7.3.26)

Example: CBF The CBF flow (d = 4) has the following potential

$$V(\Phi) = -3 - 2\Phi^2 + \frac{4}{3\sqrt{6}}\Phi^3 + \mathcal{O}(\Phi^4).$$
 (7.3.27)

From this we read off

$$m^2 = -4, \qquad \Delta = 2, \qquad v_3 = \frac{4\sqrt{6}}{3}.$$
 (7.3.28)

Then we find from eq. (7.1.21) that the GPPZ is a fake supergravity system with superpotential

$$W = -\frac{3}{2} - \Phi^2 - \frac{\sqrt{6}}{9} \Phi^3 + \mathcal{O}(\Phi^4), \qquad (7.3.29)$$

The counterterm is given by $S_{\text{cov}} = \bar{S} + \tilde{S}$, where

$$\bar{\mathcal{L}} = -W(\Phi) + \frac{1}{4} (\nabla \Phi)^2 + \left(\frac{1}{8} + \frac{1}{12} \Phi^2\right) R,
\tilde{\mathcal{L}} = -A\bar{\mathcal{A}} - \frac{\Phi^2}{2A},$$
(7.3.30)

and $\bar{\mathcal{A}} = \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[0]} + \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[2]} + \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[4]}$, where

$$\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[0]} = 0, \qquad \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[2]} = 0, \qquad \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[4]} = \frac{1}{16} \left(\frac{1}{3} R^2 - R^{ij} R_{ij} \right).$$
 (7.3.31)

Putting everything together, we find

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm cov} = -W(\Phi) + \frac{1}{8}R + \frac{1}{16}A\left(R^{ij}R_{ij} - \frac{1}{3}R^2\right) - \frac{\Phi^2}{2A}.$$
 (7.3.32)

Expanding the superpotential $W(\Phi)$ up to quadratic order yields

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm cov} = \frac{3}{2} + \frac{1}{8}R + \frac{1}{16}A\left(R^{ij}R_{ij} - \frac{1}{3}R^2\right) + \left(1 - \frac{1}{2A}\right)\Phi^2.$$
 (7.3.33)

The last term is exactly what we found earlier in eq.(7.2.15) using the standard method and keeping the background fixed. The preceding terms are the gravitational counterterms.

Part II Developments

Chapter 8 Divergences of the Bare Action

 \diamond In [6] a counterterm is presented that renormalizes the gauge invariant scalar fluctuations \mathfrak{a}^a . However, the counterterm is not covariant. Here we want to renormalize the full system, including the metric fluctuations \mathfrak{e}^i_j and even the unphysical fluctuations H, h, ϵ , using boundary covariant counterterms. The first step towards this goal is to write down the divergences of the bare action in these gauge invariant variables. \diamond

8.1 Bare Action Redefined

We find it convenient to *redefine* the fake supergravity action as

$$S_{\text{bare}} = \int dr d^d x \sqrt{\mathbf{g}} \left(-\frac{1}{4} \mathbf{R}[\mathbf{g}] + \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{g}^{\mu\nu} G_{ab}(\Phi) \partial_\mu \Phi^a \partial_\nu \Phi^b + V(\Phi) \right) + \int d^d x \sqrt{\gamma} \left(\frac{1}{2} \mathcal{K} - W \right), \qquad (8.1.1)$$

where we have only added a boundary counterterm proportional to $-W(\Phi)$ to the original definition in eq.(4.1.1). This has the advantage that the expression of the bare on-shell action in terms of the gauge invariant fluctuations simplifies, as will become clear below. By Stokes' theorem, we can rewrite the Gibbons-Hawking boundary term as a bulk term,

$$S_{\text{bare}} = \int dr d^d x n \sqrt{\gamma} \left(-\frac{1}{4} \left(R + \mathcal{K}^2 - \mathcal{K}^i_j \mathcal{K}^j_i \right) + \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{g}^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \Phi^a \partial_\nu \Phi_a + V(\Phi) \right) + \int d^d x \sqrt{\gamma} W(\Phi).$$

$$(8.1.2)$$

The second fundamental form is given by

$$\mathcal{K}_{ij} = \frac{1}{2n} \left(\nabla_{(i} n_{j)} - \partial_r \gamma_{ij} \right), \qquad (8.1.3)$$

where the boundary covariant derivative uses the boundary connection

$$\nabla_i n_j \equiv \partial_i n_j - \Gamma_{ij}^k n_k. \tag{8.1.4}$$

For more details on the geometry of hypersurfaces see [2]. The gravitational part of the action is now given in terms of hypersurface quantities only. We will calculate the on-shell, bare action following the steps below.

- 1. Vary the supergravity action with respect to Φ^a and γ_{ij} ,¹
- 2. Split the varied action into bulk and boundary terms, and ignore the bulk terms,
- 3. Expand the boundary part up to second order in the fluctuations φ^a , ν , ν_L , ν_T^i , h_{ij} using eq.(4.2.1) and eq.(4.2.7),
- 4. Decompose h_{ij} into the irreducible components $h^{TT_i}_{j}$, ϵ^i , H and h using eq.(4.2.10),
- 5. Eliminate the variables φ^a , ν , ν_L , ν_T^i , h_j^{TTi} in favor of the gauge invariant fluctuations \mathfrak{a}^a , \mathfrak{b} , \mathfrak{c} , \mathfrak{d}^i , \mathfrak{e}^i_j and the gauge fields ϵ^i , H, h, using eq.(5.1.6),
- 6. Substitute the equations of motion for \mathfrak{b} , \mathfrak{c} and \mathfrak{d}^i from eq.(5.1.7) to render the action on-shell.

8.2 Scalar variation

Variation of S_{bare} with respect to Φ^a yields the following boundary term

$$\left(\delta_{\Phi}S_{\text{bare}}\right)_{\partial} = \int d^d x \sqrt{\gamma} \left(N^{\mu}G_{ab}\partial_{\mu}\Phi^a - W_b\right)\delta\Phi^b, \qquad (8.2.1)$$

where the subscript ∂ denotes the restriction to boundary terms and N^{μ} is the inverse of the vector N_{μ} normal to the boundary

$$N_{\mu} = (n, 0), \qquad N^{\mu} = \frac{1}{n}(1, -n^{i}).$$
 (8.2.2)

Expanding eq.(8.2.1) up to quadratic order in the fluctuations yields²

$$(\delta_{\Phi}S_{\text{bare}})_{\partial} = e^{dA}\bar{G}_{ab}\int d^{d}x \left(\left(\mathcal{D}_{r}\varphi^{a}\right) - \nu\mathcal{W}^{a} - \varphi^{c}D_{c}\mathcal{W}^{a} \right)\delta\varphi^{b}.$$

$$(8.2.3)$$

¹Variations with respect to n and n^i do not yield any boundary terms, and therefore do not contribute to the on-shell action.

²Thanks to the boundary term that we added to the definition of the bare action (the integral over -W), there are no zeroth order terms within the brackets. This would have created a problem, since after the substitution to gauge invariant variables eq.(5.1.6), the a zeroth order term would oblige us to use $\delta \mathfrak{a}^b$ up to second order, and the second order terms contain derivatives with respect to r, while the first order terms do not, see eq.(5.1.4).

Now we switch to the gauge invariant variables using eq.(5.1.6),

$$\left(\delta_{\Phi}S_{\text{bare}}\right)_{\partial} = e^{dA}\bar{G}_{ab}\int d^{d}x \left(\left(\mathcal{D}_{r}\mathfrak{a}^{a}\right) - \mathfrak{a}^{c}D_{c}\mathcal{W}^{a} - \mathfrak{b}\mathcal{W}^{a}\right) \left(\delta\mathfrak{a}^{b} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{b}}{4\mathcal{W}}\delta h\right).$$
(8.2.4)

Note that the gauge field h has cancelled; we have not set this field to zero by hand. Finally, we put the action on-shell by using the equation of motion for \mathfrak{b} from eq.(5.1.7) up to first order. Then we find

$$\delta_{\Phi} S_{\text{bare}} = e^{dA} \bar{G}_{ab} \int d^d x \left(\left(\mathcal{D}_r \mathfrak{a}^a \right) - \mathcal{M}_c^a \mathfrak{a}^c \right) \left(\delta \mathfrak{a}^b - \frac{\mathcal{W}^b}{4\mathcal{W}} \delta h \right), \qquad (8.2.5)$$

where \mathcal{M}_b^a is defined in eq.(5.1.10). After we put the action on-shell, we may drop the subscript ∂ because the bulk terms vanish on-shell by definition.

8.3 Metric variation

The variation of the action with respect to the boundary metric yields the following boundary term

$$(\delta_{\gamma}S_{\text{bare}})_{\partial} = \frac{1}{8} \int d^{d}x \sqrt{\gamma} n^{-1} \left(\gamma^{ik} \gamma^{jm} - \gamma^{jk} \gamma^{im} \right) \left(\nabla_{(k}n_{i)} - (\partial_{r}\gamma_{ki}) - \frac{1}{2}W\gamma^{mj} \right) \delta\gamma_{mj}.$$
 (8.3.1)

Expanding this up to quadratic order in the fluctuations yields

$$(\delta_{\gamma}S_{\text{bare}})_{\partial} = \frac{e^{dA}}{8} \int d^{d}x \Big[\left(2e^{-2A}\partial_{k}\nu^{k} - 4\nu\mathcal{W} - 4\varphi^{a}\mathcal{W}_{a} - \left(\partial_{r}h_{k}^{k}\right) \right) \delta h_{m}^{m} + \left(\left(\partial_{r}h_{j}^{i}\right) - 2e^{-2A}\partial_{j}\nu^{i} \right) \delta h_{i}^{j} \Big].$$

$$(8.3.2)$$

Again, the zeroth order terms multiplying the variations have cancelled thanks to the boundary term. Now we substitute the irreducible components for h_j^i from eq.(4.2.10) and the gauge invariant variables from eq.(5.1.6),

$$(\delta_{\gamma}S_{\text{bare}})_{\partial} = \frac{e^{dA}}{4} \int d^{d}x \left[\frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_{r} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{j}^{i} \right) \delta \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{i}^{j} - \left(2\mathcal{W}\boldsymbol{b} + 2\mathcal{W}_{a}\boldsymbol{a}^{a} + \partial_{i}\boldsymbol{\vartheta}^{i} \right) \delta H + \left(\frac{2d}{d-1} \left(\mathcal{W}\boldsymbol{b} + \mathcal{W}_{a}\boldsymbol{a}^{a} \right) + \frac{\partial_{i}\boldsymbol{\vartheta}^{i}}{d-1} - \boldsymbol{\mathfrak{c}} + e^{-2A} \frac{\Box}{4\mathcal{W}} h \right) \delta h \right]. \quad (8.3.3)$$

The contribution with ϵ^i has disappeared after partial integration. We need the action on-shell, so we substitute the equations of motion for \mathfrak{b} and \mathfrak{d}^i from eq.(5.1.7),

$$\delta_{\gamma} S_{\text{bare}} = \frac{e^{dA}}{4} \int d^{d}x \left[\frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_{r} \mathfrak{e}_{j}^{i} \right) \delta \mathfrak{e}_{i}^{j} + \frac{1}{\mathcal{W}} \left(\mathcal{W}_{a} \left(\mathcal{D}_{r} \mathfrak{a}^{a} \right) - \mathcal{W}_{a} \mathcal{M}_{b}^{a} \mathfrak{a}^{b} - \frac{e^{-2A}}{4} \Box h \right) \delta h \right].$$
(8.3.4)

8.4 Total variation

Adding the scalar variation eq.(8.2.5) to the metric variation eq.(8.3.4) yields

$$\delta S_{\text{bare}} = e^{dA} \int d^d x \left[\left(\mathcal{D}_r \mathfrak{a}^a - \mathcal{M}_b^a \mathfrak{a}^b \right) \delta \mathfrak{a}_a + \frac{1}{8} \left(\partial_r \mathfrak{e}_j^i \right) \delta \mathfrak{e}_i^j - \frac{e^{-2A}}{16\mathcal{W}} \left(\Box h \right) \delta h \right].$$
(8.4.1)

Then we find the following expression for the on-shell, bare action up to quadratic order

$$S_{\text{bare}} = \frac{e^{dA}}{2} \int d^d x \left(\mathfrak{a}^a \left(\bar{G}_{ab} \mathcal{D}_r - \mathcal{M}_{ab} \right) \mathfrak{a}^b + \frac{1}{8} \mathfrak{e}^i_j \partial_r \mathfrak{e}^j_i - \frac{e^{-2A}}{16\mathcal{W}} h \Box h \right).$$
(8.4.2)

In general, each of these three terms diverges. These divergences must be cancelled by three corresponding non-covariant counterterms, which we shall now construct.

Chapter 9 Non-Covariant Counterterms

 \diamond We construct non-covariant counterterms that cancel the divergences from the bare action. Since the on-shell, bare action eq.(8.4.2) only has quadratic terms, so do the non-covariant counterterms, allowing us to only calculate the two-point functions, not the vevs. We show that the two-point functions are finite and discuss scheme dependence. \diamond

9.1 Regularization and renormalization

The on-shell bare action $S_{\text{bare}}[\gamma_{ij}, \Phi^a]$ is a functional of the full boundary metric (including fluctuations) γ_{ij} and the full scalar fields (including fluctuations) Φ^a . We saw in eq.(8.4.2) that the on-shell, bare action contains divergences in the limit of $A \to \infty$. To regularize it, we assume that A has been cut-off to some finite but arbitrary constant value, for which we use the same symbol A since the distinction between A as a variable and as a fixed cut-off should be clear from the context. On the cut-off boundary, we are going to add a covariant counterterm action S_{cov} that are functionals of $\gamma_{ij}(A, x)$ and $\Phi^a(A, x)$, but may also depend *explicitly* on the cut-off A. The *regularized action* is defined as the sum of the bare action and the counterterms, evaluated at the cut-off boundary,

$$S_{\rm reg}\left[\gamma_{ij}, \Phi^a, A\right] \equiv S_{\rm bare}\left[\gamma_{ij}, \Phi^a\right] + S_{\rm cov}\left[\gamma_{ij}, \Phi^a, A\right].$$
(9.1.1)

The job of the counterterms is to kill the divergences of the bare action, such that the regularized action remains finite in the limit where the cut-off goes to infinity. This limit is by definition the *renormalized action*,

$$S_{\rm ren}\left[\gamma_{\mathfrak{s}ij}(x),\gamma_{\mathfrak{r}ij}(x),\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}i}(x),\Phi_{\mathfrak{r}i}(x)\right] \equiv \lim_{A \to \infty} S_{\rm reg}\left[\gamma_{ij}(A,x),\Phi^a(A,x),A\right],\tag{9.1.2}$$

where the sources $\gamma_{\mathfrak{s}ij}(x)$, $\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}i}(x)$ and responses $\gamma_{\mathfrak{r}ij}(x)$, $\Phi_{\mathfrak{r}i}(x)$ of the boundary metric and the scalars depend only on the boundary coordinates x. By construction, the renormalized action is independent of the cut-off,

$$\frac{dS_{\rm ren}}{dA} = 0. \tag{9.1.3}$$

Since we are working to quadratic order in the fluctuations, we must also expand the counterterm action up to quadratic order in the fluctuations. Later in section 11 we will see that the expansion of the covariant counterterm action leads to two different pieces,

$$S_{\rm cov} = S_{\rm cnt} + S_{\rm fin},\tag{9.1.4}$$

where $S_{\rm cnt}$ kills the divergences from the bare action and $S_{\rm fin}$ must be finite by itself because the divergences from the bare action are already cancelled by $S_{\rm cnt}$. Neither $S_{\rm cnt}$ nor $S_{\rm fin}$ is covariant by itself, but their sum is. Before we look for the covariant form of the counterterms, let us first construct the part $S_{\rm cnt}$ that cancels the divergences from the bare action.

9.2 Counterterms

The counterterm that renormalizes the scalar fluctuations \mathfrak{a}^a is given by eq.(3.1) in [6]:

$$\frac{e^{dA}}{2}\int d^d x \mathfrak{a}^a \mathcal{U}_{ab} \mathfrak{a}^b,$$

where the $n_s \times n_s$ matrix \mathcal{U}_{ab} (evaluated on the background) is given by eq.(3.3) in [6]:

$$\mathcal{U}_{ab}(A,\phi) \equiv \mathcal{M}_{ab} - \frac{1}{2}\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i(a}^{-1}\mathcal{D}_r\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{b)i}.$$
(9.2.1)

We have written $\mathcal{U}_{ab}(A, \phi)$ because we assume the background value of the counterterm matrix comes from a fully covariant matrix $U_{ab}(A, \Phi)$, as we will explain later in section 11. Since the metric satisfies the equation of motion of a massless scalar, the counterterm that renormalizes the traceless transverse metric fluctuations \mathbf{e}_{j}^{i} follows directly from the scalar counterterm by setting $\mathcal{M} = 0$ and omitting the indices a, b, i (since they run from 1 to the number of scalars n_s), which allows us to simplify $\mathcal{D}_r \to \partial_r$,

$$-\frac{e^{dA}}{16}\int\!\!d^dx \mathfrak{e}^i_j \mathcal{T}\mathfrak{e}^j_i,$$

where the function \mathcal{T} is the analogue of the matrix \mathcal{U}_{ab}^{1}

$$\mathcal{T}(A,\phi) \equiv \hat{\mathbf{e}}^{-1} \partial_r \hat{\mathbf{e}}.$$
(9.2.2)

We have written $\mathcal{T}(A, \phi)$ because we assume the background value of the counterterm comes from a fully covariant function $T(A, \Phi)$. The matrix \mathcal{U}_{ab} and the function \mathcal{T} are built from the dominant solutions to the scalar equation of motion $\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a}(A)$ and the metric

¹The metric counterterm has a different numerical factor with respect to the scalar counterterm, and there is a relative sign difference in our definitions of \mathcal{U}_{ab} and \mathcal{T} .

equation of motion $\hat{\mathfrak{e}}(A)$ respectively. Since these solutions $\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_i^a$ and $\hat{\mathfrak{e}}$ have expansions in \Box as given by eq.(5.1.14), we can expand \mathcal{U}_{ab} and \mathcal{T} in \Box as well,

$$\mathcal{U}_{ab}(A,\phi,\Box) = \mathcal{U}_{0ab}(A,\phi) + \mathcal{U}_{1ab}(A,\phi)e^{-2A}\Box + \mathcal{U}_{2ab}(A,\phi)e^{-4A}\Box^2 + \mathcal{O}(\Box^3),$$

$$\mathcal{T}(A,\phi,\Box) = \mathcal{T}_1(A,\phi)e^{-2A}\Box + \mathcal{T}_2(A,\phi)e^{-4A}\Box^2 + \mathcal{O}(\Box^3).$$
(9.2.3)

Notice that $\mathcal{T}_0 = 0$, because the expansion of $\hat{\mathfrak{e}}$ starts with a constant, see eq.(5.1.14). For the *h*-fluctuation, we simply add the last term of eq.(8.4.2) with opposite sign,

$$\frac{e^{(d-2)A}}{32\mathcal{W}}\int d^dxh\,\Box\,h.$$

The non-covariant counterterm then reads

$$S_{\rm cnt} = \frac{e^{dA}}{2} \int d^d x \left(\mathfrak{a}^a \mathcal{U}_{ab} \mathfrak{a}^b - \frac{1}{8} \mathfrak{e}^i_j \mathcal{T} \mathfrak{e}^j_i + \frac{e^{-2A}}{16\mathcal{W}} h \Box h \right).$$
(9.2.4)

The renormalized, on-shell action reads

$$S_{\rm ren} = \frac{e^{dA}}{2} \int d^d x \left[\mathfrak{a}^a \left(\bar{G}_{ab} \mathcal{D}_r - \mathcal{M}_{ab} + \mathcal{U}_{ab} \right) + \frac{1}{8} \mathfrak{e}^i_j \left(\partial_r - \mathcal{T} \right) \mathfrak{e}^j_i \right] + S_{\rm fin}.$$
(9.2.5)

The renormalized action eq.(9.2.5) leads to finite two-point functions for the operators \mathcal{O}_i dual to the scalar sources $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}$ and for the traceless transverse part of the quantum field theory energy-momentum tensor denoted by \mathcal{T}_j^i , which is the dual operator of the source $\mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{s}j}^i$. The two-point functions follow from the linear part of the one-point functions. We can not calculate the vevs because we the terms linear in the sources $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}$ are contained in the action S_{fin} , which we do not know yet. In section 11 we take a covariant approach in which these terms appear automatically. For now, we content ourselves with the computation of two-point functions.

9.3 Finite two-point functions

The exact one-point function is defined in eq.(3.1.3),

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle = -\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}} = -\frac{\delta \mathfrak{a}^a}{\delta \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}} \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \mathfrak{a}^a} = -\left(\hat{\mathfrak{a}}^a_i + \frac{\partial \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}j}}{\partial \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}} \check{\mathfrak{a}}^a_j\right) \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \mathfrak{a}^a},\tag{9.3.1}$$

where we have used eq.(5.1.13) in the last step. Since the sources are not set to zero, the linear part of the exact one-point function carries information for the two-point function. Since we do not yet know S_{fin} , we can so far calculate only the linear contribution to the one-point function, denoted by the subscript 1,

$$\left\langle \mathcal{O}_{i}\right\rangle_{1} = -\left(\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a} + \frac{\partial\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}j}}{\partial\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}}\check{\mathfrak{a}}_{j}^{a}\right)\left(\bar{G}_{ab}\mathcal{D}_{r} - \mathcal{M}_{ab} + \mathcal{U}_{ab}\right)\left(\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{l}^{a}\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}l} + \check{\mathfrak{a}}_{l}^{a}\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}l}\right).$$
(9.3.2)

The calculation is done in section 3.1 of [6] and the result is given by eq.(3.7) of that paper,

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle_1 = Z_{ij} \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}j} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{Z}_{ij} \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}j},$$
(9.3.3)

where the matrices Z_{ij} and Z_{ij} are given by eq.(3.4) in the same paper,

$$Z_{ij}(\Box) = e^{dA} \left[\left(\mathcal{D}_r \hat{\mathfrak{a}} \right)_i \cdot \check{\mathfrak{a}}_j - \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_i \cdot \left(\mathcal{D}_r \check{\mathfrak{a}} \right)_j \right], \qquad \tilde{Z}_{ij}(\Box) = e^{dA} \left(\mathcal{D}_r \hat{\mathfrak{a}} \right)_{[i} \cdot \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{j]}, \qquad (9.3.4)$$

where the antisymmetrization brackets are defined without any numerical factor. It follows from the scalar equation of motion eq.(5.1.8) that these matrices are independent of r, and hence that the one-point function is finite in the limit $r \to \infty$. They do depend on \Box , so we can write²

$$Z_{ij}(\Box) = Z_{0ij} + Z_{1ij} \Box + Z_{2ij} \Box^2 + \dots, \qquad \tilde{Z}_{ij}(\Box) = \tilde{Z}_{0ij} + \tilde{Z}_{1ij} \Box + \tilde{Z}_{2ij} \Box^2 + \dots$$
(9.3.5)

The calculation of the one-point function for \mathcal{T}^i_j is completely analogous, and the result reads³

$$\left\langle \mathcal{T}_{j}^{i}\right\rangle =\frac{1}{4}Y\mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{r}j}^{i},\tag{9.3.6}$$

where Y is the equivalent of the matrix Z,

$$Y \equiv e^{dA} \left(\hat{\mathbf{e}} \partial_r \check{\mathbf{e}} - \check{\mathbf{e}} \partial_r \hat{\mathbf{e}} \right).$$
(9.3.7)

From the metric equation of motion eq.(5.1.9) one can show that Y is independent of r. Notice there is no term proportional to $\mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{s}j}^i$ in eq.(9.3.6). This follows because the matrix \tilde{Z}_{ij} is antisymmetric, so its analogue for the metric \tilde{Y} is zero.

From the exact one-point functions one can immediately obtain the two-point functions by functionally differentiation with respect to the sources once more. The results are

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_i(x)\mathcal{O}_j(y)\rangle = Z_{ik}\frac{\delta\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}k}}{\delta\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}j}} + \frac{1}{2}\tilde{Z}_{ij}\delta(x-y), \qquad \left\langle \mathcal{T}_j^i(x)\mathcal{T}_n^m(y)\right\rangle = \frac{1}{4}Y\frac{\delta\mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{r}j}^i(x)}{\delta\mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{s}m}^n(y)}.$$
 (9.3.8)

$$\mathcal{T}_j^i \equiv \Pi_{jl}^{ik} T_k^l,$$

where the traceless transverse projector is given by eq.(C.2.5).

²Since the matrices do not depend on A, we do not include factors of e^{-2A} in the expansion.

³The traceless transverse part of the quantum field theory energy-momentum tensor \mathcal{T}_{j}^{i} can be obtained from the full energy-momentum tensor T_{j}^{i} using the projection,

9.4 Scheme dependence

As explained in section (3.3) of [6], the decomposition eq.(5.1.13) of \mathfrak{a} and \mathfrak{e} into dominant and subdominant solutions is not unique. Let us consider the scalars first. We will omit the index *a* for simplicity. We have the freedom to reshuffle the decomposition as follows,

$$\hat{\mathfrak{a}}'_i = \Lambda_{ij}\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_j + \lambda_{ij}\check{\mathfrak{a}}_j, \qquad \check{\mathfrak{a}}'_i = \mu_{ij}\check{\mathfrak{a}}_j, \tag{9.4.1}$$

where the non-degenerate matrices Λ_{ij} , λ_{ij} and μ_{ij} are polynomials in \Box . Under this transformation, the matrices Z_{ij} and \tilde{Z}_{ij} transform as

$$\tilde{Z}'_{ij} = \Lambda_{ik}\Lambda_{jl}\tilde{Z}_{kl} + (\Lambda_{ik}\lambda_{jl} - \Lambda_{jk}\lambda_{il}) Z_{kl}
Z'_{ij} = \Lambda_{ik}\mu_{jl}Z_{kl},$$
(9.4.2)

while the source and response functions transform as

$$\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}' = \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}j} \left(\Lambda^{-1} \right)_{ji}, \qquad \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}i}' = \left[\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}j} - \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}l} \left(\Lambda^{-1} \right)_{lk} \lambda_{kj} \right] \left(\mu^{-1} \right)_{ji}. \tag{9.4.3}$$

Finally, the QFT two-point function transforms as

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_i \mathcal{O}_j \rangle' = \Lambda_{ik} \Lambda_{jl} \langle \mathcal{O}_k \mathcal{O}_l \rangle - \frac{1}{2} \left(\Lambda_{ik} \lambda_{jl} + \Lambda_{jk} \lambda_{il} \right) Z_{kl}.$$
 (9.4.4)

We see that the matrix Λ_{ij} induces a rotation of the basis of the operators, while λ_{ij} changes the contact terms. The contact terms do not influence physical scattering amplitudes, so changing them corresponds to changing the renormalization scheme. As argued in [6], it is reasonable to assume that the matrix Λ_{ij} and μ_{ij} can always be chosen such that $Z'_{ij} = \delta_{ij}$, and λ_{ij} can always be chosen such that $\tilde{Z}'_{ij} = 0$.

For the metric, the only freedom we have is

$$\hat{\mathbf{e}}' = \Lambda \hat{\mathbf{e}} + \lambda \check{\mathbf{e}}, \qquad \check{\mathbf{e}}' = \mu \check{\mathbf{e}}, \tag{9.4.5}$$

where we omitted indices i and j for simplicity. Under this transformation, the matrix Y and the source $\mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{s}}$ and response functions transform as

$$Y' = \Lambda \mu Y, \qquad \mathfrak{e}'_{\mathfrak{s}} = \Lambda^{-1} \mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{s}}, \qquad \mathfrak{e}'_{\mathfrak{r}} = \mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{r}} - \Lambda^{-1} \lambda \mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{s}}. \tag{9.4.6}$$

Finally, the QFT two-point function transforms as

$$\left\langle \mathcal{T}_{j}^{i}\mathcal{T}_{l}^{k}\right\rangle^{\prime} = \Lambda^{2}\left\langle \mathcal{T}_{j}^{i}\mathcal{T}_{l}^{k}\right\rangle - \Lambda\lambda Y.$$
 (9.4.7)

Again we assume that we can always choose Λ and μ such that Y' = 1.

9.4.1 Scheme dependence and finite terms

This shows that changing the renormalization scheme is equivalent to adding finite terms to the action. Consider the scheme transformation eq.(9.4.1) with $\Lambda_{ij} = \mu_{ij} = \delta_{ij}$,

$$\hat{\mathfrak{a}}'_{i} = \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i} + \lambda_{ij}\check{\mathfrak{a}}_{j}, \qquad \check{\mathfrak{a}}'_{i} = \check{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}.$$
(9.4.8)

Then the linear part of the one-point function transforms to

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle_1' = Z_{ij}' \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}_j}' + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{Z}_{ij}' \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}_j}', \qquad (9.4.9)$$

which reads, using eq.(9.4.2) and eq.(9.4.3),

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle_1' = \langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle_1 - \lambda_{kj} Z_{ij} \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}k} + \lambda_{jk} Z_{ik} \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}j} - \lambda_{ik} Z_{jk} \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}j}.$$
(9.4.10)

Since $(\mathfrak{a}^a)' = \mathfrak{a}^a$, the only scheme dependence in the one-point function comes from \mathcal{U}_{ab} ,

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\delta}{\delta\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}}e^{dA}\mathfrak{a}^{a}\mathcal{U}_{ab}^{\prime}\mathfrak{a}^{b} = \frac{1}{2}\frac{\delta}{\delta\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}}e^{dA}\mathfrak{a}^{a}\mathcal{U}_{ab}\mathfrak{a}^{b} - \lambda_{kj}Z_{ij}\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}k} + \lambda_{jk}Z_{ik}\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}j} - \lambda_{ik}Z_{jk}\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}j}, \quad (9.4.11)$$

from which we derive that the scheme change corresponds to adding a finite term to the action,

$$e^{dA}\mathfrak{a}^{a}\mathcal{U}_{ab}^{\prime}\mathfrak{a}^{b} = e^{dA}\mathfrak{a}^{a}\mathcal{U}_{ab}\mathfrak{a}^{b} - \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}\lambda_{kj}Z_{ij}\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}k}.$$
(9.4.12)

The last two terms in eq.(9.4.11) have cancelled each other. Similarly, if we change the scheme according to eq.(9.4.5) with $\Lambda = \mu = 1$

$$\hat{\mathbf{e}}' = \hat{\mathbf{e}} + \lambda \check{\mathbf{e}}, \qquad \check{\mathbf{e}}' = \check{\mathbf{e}},$$

$$(9.4.13)$$

then we find

$$e^{dA}\mathfrak{e}_{j}^{i}\mathcal{T}'\mathfrak{e}_{j}^{i} = e^{dA}\mathfrak{e}_{j}^{i}\mathcal{T}\mathfrak{e}_{j}^{i} + \lambda\mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{s}j}^{i}Y\mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{s}i}^{j}, \qquad (9.4.14)$$

which is consistent with, see eq.(9.3.6) and eq.(9.4.6),

$$\left\langle \mathcal{T}_{j}^{i}\right\rangle^{\prime} = \frac{1}{4}Y\left(\mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{r}j}^{i}\right)^{\prime} = \frac{1}{4}Y\left(\mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{r}j}^{i} - \lambda\mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{s}j}^{i}\right).$$
(9.4.15)

Chapter 10

Differential Equations for Counterterm Matrices

 \diamond We derive first order differential equations for the counterterm matrices \mathcal{U}_{ab} and \mathcal{T} . We can use these differential equations to find the counterterm matrices \mathcal{U}_{ab} and \mathcal{T} by solving the differential equations, as we show later in the case studies in sections 14, 15, 16 and 17. \diamond

10.1 Counterterm Matrix

Eq.(9.2.1) shows that we can write the symmetric counterterm matrix as

$$\mathcal{U}_{ab} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{ab} + \tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{ba} \right), \qquad (10.1.1)$$

where we have defined the non-symmetric matrix

$$\tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{ab} \equiv \mathcal{M}_{ab} - \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{ia}^{-1} \mathcal{D}_r \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{ib} = -\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{ia}^{-1} \left(\delta_b^c \mathcal{D}_r - \mathcal{M}_b^c \right) \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{ic}.$$
 (10.1.2)

Then we find

$$\mathcal{D}_{r}\tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{ab} = -\left(\mathcal{D}_{r}\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{ia}^{-1}\right)\left(\delta_{b}^{c}\mathcal{D}_{r}-\mathcal{M}_{b}^{c}\right)\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{ic} - \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{ia}^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{r}\left[\left(\delta_{b}^{c}\mathcal{D}_{r}-\mathcal{M}_{b}^{c}\right)\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{ic}\right].$$
(10.1.3)

We simplify the first term using some algebra,

$$-\left(\mathcal{D}_{r}\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{ia}^{-1}\right)\left(\delta_{b}^{c}\mathcal{D}_{r}-\mathcal{M}_{b}^{c}\right)\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{ic} = \left(\hat{\mathfrak{a}}^{-1}\right)_{i}^{d}\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{ja}^{-1}\left(\mathcal{D}_{r}\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{jd}\right)\left(\delta_{b}^{c}\mathcal{D}_{r}-\mathcal{M}_{b}^{c}\right)\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{ic} \\ = \tilde{\mathcal{U}}^{d}{}_{b}\left(\tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{ad}-\mathcal{M}_{ad}\right), \qquad (10.1.4)$$

and we simplify the second term using the scalar equation of motion eq.(5.1.8),

$$-\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{ia}^{-1}\mathcal{D}_r\left[\left(\delta_b^c \mathcal{D}_r - \mathcal{M}_b^c\right)\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{ic}\right] = \bar{G}_{ab}e^{-2A}\Box - \mathcal{M}_b^d\tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{ad} - d\dot{A}\tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{ab}.$$
 (10.1.5)

Combining this yields

$$\left(\mathcal{D}_{r}+d\dot{A}\right)\tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{ab}=\bar{G}_{ab}e^{-2A}\Box-\mathcal{M}_{ad}\tilde{\mathcal{U}}^{d}{}_{b}-\mathcal{M}^{d}_{b}\tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{ad}+\tilde{\mathcal{U}}^{d}{}_{b}\tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{ad}.$$
(10.1.6)

We can write this back in terms of the symmetric matrix \mathcal{U}_{ab} , except for the last term,

$$\left(\mathcal{D}_r + d\dot{A}\right)\mathcal{U}_{ab} = \bar{G}_{ab}e^{-2A} \Box - \mathcal{M}^c_{(a}\mathcal{U}_{b)c} + \tilde{\mathcal{U}}^c_{\ a}\tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{bc}.$$
 (10.1.7)

When we expand this in \Box as in eq.(9.2.3), we find the following differential equations¹

$$0 = \left(\mathcal{D}_r + d\dot{A}\right)\mathcal{U}_{0ab} + \mathcal{M}^c_{(a}\mathcal{U}_{0b)c} - \tilde{\mathcal{U}}^c_{0a}\tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{0bc}$$

$$\bar{G}_{ab} = \left(\mathcal{D}_r + (d-2)\dot{A}\right)\mathcal{U}_{1ab} + \mathcal{M}^c_{(a}\mathcal{U}_{1b)c} - \tilde{\mathcal{U}}^c_{0(a}\tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{1b)c}.$$
 (10.1.8)

10.2 Counterterm Function

We obtain the analogue of the differential equation for \mathcal{U}_{ab} eq.(10.1.7) for \mathcal{T} by setting $\mathcal{M} = 0$ and substituting $\mathcal{U}_{ab} \to -\mathcal{T}$:²

$$\left(\frac{d}{dr} - d\dot{A}\right)\mathcal{T} = -e^{-2A}\Box - \mathcal{T}^2.$$
(10.2.1)

Again, we expand \mathcal{T} as in eq.(9.2.3)

$$\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{T}_1 e^{-2A} \Box + \mathcal{T}_2 e^{-4A} \Box^2 + \mathcal{O}(\Box^3).$$
(10.2.2)

Then we find the analogue of eq.(10.1.8)

$$\left(\frac{d}{dr} + (d-2)\dot{A}\right)\mathcal{T}_1 = -1, \qquad \left(\frac{d}{dr} + (d-4)\dot{A}\right)\mathcal{T}_2 = -\mathcal{T}_1^2.$$
 (10.2.3)

Since $\mathcal{T}_1(A, \phi)$ is a function of the cut-off A and the scalars ϕ^a , we can rewrite its differential equation as

$$\left(\frac{\mathcal{W}^a}{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{D}_a - \frac{2}{d-1}\partial_A - \frac{2(d-2)}{d-1}\right)\mathcal{T}_1 = -\frac{1}{\mathcal{W}}.$$
(10.2.4)

This relation is only true on the background, since we have used eq.(5.1.12). Similarly, we have

$$\left(\frac{\mathcal{W}^a}{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{D}_a - \frac{2}{d-1}\partial_A - \frac{2(d-4)}{d-1}\right)\mathcal{T}_2 = -\frac{\mathcal{T}_1^2}{\mathcal{W}}.$$
(10.2.5)

¹There are also differential equations for \mathcal{U}_{2ab} , \mathcal{U}_{3ab} and so on, but we will not need them.

²The minus sign comes from our definition $\mathcal{T} \equiv \hat{\mathfrak{e}}^{-1} \partial_r \hat{\mathfrak{e}}$.

10.3 Away from the Background

The differential equations are also valid away from the background,

$$0 = \left(D_r + d\dot{A}\right) U_{0ab} + M^c_{(a} U_{0b)c} - \tilde{U}^c_{0a} \tilde{U}_{0bc}$$

$$G_{ab} = \left(D_r + (d-2)\dot{A}\right) U_{1ab} + M^c_{(a} U_{1b)c} - \tilde{U}^c_{0(a} \tilde{U}_{1b)c}.$$
(10.3.1)

$$\left(\frac{d}{dr} + (d-2)\dot{A}\right)T_1 = -1, \qquad \left(\frac{d}{dr} + (d-4)\dot{A}\right)T_2 = -T_1^2. \tag{10.3.2}$$

Chapter 11 Boundary Covariant Counterterms

♦ In section 9, we obtained the non-covariant counterterm action $S_{\rm cnt}$ that cancel the divergences from the bare action. In this section we show how a covariant counterterm action $S_{\rm cov}$ reproduces $S_{\rm cnt}$ plus another part $S_{\rm fin}$ that is finite by itself and has terms of zeroth and linear order in the fluctuations, from which we can calculate the vacuum energy and the vevs of the operators dual to the bulk scalars. ♦

The start of our method is similar to the Hamilton-Jacobi method, so let us review the first steps.

11.1 Comparison to Hamilton-Jacobi method

In the Hamilton-Jacobi method, one starts with the general counterterm

$$\mathcal{L}_{cov}(\gamma, \Phi, A) = \bar{\mathcal{L}}(\gamma, \Phi) + \mathcal{L}(\gamma, \Phi, A), \qquad (11.1.1)$$

where

$$\bar{\mathcal{L}}(\gamma, \Phi) = \bar{\mathcal{L}}_{[0]}(\gamma, \Phi) + \bar{\mathcal{L}}_{[2]}(\gamma, \Phi) + \dots$$
(11.1.2)

Each term in \mathcal{L} is *fully* covariant, which means that none of the terms depends explicitly on the cut-off, so we can write

$$\bar{\mathcal{L}}_{[0]} = C_0(\Phi)
\bar{\mathcal{L}}_{[2]} = \frac{1}{2} C_1(\Phi) (\nabla \Phi)^2 + C_2(\Phi) R
\bar{\mathcal{L}}_{[4]} = \dots$$
(11.1.3)

The functions $C_0(\Phi), C_1(\Phi), C_2(\Phi), \ldots$ are unknown functions of the scalar Φ only, not of the cut-off A. The only explicit cut-off dependence is in the anomaly

$$\tilde{\mathcal{L}} = -A\bar{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma, \Phi) - \int^{A} dA' \tilde{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma, \Phi, A').$$
(11.1.4)

Putting everything together, the counterterm reads

$$\mathcal{L}_{cov} = C_0(\Phi) + C_{1ab}(\Phi) \nabla^n \Phi^a \nabla_n \Phi^b + C_2(\Phi) R + \dots + - A \bar{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma, \Phi) - \int^A dA' \tilde{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma, \Phi, A').$$
(11.1.5)

The functions C_0, C_1, C_2, \ldots and the linear anomaly $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$ are simultaneously determined by the recursive descent equations, while $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$ has to be derived separately. By definition, $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$ is the remaining part of the descent equations that can not be resolved. There are remaining parts at each level of the descent equations, so we can write

$$\bar{\mathcal{A}} = \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[0]} + \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[2]} + \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[4]} + \dots$$
(11.1.6)

An important ingredient in the Hamilton-Jacobi method is the expansion of the potential around the fixed point. Only then can we solve the descent equations for a generic potential. Unfortunately, the expansion around the fixed point is only possible in aAdS. Since our goal is to find a holographic renormalization procedure in general spacetimes, we can not take this step.

Instead of expanding around the fixed point, we will now expand the general counterterm around the background. Since we are interested in calculating two-point functions, an expansion up to quadratic order in the fluctuations is sufficient. Another important difference between our method and the Hamilton-Jacobi method, is that we will allow the functions $C_0(\Phi, A), C_1(\Phi, A), C_2(\Phi, A), \ldots$ to depend not only on the scalars Φ^a but also explicitly on the cut-off A. This has the advantage that we can treat the anomalous terms simultaneously. Finally, we do not determine the functions C_0, C_1, C_2, \ldots by descent equations that follow from the Hamiltonian constraint, but by making the simple requirement that all correlators that follow from it have to be finite. This requirement can be split in two steps:

- 1. The non-covariant counterterm S_{cnt} given by eq.(9.2.4) has to be contained in the covariant one $S_{\text{cov}} = S_{\text{cnt}} + S_{\text{fin}}$,
- 2. The remaining terms contained in S_{fin} all have to be finite.

Both requirements are necessary and sufficient to determine the covariant counterterm completely. We compare our method to the Hamilton-Jacobi method in table 11.1.

11.2 Covariant Holographic Renormalization

We want to find a gravitational theory whose dual field theory is invariant under translations. The gravitational theory must share the same symmetry, so it must be translationally invariant as well, but only on the d dimensional boundary where the field theory lives. The translational invariance is guaranteed if we work with counterterms that are *boundary covariant*. That means that the action must be covariant with respect to the boundary coordinates x, but not necessarily with respect to the radial

Hamilton-Jacobi method	Covariant Holographic
	Renormalization
$C_0(\Phi), C_1(\Phi), C_2(\Phi), \dots$	$C_0(\Phi, A), C_1(\Phi, A), C_2(\Phi, A), \dots$
Expansion around aAdS fixed point	Expansion around background
Determine counterterms by	Determine counterterms by
Hamiltonian constraint	requiring finite correlators

coordinate r. Thus the counterterm may explicitly depend on the cut-off r, where it is defined. Terms that depend explicitly on the cut-off always lead to scheme dependence, since we always have the freedom to redefine the arbitrary cut-off value by shifting it with any finite constant.

The most general boundary covariant counterterm reads¹

$$\mathcal{L}_{cov} = C_0 + C_{1ab} \nabla^i \Phi^a \nabla_i \Phi^b + C_{2ab} \nabla^2 \Phi^a \nabla^2 \Phi^b + C_3 \nabla^i \nabla^j \Phi^a \nabla_i \nabla_j \Phi^b + + C_4 R + C_5 R^2 + C_6 R^{ij} R_{ij} + C_7 R^{klmn} R_{klmn} + + C_{8a} \nabla^i \Phi^a \nabla_i R + C_9 \nabla^2 R + \mathcal{O}(\Box^3).$$
(11.2.1)

We have not included the term $\nabla^i \nabla^j R_{ij}$ because it is related to $\nabla^2 R$ by the Bianchi identity. We can leave out even more terms since we are going to expand this up to second order only. For example, to second order $R^{klmn}R_{klmn}$ is a combination of R^2 and $R^{ij}R_{ij}$, and $\nabla^i \nabla^j \Phi^a \nabla_i \nabla_j \Phi^b$ can be partially integrated to be proportional to $\nabla^2 \Phi^a \nabla^2 \Phi^b$. Finally, we have, using that R is linear in the fluctuations and dropping boundary terms

$$C_9 \nabla^2 R = -(\nabla_i C_9) \nabla^i R = -(\mathcal{D}_a \mathcal{C}_9) (\nabla_i \varphi^a) \nabla^i R + \mathcal{O}(f^3).$$
(11.2.2)

To second order, this term has the same structure as the term

$$C_{8a}\left(\nabla^{i}\Phi^{a}\right)\nabla_{i}R = \mathcal{C}_{8a}\left(\nabla^{i}\varphi^{a}\right)\nabla_{i}R + \mathcal{O}\left(f^{3}\right).$$
(11.2.3)

We will therefore keep only the term $(\nabla^i \Phi^a) \nabla_i R$, since then we do not have to worry about integrability of the function \mathcal{C}_9 . To second order, we therefore find the following boundary covariant counterterms

$$\mathcal{L}_{cov} = U_0 - \frac{1}{2} U_{1ab} \nabla^i \Phi^a \nabla_i \Phi^b + \frac{1}{2} U_{2ab} \nabla^2 \Phi^a \nabla^2 \Phi^b + \frac{1}{4} T_1 R - \frac{1}{4} T_2 R^{ij} R_{ij} + B R^2 + \frac{1}{4} C_a \nabla^i \Phi^a \nabla_i R + \mathcal{O}(\Box^3) .$$
(11.2.4)

¹We may also introduce similar counterterms but with additional insertions of the background covariant differential operator \mathcal{D}_r . However, we shall argue that the counterterms given here are sufficient.

For future convenience we inserted numerical factors and used the names U_0 , U_{1ab} , U_{2ab} , T_1 , T_2 , B, C_a for the unknown functions of A and Φ^a . In the following we will use the notation

$$\mathcal{U}_{0a} \equiv \mathcal{D}_a \mathcal{U}_0, \qquad \mathcal{U}_{0ab} \equiv \mathcal{D}_a \mathcal{D}_b \mathcal{U}_0, \qquad (11.2.5)$$

where $\mathcal{U}_0(A, \phi)$ is the background value of $U_0(A, \Phi)$. Similarly, we denote the background values of U_{1ab} , U_{2ab} , T_1 , T_2 , B and C_a by \mathcal{U}_{1ab} , \mathcal{U}_{2ab} , \mathcal{T}_1 , \mathcal{T}_2 , \mathcal{B} , \mathcal{C}_a respectively. Expanding the counterterms up to second order in the fluctuations yields, up to $\mathcal{O}(\Box^3)$,

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{\gamma}\mathcal{L}_{cov} &= \frac{e^{dA}}{2}\mathfrak{a}^{a}\left(\mathcal{U}_{0ab} + \mathcal{U}_{1ab}e^{-2A} \Box + \mathcal{U}_{2ab}e^{-4A} \Box^{2}\right)\mathfrak{a}^{b} + \frac{e^{(d-2)A}}{32W}h\Box h + \\ &- \frac{e^{dA}}{16}\mathfrak{e}_{j}^{i}\left(\mathcal{T}_{1}e^{-2A}\Box + \mathcal{T}_{2}e^{-4A}\Box^{2}\right)\mathfrak{e}_{i}^{j} + \frac{e^{dA}}{32}h\left[\frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}\mathcal{W}^{b}}{\mathcal{W}^{2}}\mathcal{U}_{0ab} + \\ &+ \left(\frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}\mathcal{W}^{b}}{\mathcal{W}^{2}}\mathcal{U}_{1ab} + \frac{2(d-2)}{d-1}\mathcal{T}_{1} - 2\frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{D}_{a}\mathcal{T}_{1} - \frac{1}{\mathcal{W}}\right)e^{-2A}\Box + \\ &+ \left(\frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}\mathcal{W}^{b}}{\mathcal{W}^{2}}\mathcal{U}_{2ab} + 32\mathcal{B} - 2\frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{C}_{a} - \frac{2d}{d-1}\mathcal{T}_{2}\right)e^{-4A}\Box^{2}\right]h + \\ &+ \frac{e^{dA}}{4}\mathfrak{a}^{a}\left[-\frac{\mathcal{W}^{b}}{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{U}_{0ab} + \left(\mathcal{D}_{a}\mathcal{T}_{1} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{b}}{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{U}_{1ab}\right)e^{-2A}\Box + \\ &+ \left(\mathcal{C}_{a} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{b}}{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{U}_{2ab}\right)e^{-4A}\Box^{2}\right]h + e^{dA}\mathcal{U}_{0}\left[1 + \frac{1}{2}H + \frac{d}{2(d-1)}h + \\ &- \frac{1}{4}\mathfrak{e}_{k}^{m}\mathfrak{e}_{m}^{k} + \frac{1}{2}\epsilon^{k}\Box\epsilon_{k} - \frac{1}{8}H^{2} + \frac{d-2}{4(d-1)}\left(H + \frac{d}{2(d-1)}h\right)h\right] + \\ &+ e^{dA}\mathcal{U}_{0a}\left(1 + \frac{1}{2}H + \frac{d}{2(d-1)}h\right)\left(\mathfrak{a}^{a} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{4\mathcal{W}}h\right). \end{split}$$

Details of this calculation can be found in appendix B. The last term is just $\sqrt{\gamma}\varphi^{a}\mathcal{U}_{0a}$ up to quadratic order. To obtain the required counterterm S_{cnt} given by eq.(9.2.4), we must identify the functions \mathcal{U}_{0ab} , \mathcal{U}_{1ab} , \mathcal{U}_{2ab} , \mathcal{T}_{1} , \mathcal{T}_{2} with the coefficients of the expansions of the matrix \mathcal{U}_{ab} and \mathcal{T} respectively. The matrix \mathcal{U}_{ab} is defined by eq.(9.2.1), the function \mathcal{T} is defined by eq.(9.2.2), and their expansions are given by eq.(9.2.3). We anticipated this result by giving already the correct names U_0 , U_{1ab} , U_{2ab} , T_1 , T_2 to the functions in the counterterm. Using these identifications, the first three terms provide precisely to the required counterterm S_{cnt} given by eq.(9.2.4).² Since $S_{cov} = S_{cnt} + S_{fin}$, the remaining terms form the finite part of the counterterm action S_{fin} .

We still have the freedom to choose B and C_a . These functions appear at the order \Box^2 in the finite part of the action S_{fin} , and they must be chosen such that the correlators are finite at order \Box^2 . We have enough freedom to ensure that the action is

²We have simply added the required term proportional to $h \Box h$ on the first line and subtracted the same term on the third line.

finite at order \Box^2 . First, we can choose C_a such that the term proportional to $\mathfrak{a}^a \Box^2 h$ in eq.(11.2.6) is finite, and then we still have the freedom to choose B such that the term proportional to $h \Box^2 h$ in eq.(11.2.6) is finite too. Then, the whole action is finite at order \Box^2 .

We might even choose B and C_a such that the terms proportional to $\mathfrak{a}^a \square^2 h$ and $h \square^2 h$ are zero, which would fix the functions B and C_a unambiguously, but this requirement is too strong. We will therefore leave the functions B and C_a as unknown, and we keep in mind that they give us enough freedom to kill all divergences at order \square^2 .

Vacuum energy The forelast term in eq.(11.2.6) contributes $e \equiv e^{dA}\mathcal{U}_0$ to zeroth order in the fluctuations. In eq.(C.2.16) we show that the vacuum energy density is given by

$$\left\langle T_j^i \right\rangle_0 = \delta_j^i e, \tag{11.2.7}$$

where T_j^i is the energy momentum tensor of the quantum field theory. The requirement that $\mathfrak{a}^a \mathcal{U}_{ab} \mathfrak{a}^b$ yields the right counterterm fixes only $\mathcal{U}_{0ab} \equiv \mathcal{D}_a \mathcal{D}_b \mathcal{U}_0$ rather than \mathcal{U}_0 . We have the equivalence relation

$$U_0 \sim U_0 + f(A),$$
 (11.2.8)

where f(A) is a function only of A and therefore boundary covariant. In other words, adding any function f(A) to the action is boundary covariant and does not affect the matrix \mathcal{U}_{0ab} , but it does affect the vacuum energy,

$$e \sim e + e^{dA} f(A). \tag{11.2.9}$$

We will choose $f = -\mathcal{U}_0$, such that e = 0. Then we can forget about the forelast term in eq.(11.2.6).

Recombination We saw that the matrix components \mathcal{U}_{0ab} , \mathcal{U}_{1ab} , \mathcal{U}_{2ab} , \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 combine to form the full matrices \mathcal{U}_{ab} and \mathcal{T} in S_{cnt} . This seems to be happening in the finite part S_{fin} as well. Let us choose

$$\mathcal{B} = \frac{d-2}{8(d-1)}\mathcal{T}_2 + \dots, \qquad \mathcal{C}_a = \mathcal{D}_a\mathcal{T}_2 + \dots \qquad (11.2.10)$$

where the terms on the dots allow for other terms that may be needed to obtain finite correlators. Now we use the differential equations for \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 , given by eq.(10.2.4) and eq.(10.2.5), to eliminate \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 in favor of $\mathcal{D}_a \mathcal{T}_1$ and $\mathcal{D}_a \mathcal{T}_2$. Then the finite part of the counterterm becomes

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{\gamma} \mathcal{L}_{\text{fin}} &= \frac{e^{dA}}{4} \left(\mathfrak{a}^{a} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{8\mathcal{W}} h \right) \left[\mathcal{D}_{a} \mathcal{T}_{0} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{b}}{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{U}_{0ab} + \right. \\ &+ \left(\mathcal{D}_{a} \mathcal{T}_{1} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{b}}{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{U}_{1ab} \right) e^{-2A} \Box + \\ &+ \left(\mathcal{D}_{a} \mathcal{T}_{2} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{b}}{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{U}_{2ab} + \ldots \right) e^{-4A} \Box^{2} \right] h + \\ &- \frac{e^{dA}}{16(d-1)} h \left(\partial_{A} \mathcal{T}_{0} + e^{-2A} \partial_{A} \mathcal{T}_{1} \Box + e^{-4A} \partial_{A} \mathcal{T}_{2} \Box^{2} \right) h + \\ &+ e^{dA} \mathcal{U}_{0a} \left(1 + \frac{1}{2} H + \frac{d}{2(d-1)} h \right) \left(\mathfrak{a}^{a} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{4\mathcal{W}} h \right). \end{split}$$
(11.2.11)

We included terms with $\mathcal{T}_0 = 0$ just to show that we indeed recover the full matrices \mathcal{U}_{ab} and \mathcal{T} ,

$$\sqrt{\gamma}\mathcal{L}_{\text{fin}} = \frac{e^{dA}}{4} \left(\mathfrak{a}^{a} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{8\mathcal{W}}h\right) \left(\mathcal{D}_{a}\mathcal{T} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{b}}{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{U}_{ab} + \mathcal{O}(\Box^{2})\right)h - \frac{e^{(d-2)A}}{16(d-1)}\partial_{A}\mathcal{T}_{1}h\Box h + e^{dA}\mathcal{U}_{0a}\left(1 + \frac{1}{2}H + \frac{d}{2(d-1)}h\right)\left(\mathfrak{a}^{a} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{4\mathcal{W}}h\right).$$
(11.2.12)

We see the full matrices \mathcal{U}_{ab} and \mathcal{T} appear in the first term. In the second term appears the component \mathcal{T}_1 , but it may be that the functions \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C}_a give contributions proportional to $e^{(d-4)A}\partial_A \mathcal{T}_2 h \Box^2 h$ as we have indicated on the forelast line of eq.(11.2.11), and we have left this possibility implicit in the $\mathcal{O}(\Box^2)$ ambiguity that we indicated. Notice that this ambiguity affects only terms proportional to $\mathfrak{a}^a \Box^2 h$ and $h \Box^2 h$, and not the other terms in the action. The vector \mathcal{U}_{0a} is not a component of some expansion.

Our choices for \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C}_a in eq.(11.2.10) yield the following counterterms

$$(D_a T_2) \nabla^i \Phi^a \nabla_i R, \qquad -\frac{1}{4} T_2 \left(R^{ij} R_{ij} - \frac{d-2}{2(d-1)} R^2 \right).$$

The desired term proportional to $\mathcal{D}_a \mathcal{T}_2$ comes more naturally from the counterterm proportional to $T_2 \nabla^2 R$, which we left out because to quadratic order it is equivalent to the counterterm proportional $(D_a T_2) \nabla^i \Phi^a \nabla_i R$, as we showed in eq.(11.2.2) and eq.(11.2.3). In d = 4 the fraction in the last term gives the correct factor of minus one third. The total, on-shell, renormalized action is given by

$$\sqrt{\gamma}\mathcal{L}_{\text{ren}} = \frac{e^{dA}}{2}\mathfrak{a}^{a}\left(\bar{G}_{ab}\mathcal{D}_{r} - \mathcal{M}_{ab} + \mathcal{U}_{ab}\right)\mathfrak{a}^{b} + \frac{e^{dA}}{16}\mathfrak{e}_{j}^{i}\left(\partial_{r} - \mathcal{T}\right)\mathfrak{e}_{i}^{j} + \\
+ \frac{e^{dA}}{4}h\left(\mathcal{D}_{a}\mathcal{T} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{b}}{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{U}_{ab} + \mathcal{O}\left(\Box^{2}\right)\right)\left(\mathfrak{a}^{a} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{8\mathcal{W}}h\right) - \frac{e^{(d-2)A}}{16(d-1)}\mathcal{T}_{1}h\Box h + \\
+ e^{dA}\mathcal{U}_{0a}\left(1 + \frac{1}{2}H + \frac{d}{2(d-1)}h\right)\left(\mathfrak{a}^{a} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{4\mathcal{W}}h\right).$$
(11.2.13)

Finite correlation functions In the next section we will show that the renormalized action leads to finite correlation functions. The correlation functions are obtained from the action by functional differentiation with respect to the sources $\mathbf{a}_{si}(x)$ and $\mathbf{e}_{sj}^{i}(x)$ of the fluctuations $\mathbf{a}^{a}(A, x)$ and $\mathbf{e}_{j}^{i}(A, x)$, see eq.(5.1.13), and the full gauge fields H, h, and ϵ^{i} . The dependence on A of the gauge fields, which does not follow from an equation of motion but depends on the choice of gauge, is therefore irrelevant as it does not affect the physical correlators. Since the first line of eq.(11.2.13) is renormalized by contruction and the rest of the action, given explicitly by eq.(11.2.12), depends only on the fluctuations \mathbf{a}^{a} , H and h, all we have to do is to show that the parts multiplying the source \mathbf{a}_{si} and the gauge fields H, h go to finite values at the boundary. After functional differentiation of the finite action eq.(11.2.12) with respect to the sources \mathbf{a}_{si} and the gauge fields H, h the following combinations appear in the one-point functions,

$$a_{R} \equiv e^{(d-2)A} \mathcal{T}_{1}$$

$$v \equiv -e^{dA} \mathcal{U}_{0a} \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{\mathcal{W}}$$

$$x_{i}(\Box) \equiv e^{dA} \frac{\partial \mathfrak{a}^{a}}{\partial \mathfrak{a}_{si}} \left(\mathcal{D}_{a} \mathcal{T} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{b}}{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{U}_{ab} + \mathcal{O}(\Box^{2}) \right)$$

$$w(\Box) \equiv e^{dA} \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{\mathcal{W}} \left(\mathcal{D}_{a} \mathcal{T} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{b}}{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{U}_{ab} + \mathcal{O}(\Box^{2}) \right)$$

$$v_{i}(\Box) \equiv -e^{dA} \mathcal{U}_{0a} \frac{\partial \mathfrak{a}^{a}}{\partial \mathfrak{a}_{si}}.$$
(11.2.14)

In the next section we will prove that these combinations approach finite values at the boundary, under reasonable assumptions. Notice that a_R and v do not depend on \Box , while the other expressions are expansions up to quadratic order in \Box .

We can expand w and x_i in \Box as follows,

$$w(\Box) = w_0 + w_1 \Box + w_2 \Box^2, \qquad x_i(\Box) = x_{0i} + x_{1i} \Box + x_{2i} \Box^2, \qquad (11.2.15)$$

where each order in \Box has to be finite by itself. We already noticed that we can always choose the counterterms proportional to B and C_a such that w_2 and x_{2i} are finite. We therefore only need to prove the finiteness up to first order in \Box .

11.3 Anomaly

Finite correlation functions automatically imply a finite anomaly. Nevertheless, we find it convenient to discuss both at the same time, so let us calculate the rescaled anomaly $\hat{\mathcal{A}}$ from our action, to first order in the fluctuations. The first order terms in the full renormalized action can come only from the following two terms of the covariant counterterm, given by eq.(11.2.4)

$$S_{\rm cov} = \int d^d x \sqrt{\gamma} \left(U_0(A, \Phi) - \frac{1}{4} T_1(A, \Phi) R \right) + \mathcal{O}(f^2) \,. \tag{11.3.1}$$

The anomaly comes from the *explicit* dependence on A, see eq.(6.2.4),

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}} \equiv -\frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}}} \frac{\delta S_{\text{cov}}}{\delta A} = -e^{dA} \partial_A U_0(A, \Phi) + \frac{1}{4} e^{dA} \partial_A T_1(A, \Phi) R + \mathcal{O}(f^2) .$$
(11.3.2)

Keeping only the terms up to linear order yields

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}} = -e^{dA}\partial_A \mathcal{U}_0 - e^{dA}\varphi^a \partial_A \mathcal{U}_{0a} - \frac{1}{4}e^{(d-2)A}\partial_A \mathcal{T}_1 \Box h + \mathcal{O}(f^2).$$
(11.3.3)

Let us define

$$a \equiv -e^{dA} \partial_A \mathcal{U}_0, \qquad a_R \equiv e^{(d-2)A} \partial_A \mathcal{T}_1.$$
 (11.3.4)

Then we find

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}} = a - e^{dA} \varphi^a \partial_A \mathcal{U}_{0a} - \frac{1}{4} a_R \Box h + \mathcal{O}(f^2).$$
(11.3.5)

Chapter 12 Renormalized Action

♦ We will now prove that, under some reasonable assumptions, the renormalized action eq.(11.2.13) is free of divergences. This is straightforward to zeroth order in □. To first order, we must assume that the vevs of the operators dual to the bulk scalar sources are finite. The strategy consists of three steps. First, we show that a_R and v are finite. Then we show that the next two terms in the list above are finite to zeroth order in □. Then we assume that the last term is finite to all orders in □, which we need to show that the action is also finite at first order in □. ♦

12.1 Two finite functions

Let us start by considering a_R , which appears both in the anomaly and in the renormalized action eq.(11.2.13).

There exists an intimate relation between the homogeneous solutions to the linear differential equations for T_1 and T_2 given eq.(10.3.2), the explicit cut-off dependence in the anomalous counterterms and scheme dependence. A linear differential equation has a particular solution and a homogeneous solution, where the homogeneous solution can be multiplied by any finite constant. Looking at eq.(10.3.2), we see that T_1 and T_2 satisfy linear differential equations with known homogeneous solutions,

$$T_1 = \text{particular} + c_{T1}e^{-(d-2)A}, \qquad T_2 = \text{particular} + c_{T2}e^{-(d-4)A}.$$
 (12.1.1)

Here, c_{T1} and c_{T2} are arbitrary finite constants with the interpretation of scheme constants. Indeed, in the action eq.(11.2.4) we have

$$\sqrt{\gamma}T_1R, \qquad \sqrt{\gamma}T_2R^{ij}R_{ij}. \tag{12.1.2}$$

The contributions to the action due to the homogeneous solutions are

$$c_{T1}e^{-(d-2)A}\sqrt{\gamma}R, \qquad c_{T2}e^{-(d-4)A}\sqrt{\gamma}R^{ij}R_{ij}.$$
 (12.1.3)

These terms are finite, since $\sqrt{\gamma} \sim e^{dA}$ and $R_{ij} \sim e^{-2A}$. We see that the homogeneous solutions are related to adding finite terms to the action, which is related to scheme dependence, as we saw in subsection 9.4. We also know that the explicit dependence on the cut-off is directly related to scheme dependence, since we can always add any finite constant to the cut-off. The general solutions, including the scheme dependence, are therefore

$$T_1(A + C_{T1}, \Phi), \qquad T_2(A + C_{T2}, \Phi),$$
 (12.1.4)

where C_{T1} and C_{T2} are scheme constants (in general not equal to c_{T1} and c_{T2}). We can always choose the cut-off A large enough with respect to the finite constants C_{T1} and C_{T2} such that we can Taylor expand around the small ratios C_{T1}/A and C_{T2}/A ,

$$T_1(A + C_{T1}, \Phi) = T_1(A, \Phi) + C_{T1}\partial_A T_1(A, \Phi)$$

$$T_2(A + C_{T2}, \Phi) = T_2(A, \Phi) + C_{T2}\partial_A T_2(A, \Phi).$$
(12.1.5)

Since we have changed the renormalization scheme, this should be equivalent to adding finite terms to the action multiplied by arbitrary scheme constants. Indeed, comparing eq.(12.1.5) to eq.(12.1.1), we read off

$$\partial_A T_1 \sim e^{-(d-2)A}, \qquad \partial_A T_2 \sim e^{-(d-4)A},$$
(12.1.6)

which shows that a_R goes to a constant at the boundary.

Before we move on to v, let us first consider

$$a \equiv -e^{dA} \partial_A \mathcal{U}_0. \tag{12.1.7}$$

In the action we have $\sqrt{\gamma}U_0(A, \Phi)$. If U_0 is independent of the explicit cut-off A then a = 0 identically. If $U_0(A, \Phi)$ depends on A, we can always change the scheme such that

$$\sqrt{\gamma}U_0(A+C,\Phi) = \sqrt{\gamma}U_0(A,\Phi) + C\sqrt{\gamma}\partial_A U_0(A,\Phi) + \dots, \qquad (12.1.8)$$

where the second term is finite, because it comes from changing the scheme. Thus, a is finite. Since according to eq.(11.2.9) we can always choose e to be a constant, we have

$$0 = \frac{de}{dA} = \frac{d}{dA} \left(e^{dA} \mathcal{U}_0 \right) = e^{dA} \left(d\mathcal{U}_0 - \frac{d-1}{2} \frac{\mathcal{W}^a}{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{U}_{0a} + \partial_A \mathcal{U}_0 \right),$$
(12.1.9)

from which we find the relation,¹

$$a = de + \frac{d-1}{2}v. (12.1.10)$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}}_0 = \left\langle T_k^k \right\rangle_0 + \phi_{\mathfrak{s}} \left\langle \mathcal{O} \right\rangle_0,$$

where $\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}$ is the background value of the scalar source

$$\phi_{\mathfrak{s}} = \frac{d-1}{2}\hat{c}.$$

¹This is just the conformal Ward identity up to zeroth order in the fluctuations, see eq.(6.2.3), eq.(C.2.16) and eq.(C.3.2),

Since e and a are constants, so is v. For completeness, let us show that all terms in the anomaly eq.(11.3.5) are finite. From eq.(12.1.8) we find that $\sqrt{\gamma}\partial_A U_0(A, \Phi)$ is finite, so its derivation with respect to the sources $\varphi_{\mathfrak{s}i}(x)$, which do not depend on A, is finite as well,

finite =
$$e^{dA} \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_{\mathfrak{s}i}} \partial_A U_0 = e^{dA} \frac{\partial \varphi^a}{\partial \varphi_{\mathfrak{s}i}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi^a} \partial_A U_0 = e^{dA} \frac{\partial \varphi^a}{\partial \varphi_{\mathfrak{s}i}} \partial_A U_{0a}.$$

This remains finite on the background,

$$a_i \equiv e^{dA} \frac{\partial \varphi^a}{\partial \varphi_{\mathfrak{s}i}} \partial_A \mathcal{U}_{0a} = \text{finite.}$$
 (12.1.11)

Since the sources $\varphi_{\mathfrak{s}i}$ do not depend on A, it follows

$$e^{dA}\varphi^a\partial_A\mathcal{U}_{0a} = \text{finite.}$$
 (12.1.12)

We have now shown that all terms in the anomaly eq.(11.3.5) are finite. Since φ^a is related to \mathfrak{a}^a by eq.(5.1.6), we find

$$e^{dA}\mathfrak{a}^a\partial_A\mathcal{U}_{0a} = \text{finite.}$$
 (12.1.13)

12.2 Zeroth order terms

We will now prove that x_{0i} and w_0 are finite. We can give an explicitly finite expression for x_{0i} by considering the identity

$$x_{0i} = -e^{dA} \frac{\partial \mathfrak{a}_0^a}{\partial \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}} \mathcal{U}_{0ab} \frac{\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}} = -e^{dA} \frac{\partial \mathfrak{a}_0^a}{\partial \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}} \left(\bar{G}_{ab} \mathcal{D}_r - \mathcal{M}_{ab} + \mathcal{U}_{0ab} \right) \left(\hat{c}_i \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{0i}^b + \check{c}_i \check{\mathfrak{a}}_{0i}^b \right), \quad (12.2.1)$$

which follows from the original definition of x_i in eq.(11.2.14) with $\mathcal{T}_0 = 0$ and the identities eq.(5.1.19) and eq.(5.1.20). Comparing this expression to eq.(9.3.2) and eq.(9.3.3), we find

$$x_{0i} = \check{c}_j Z_{0ij} + \frac{1}{2} \hat{c}_j \tilde{Z}_{0ij}.$$
 (12.2.2)

Now consider

$$w_0 = -e^{dA} \frac{\mathcal{W}^a \mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}^2} \mathcal{U}_{0ab}.$$
 (12.2.3)

To prove this is finite, we first note that we may write

$$x_{0i} = -e^{dA} \frac{\partial \mathfrak{a}_0^a}{\partial \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}} \mathcal{U}_{0ab} \frac{\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}} = -e^{dA} \left(\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{0i}^a + \frac{\partial \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}j}}{\partial \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}} \check{\mathfrak{a}}_{0j}^a \right) \mathcal{U}_{0ab} \frac{\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}} = -e^{dA} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{0i}^a \mathcal{U}_{0ab} \frac{\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}}, \quad (12.2.4)$$

where the last step follows since we have seen in eq.(9.3.2) and eq.(9.3.3) that the term proportional to \check{a}_{0j} does not contribute.² For the same reason, we may write

$$\hat{c}_i x_{0i} = -e^{dA} \left(\hat{c}_i \hat{\mathbf{a}}^a_{0i} + \check{c}_i \check{\mathbf{a}}^a_{0i} \right) \mathcal{U}_{0ab} \frac{\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}} = -e^{dA} \frac{\mathcal{W}^a \mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}^2} \mathcal{U}_{0ab} = w_0.$$
(12.2.5)

²There is also a term proportional to $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_{0j}$ inside $\mathcal{W}^b/\mathcal{W}$ which does contribute, so the final result depends on \check{c}_j .

From eq.(12.2.2) we then find

$$w_0 = \hat{c}_i x_{0i} = \hat{c}_i \check{c}_j Z_{0ij}, \qquad (12.2.6)$$

where we have used that \tilde{Z}_{0ij} is antisymmetric.

Assumption To continue with the first order terms, we must first derive two equations, and to do so we must assume

$$v_i(\Box) \equiv -e^{dA} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_i^a \mathcal{U}_{0a} = \text{finite}, \qquad (12.2.7)$$

which gives an alternative definition of v_i , as we will now explain. From eq.(12.2.7) follows

$$e^{dA}\check{\mathfrak{a}}_i^a \mathcal{U}_{0a} = 0, \qquad (12.2.8)$$

because the strongest term in $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_i^a$ is weaker than the weakest term in $\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_i^a$. Another way to look at this is by writing,

$$e^{dA}\mathcal{U}_{0a}\check{\mathfrak{a}}_{k}^{a} = \left(\hat{\mathfrak{a}}^{-1}\right)_{ib}\check{\mathfrak{a}}_{k}^{b}\left(e^{dA}\mathcal{U}_{0a}\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a}\right) = -\left(\hat{\mathfrak{a}}^{-1}\right)_{ib}\check{\mathfrak{a}}_{k}^{b}v_{i}.$$
(12.2.9)

The left-hand side is zero because v_i is finite by assumption and $(\hat{\mathfrak{a}}^{-1})_{ib}\check{\mathfrak{a}}_k^b$ goes to zero, see also page 7 of [6]. The definition eq.(12.2.7) therefore implies the expression for v_i given in eq.(11.2.14), but not the other way around.

Since there is only one term linear in the fluctuations, it means we assume that the vevs v_{0i} of the operators \mathcal{O}_i dual to the scalar sources $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}$ are all finite, see eq.(C.2.16). This is a very reasonable assumption, because at zeroth order in \Box there exists only one counterterm $U_0(A, \Phi)$, which we determined by requiring that $e^{dA}\mathfrak{a}_0^a\mathcal{U}_{0ab}\mathfrak{a}_0^b$ yields the correct counterterm. Therefore, if a system has remaining divergences already at zeroth order in \Box , then that system can not be renormalized by covariant counterterms. However, it is very reasonable to assume that the vevs are finite in any system, because we have already shown that the other combinations that appear at zeroth order in \Box in the renormalized action eq.(11.2.13) are all finite in any system,

finite =
$$e^{dA}\mathcal{U}_0$$
, $e^{dA}\partial_A\mathcal{U}_0$, $e^{dA}\mathfrak{a}_0^a \left(\bar{G}_{ab}\mathcal{D}_r - \mathcal{M}_{ab} + \mathcal{U}_{0ab}\right)\mathfrak{a}_0^b$,
 $e^{dA}\mathfrak{a}_0^a\mathcal{U}_{0ab}\frac{\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}}$, $e^{dA}\mathfrak{a}^a\partial_A\mathcal{U}_{0a}$, $e^{dA}\mathcal{U}_{0a}\frac{\mathcal{W}^a}{\mathcal{W}}$. (12.2.10)

Especially the last two terms are interesting are similar to v_i since they involve \mathcal{U}_{0a} .

12.3 Preliminaries for the first order terms

Now let us derive two equations, which we need to show that the action is finite at first order in \Box .

First equation To derive the first equation, we will take the derivatives with respect to r of v_i , which should go to zero because v_i is assumed to be finite. In taking the derivative, we will use, see eq.(7) from [18]

$$\mathcal{D}_r \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_i^a = -\left(d\delta_{ij} - \Delta_{ij}\right) \dot{A} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_j^a, \qquad (12.3.1)$$

In aAdS with one scalar, Δ has the interpretation of the conformal dimension of the tree-level operator \mathcal{O} dual to the scalar, see eq.(6.2.2). In a physical theory, every element of the matrix Δ_{ij} is finite. Then we find

$$0 = \mathcal{D}_{r} \left(e^{dA} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a} \mathcal{U}_{0a} \right)$$

$$= \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a} \mathcal{U}_{0a} \partial_{r} e^{dA} + e^{dA} \mathcal{U}_{0a} \mathcal{D}_{r} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a} + e^{dA} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a} \mathcal{D}_{r} \mathcal{U}_{0a}$$

$$= e^{dA} \left(d\dot{A} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a} \mathcal{U}_{0a} + \delta_{a}^{b} \mathcal{U}_{0b} \mathcal{D}_{r} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a} + \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a} \mathcal{W}^{b} \mathcal{U}_{0ab} + \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a} \dot{A} \partial_{A} \mathcal{U}_{0a} \right)$$

$$= e^{dA} \left(d\dot{A} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a} \mathcal{U}_{0a} - \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{ka}^{-1} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{k}^{b} \mathcal{U}_{0b} \left(d\delta_{ij} - \Delta_{ij} \right) \dot{A} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{j}^{a} + \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a} \mathcal{W}^{b} \mathcal{U}_{0ab} + \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a} \dot{A} \partial_{A} \mathcal{U}_{0a} \right)$$

$$= e^{dA} \left(d\dot{A} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a} \mathcal{U}_{0a} - \mathcal{U}_{0b} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{j}^{b} \left(d\delta_{ij} - \Delta_{ij} \right) \dot{A} + \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a} \mathcal{W}^{b} \mathcal{U}_{0ab} - \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a} \dot{A} \partial_{A} \mathcal{U}_{0a} \right)$$

$$= e^{dA} \left(\dot{A} \Delta_{ij} \mathcal{U}_{0b} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{b} + \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a} \mathcal{W}^{b} \mathcal{U}_{0ab} - \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a} \dot{A} \partial_{A} \mathcal{U}_{0a} \right).$$
(12.3.2)

Dividing by A yields

$$e^{dA} \left(\Delta_{ij} \mathcal{U}_{0b} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_i^b - \frac{d-1}{2} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_i^a \frac{\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{U}_{0ab} + \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_i^a \partial_A \mathcal{U}_{0a} \right) = 0.$$
(12.3.3)

We assumed in eq.(12.2.7) that the first term is finite to all orders in \Box , and from this assumption it follows that the last term is finite to all orders in \Box as well,

$$e^{dA}\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_i^a\partial_A\mathcal{U}_{0a} = \text{finite},$$
 (12.3.4)

which is consistent with eq.(12.1.13). Thus we conclude that the term in the middle of eq.(12.3.3) is finite by itself,

$$e^{dA}\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a}\frac{\mathcal{W}^{b}}{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{U}_{0ab} = \text{finite}$$
 (12.3.5)

to all orders in \Box . Eq.(12.2.4) shows that this is definitely true to zeroth order in \Box . Then it follows that

$$e^{dA}\check{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a}\frac{\mathcal{W}^{b}}{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{U}_{0ab}=0, \qquad (12.3.6)$$

because the strongest term in $\check{\mathfrak{a}}_i^a$ is weaker than the weakest term in $\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_i^a$. We can combine eq.(12.3.5) and eq.(12.3.6) into

$$e^{dA}\mathfrak{a}^{a}\frac{\mathcal{W}^{b}}{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{U}_{0ab} = \text{finite.}$$
 (12.3.7)

To first order in \Box , we find

$$e^{(d-2)A}\mathfrak{a}_1^a \frac{\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{U}_{0ab} = \text{finite},$$
 (12.3.8)

which is the first of the two equations we will need later.

Second equation Now let us derive the second equation. In the renormalized action appears

$$e^{dA}\mathfrak{a}^{a}\left(\bar{G}_{ab}\mathcal{D}_{r}-\mathcal{M}_{ab}+\mathcal{U}_{ab}\right)\mathfrak{a}^{b}.$$
(12.3.9)

We know this is finite by construction. It must be finite order by order in \Box . We focus on the first order part in \Box ,

$$1 \text{st} = e^{(d-2)A} \Big[2\mathfrak{a}_0^a \mathcal{U}_{0ab} \mathfrak{a}_1^b + \mathfrak{a}_0^a \mathcal{U}_{1ab} \mathfrak{a}_0^b + \mathfrak{a}_1^a \left(\bar{G}_{ab} \mathcal{D}_r - \mathcal{M}_{ab} \right) \mathfrak{a}_0^b + \mathfrak{a}_0^a \left(\bar{G}_{ab} \mathcal{D}_r - \mathcal{M}_{ab} \right) \mathfrak{a}_1^b \Big], \qquad (12.3.10)$$

where

$$\mathfrak{a}_{0}^{a} = \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{0i}^{a}\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i} + \check{\mathfrak{a}}_{0i}^{a}\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}i}, \qquad \mathfrak{a}_{1}^{a} = \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{1i}^{a}\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i} + \check{\mathfrak{a}}_{1i}^{a}\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}i}.$$
(12.3.11)

The first order contribution must be finite for arbitrary values of the sources $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}$ and responses $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}i}$, in particular for the specific values $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i} \to \hat{c}_i$ and $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}i} \to \check{c}_i$. Then we find

$$\mathfrak{a}_{0}^{a} = \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{0i}^{a}\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i} + \check{\mathfrak{a}}_{0i}^{a}\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}i} \to \hat{c}_{i}\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{0i}^{a} + \check{c}_{i}\check{\mathfrak{a}}_{0i}^{a} = \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{\mathcal{W}}.$$
(12.3.12)

Using also the identity eq.(5.1.19), the contribution eq.(12.3.10) simplifies to

$$1st = e^{(d-2)A} \left(2\frac{\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{U}_{0ab} \mathfrak{a}_1^a + \frac{\mathcal{W}^a \mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}^2} \mathcal{U}_{1ab} + \frac{\mathcal{W}^a}{\mathcal{W}} \left(\bar{G}_{ab} \mathcal{D}_r - \mathcal{M}_{ab} \right) \mathfrak{a}_1^b \right).$$
(12.3.13)

We know this combination of terms is finite, and from eq.(12.3.8) it follows that the first term is finite by itself. Then it follows that the following terms are finite

$$e^{(d-2)A} \frac{\mathcal{W}^a \mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}^2} \mathcal{U}_{1ab} + e^{(d-2)A} \frac{\mathcal{W}^a}{\mathcal{W}} \left(\bar{G}_{ab} \mathcal{D}_r - \mathcal{M}_{ab} \right) \mathfrak{a}_1^b = \text{finite.}$$
(12.3.14)

The combination of these two terms is finite, so its derivative must vanish

$$\mathcal{D}_r\left(e^{(d-2)A}\frac{\mathcal{W}^a\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}^2}\mathcal{U}_{1ab}\right) + \mathcal{D}_r\left(e^{(d-2)A}\frac{\mathcal{W}^a}{\mathcal{W}}\left(\bar{G}_{ab}\mathcal{D}_r - \mathcal{M}_{ab}\right)\mathfrak{a}_1^b\right) = 0.$$
(12.3.15)

Let us calculate each term individually. Using the differential equation for \mathcal{U}_{1ab} given by eq.(10.1.8) and the identity eq.(5.1.19), we find

$$\mathcal{D}_r\left(e^{(d-2)A}\frac{\mathcal{W}^a\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}^2}\mathcal{U}_{1ab}\right) = e^{(d-2)A}\frac{\mathcal{W}^a\mathcal{W}_a}{\mathcal{W}^2} + e^{(d-2)A}\frac{\mathcal{W}^a\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}^2}\tilde{\mathcal{U}}^c_{0(a}\tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{1b)c}.$$
 (12.3.16)

Now we calculate the second term

$$\mathcal{D}_{r}\left(e^{dA}\frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{\mathcal{W}}\left(\bar{G}_{ab}\mathcal{D}_{r}-\mathcal{M}_{ab}\right)\left(e^{-2A}\mathfrak{a}_{1}^{b}\right)\right)=$$

$$e^{dA}\frac{\mathcal{W}^{c}}{\mathcal{W}}\left(d\dot{A}\delta_{c}^{a}+\mathcal{M}_{c}^{a}\right)\left(\bar{G}_{ab}\mathcal{D}_{r}-\mathcal{M}_{ab}\right)\left(e^{-2A}\mathfrak{a}_{1}^{b}\right)+$$

$$+e^{dA}\frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{D}_{r}\left[\left(\bar{G}_{ab}\mathcal{D}_{r}-\mathcal{M}_{ab}\right)\left(e^{-2A}\mathfrak{a}_{1}^{b}\right)\right].$$
(12.3.17)

In the last term we use the scalar equation of motion eq.(5.1.8), which we can rewrite as

$$\mathcal{D}_r\left[\left(\bar{G}_{ab}\mathcal{D}_r - \mathcal{M}_{ab}\right)\mathfrak{a}^b\right] = -\left(d\dot{A}\bar{G}_{ab} + \mathcal{M}_{ab}\right)\left(\delta^b_c\mathcal{D}_r - \mathcal{M}^b_c\right)\mathfrak{a}^c - e^{-2A}\Box\mathfrak{a}_a. \quad (12.3.18)$$

The first order contribution is

$$\mathcal{D}_{r}\left[\left(\bar{G}_{ab}\mathcal{D}_{r}-\mathcal{M}_{ab}\right)e^{-2A}\mathfrak{a}_{1}^{b}\right] = -\left(d\dot{A}\bar{G}_{ab}+\mathcal{M}_{ab}\right)\left(\delta_{c}^{b}\mathcal{D}_{r}-\mathcal{M}_{c}^{b}\right)\left(e^{-2A}\mathfrak{a}_{1}^{c}\right)+ \\ -e^{-2A}\frac{\mathcal{W}_{a}}{\mathcal{W}},$$
(12.3.19)

where we have used eq.(12.3.12) to obtain the last term. Then we find

$$\mathcal{D}_r \left(e^{dA} \frac{\mathcal{W}^a}{\mathcal{W}} \left(\bar{G}_{ab} \mathcal{D}_r - \mathcal{M}_{ab} \right) \left(e^{-2A} \mathfrak{a}_1^b \right) \right) = -e^{(d-2)A} \frac{\mathcal{W}^a \mathcal{W}_a}{\mathcal{W}^2}.$$
 (12.3.20)

This terms cancels exactly against the first term in eq.(12.3.16). Thus, combining eq.(12.3.15) with eq.(12.3.16) and eq.(12.3.20), we find the second equation we need

$$e^{(d-2)A} \frac{\mathcal{W}^a \mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}^2} \tilde{\mathcal{U}}^c_{0(a} \tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{1b)c} = 0.$$
(12.3.21)

The cancellation between eq.(12.3.16) and eq.(12.3.20) indicates the cancellation of a potential divergence. For example, in section 14 we will discuss the GPPZ flow, where the term on the right-hand side of eq.(12.3.20) is a constant. Since the same term appears with opposite sign in eq.(12.3.16), we see that each individual term in eq.(12.3.14) is linearly divergent. We conclude that the first term in eq.(12.3.13) is finite by itself, while the second term has a term that may be divergent, but this divergence is always cancelled by the third term.

12.4 First order terms

Now let us continue with the first order terms. From eq.(11.2.14) we find

$$w_1 = e^{(d-2)A} \frac{\mathcal{W}^a}{\mathcal{W}} \left(\mathcal{D}_a \mathcal{T}_1 - \frac{\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{U}_{1ab} \right).$$
(12.4.1)

We use the differential equation for \mathcal{T}_1 given by eq.(10.2.4) to rewrite the term as

$$w_1 = e^{(d-2)A} \left(\frac{2(d-2)}{d-1} \mathcal{T}_1 - \frac{1}{\mathcal{W}} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^a \mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}^2} \mathcal{U}_{1ab} \right) + \frac{2}{d-1} a_R.$$
(12.4.2)

Since a_R is a constant by itself, the part within brackets has to be a constant by itself too. Earlier we mentioned that the three terms above are not constant by themselves. For example, we saw that the last term is linearly divergent in GPPZ. That is fine,
as long as the combination of the three terms is finite. We have shown by explicit calculations that this is indeed the case in all cases we studied, including Klebanov-Strassler, and we will now give the proof. Using the differential equations for \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{U}_{1ab} given by eq.(10.2.4) and eq.(10.1.8) respectively, we find

$$-\mathcal{D}_r\left[e^{(d-2)A}\left(\frac{2(d-2)}{d-1}\mathcal{T}_1 - \frac{1}{\mathcal{W}} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^a\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}^2}\mathcal{U}_{1ab}\right)\right] = e^{(d-2)A}\frac{\mathcal{W}^a\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}^2}\tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{0(a}^c\tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{1b)c}.$$
 (12.4.3)

The term on the right-hand side is equal to the one in eq.(12.3.21), which goes to zero fast enough. It is interesting to see that a similar cancellation of divergences appears as before. Namely, in taking the derivative, the middle term contributes

$$\mathcal{D}_r \mathcal{W}^{-1} = -\frac{\mathcal{W}^a \mathcal{W}_a}{\mathcal{W}^2},\tag{12.4.4}$$

which cancels an opposite contribution from the last term. There is another cancellation between the first term and the last term.

Finally, we consider x_{1i} . From eq.(11.2.14) we find

$$x_{1i} = e^{(d-2)A} \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}} \left[-\mathfrak{a}_1^a \frac{\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{U}_{0ab} + \mathfrak{a}_0^a \left(\mathcal{D}_a \mathcal{T}_1 - \frac{\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{U}_{1ab} \right) \right].$$
(12.4.5)

Eq.(12.3.8) shows that the first term is finite by itself, so the second term must be finite by itself too

$$e^{(d-2)A}\mathfrak{a}_0^a\left(\mathcal{D}_a\mathcal{T}_1-rac{\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{U}_{1ab}
ight).$$

We can not evaluate this for arbitrary values of the sources, because we do not know T_1 away from the background. But when we replace $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i} \to \hat{c}_i$ and $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}i} \to \check{c}_i$, we recover w_1 , see eq.(12.3.12) and eq.(12.4.1). Unless this happens due to systematic cancellations independently of the system, the above term is finite too. This is a reasonable assumption, because we saw that the zeroth order term x_{0i} is finite.

12.5 Second order terms

We have mentioned several times before that we can always choose the counterterms proportional to B and C_a such that the action is finite at order \Box^2 . We may even choose them such that the contributions proportional to $\mathfrak{a}^a \Box^2 h$ and $h \Box^2 h$ disappear completely, without affecting the term proportional to $\mathfrak{a}^a \Box^2 \mathfrak{a}^b$. This (overly restrictive) requirement would fix the counterterms to

$$\mathcal{C}_a = \frac{\mathcal{W}^b}{4\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{U}_{2ab}, \qquad \mathcal{B} = \frac{\mathcal{W}^a\mathcal{W}^b}{32\mathcal{W}^2}\mathcal{U}_{2ab} + \frac{d}{16(d-1)}\mathcal{T}_2.$$
(12.5.1)

The counterterm Lagrangian then reads

$$\mathcal{L}_{cov} = U_0 - \frac{1}{2} U_{1ab} \nabla^n \Phi^a \nabla_n \Phi^b - \frac{1}{4} T_1 R - \frac{1}{4} T_2 \left(R^{ij} R_{ij} - \frac{d}{4(d-1)} R^2 \right) + \frac{1}{2} U_{2ab} \left(\nabla^2 \Phi^a \nabla^2 \Phi^b + \frac{W^a W^b}{16W^2} R^2 + \frac{W^a}{2W} \nabla^n \Phi^b \nabla_n R \right) + \mathcal{O}(\Box^3) \,.$$

The correlations functions that follow from these counterterms are manifestly finite at order \Box^2 , because at this order the renormalized action contains only the terms proportional to $\mathfrak{a}^a \Box^2 \mathfrak{a}^b$ and $\mathfrak{e}^i_j \Box^2 \mathfrak{e}^j_i$, which are finite by construction. However, the requirement that the contributions proportional to $\mathfrak{a}^a \Box^2 h$ and $h \Box^2 h$ disappear completely from the action is overly restrictive, because any other choice of the counterterms proportional to B and C_a that leads to finite contributions proportional to $\mathfrak{a}^a \Box^2 h$ and $h \Box^2 h$ is equally acceptable. The difference between one choice of counterterms and that leads to *no* contributions proportional to $\mathfrak{a}^a \Box^2 h$ and $h \Box^2 h$, and another choice of counterterms that leads to *finite* contributions proportional to $\mathfrak{a}^a \Box^2 h$ and $h \Box^2 h$ is clearly scheme dependent, because we have seen that changin the scheme is equivalent to adding finite terms to the action.

There is therefore no contradiction between the first choice of counterterms proportional to B and C_a given by eq.(11.2.10) and the second choice by eq.(12.5.1). The difference between these choices are finite terms. All we have shown in eq.(12.5.1) is that it is possible to choose the counterterms such that there appears a pattern in the action that allows us to recombine the components \mathcal{T}_1 , \mathcal{T}_2 into the full function \mathcal{T} and the components \mathcal{U}_{0ab} , \mathcal{U}_{1ab} , \mathcal{U}_{2ab} into the full matrix \mathcal{U}_{ab} . However, this choice does not guarantee that the divergences dissappear. It may be, that in order to have no divergences at order \Box^2 , the terms on the dots eq.(12.5.1) cancel the first terms, such that no recombination of components into full matrices appears.

It is interesting to note that the choices eq.(11.2.10) and eq.(12.5.1) respectively lead to terms in the action

$$-\frac{1}{4}T_2\left(R^{ij}R_{ij}-\frac{d-2}{2(d-1)}R^2\right), \qquad -\frac{1}{4}T_2\left(R^{ij}R_{ij}-\frac{d}{4(d-1)}R^2\right),$$

which both lead to the correct term for d = 4,

$$-\frac{1}{4}T_2\left(R^{ij}R_{ij}-\frac{1}{3}R^2\right).$$

Again, we emphasize there is no contradiction. The ambiguity simply reflects scheme dependence. We point out that the first choice eq.(11.2.10) guarantees a recombination of components into full matrices but does not guarantee a finite action at order \Box^2 (but does not exclude it either), while the second choice eq.(12.5.1) guarantuees a finite action at order \Box^2 but excludes a recombination of components into full matrices. Since both choices lead to the correct term for d = 4, we can still hope that there exists a scheme in which the components recombine into the full matrices and thereby producing finite contributions proportional to $\mathfrak{a}^a \square^2 h$ and $h \square^2 h$. This scheme may be considered natural.

It may even be the case that the choice eq.(11.2.10), which allows for a recombination, is sufficient to produce finite contributions proportional to $\mathfrak{a}^a \square^2 h$ and $h \square^2 h$ without any additional terms on the dots. We can check this by a procedure similar to the one we just used to show the absence of divergences at first order in \square .

In what follows, we will use the counterterms given by eq.(12.5.2) which follows from the choice eq.(12.5.1), because these terms guarantee a finite action at order \Box^2 . We will indeed see that the other choice eq.(11.2.10) differs only by finite terms.

Finally, we remark that we expect there exists a natural scheme in which the recombination happens such that finite terms appear proportional to $\mathfrak{a}^a \square^2 h$ and $h \square^2 h$, because we see similar finite terms appear at zeroth and first order in \square , proportional to $\mathfrak{a}^a h$, hh and $\mathfrak{a}^a \square h$, $h \square h$ respectively.

Chapter 13 One-Scalar Systems in aAdS

 \diamond We will now show that Covariant Holographic Renormalization yields the same results as the Hamilton-Jacobi method. \diamond

13.1 Preliminaries

In aAdS, we can use eq.(7.1.21)

$$W = -\frac{d-1}{2} - \frac{d-\Delta}{2}\Phi^2 + \frac{v_3}{18\Delta - 12d}\Phi^3 + \mathcal{O}(\Phi^4).$$
(13.1.1)

This gives, see eq.(4.1.6)

$$\dot{A}(\phi) = -\frac{2\mathcal{W}}{d-1} = 1 + \frac{d-\Delta}{d-1}\phi^2 - \frac{2v_3}{(18\Delta - 12d)(d-1)}\phi^3 + \mathcal{O}(\phi^4).$$
(13.1.2)

Now we use

$$\phi = e^{-(d-\Delta)r}\phi_{\mathfrak{s}} + \dots, \qquad (13.1.3)$$

where $\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}$ is the background value of the scalar source, which is a constant. Using this, we find

$$\dot{A}(r) = 1 + \frac{d - \Delta}{d - 1} e^{-2(d - \Delta)r} \phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2 - \frac{2v_3}{(18\Delta - 12d)(d - 1)} e^{-3(d - \Delta)r} \phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^3 + \mathcal{O}\left(e^{-4(d - \Delta)r}\right).$$
(13.1.4)

The background value of the mass matrix becomes

$$\mathcal{M} = -(d - \Delta) + \frac{v_3}{3\Delta - 2d} e^{-(d - \Delta)r} \phi_{\mathfrak{s}} + \mathcal{O}(\phi^2) .$$
(13.1.5)

13.2 Counterterms from scalar solution

The differential equation for \mathcal{U}_0'' then becomes

$$\left(\frac{d}{dr} - d + 2\Delta - \mathcal{U}_0''\right)\mathcal{U}_0'' = \mathcal{O}(\phi^2), \qquad (13.2.1)$$

where the primes are partial derivatives with respect to the scalars ϕ , keeping A constant. The solution is given by

$$\mathcal{U}_{0}^{\prime\prime} = \begin{cases} C_{U0}\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^{n}e^{-(2\Delta-d)r} = C_{U0}\phi^{n}, & n \equiv \frac{2\Delta-d}{d-\Delta} & \Delta \neq \frac{d}{2} \\ = -\frac{1}{A+C} & \Delta = \frac{d}{2}, \end{cases}$$
(13.2.2)

where C_{U0} is a scheme constant. Integrating twice yields

$$\mathcal{U}_0 = \frac{C_{U0}}{(n+2)(n+1)} \phi^{n+2}, \quad \text{for} \quad \Delta \neq \frac{d}{2}.$$
(13.2.3)

The following counterterm is therefore finite

$$\sqrt{\gamma}U_0 \sim \sqrt{\gamma}\Phi^{n+2} \sim e^{dr}e^{-(n+2)(d-\Delta)r} = 1, \quad \text{for} \quad \Delta \neq \frac{d}{2}.$$
 (13.2.4)

The fact that the counterterm is finite is consistent with the fact that the solution for \mathcal{U}_0'' to the differential equation can be multiplied with any finite constant. This constant is thus scheme dependent. In a natural scheme, the vacuum energy vanishes e = 0 as we discussed in eq.(11.2.9). For $\Delta = d/2$ we have

$$U_0 = -\frac{\Phi^2}{2(A+C_{U0})}, \quad \text{for} \quad \Delta = \frac{d}{2}.$$
 (13.2.5)

Our result is consistent with the Hamilton-Jacobi method, see eq.(7.3.16). Up to scheme dependence, our results can be summarized by

$$U_0 = -\int^A dA' \tilde{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma, \Phi, A'), \qquad \forall \Delta, \qquad (13.2.6)$$

where $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}$ is given by eq.(7.3.13). Then we find

$$\tilde{\mathcal{L}} = -A\bar{\mathcal{A}}(\gamma, \Phi) + U_0(\gamma, \Phi, A), \qquad (13.2.7)$$

Thus U_0 is related to the non-linear anomaly. This is consistent with the fact that

$$\hat{\tilde{\mathcal{A}}} = -e^{dA} \partial_A U_0(A, \Phi).$$
(13.2.8)

From eq.(7.3.15) we find

$$\sqrt{\gamma}U_0 = -\frac{\sqrt{\gamma}\Phi^2}{2(A+C_{U0})} \sim A, \quad \text{for} \quad \Delta = \frac{d}{2}. \quad (13.2.9)$$

The counterterm is logarithmically divergent, and hence a real counterterm. The vacuum energy automatically goes to zero when the cut-off is taken to infinity,

$$e \equiv e^{dA} \mathcal{U}_0 = \frac{\phi_s^2}{A + C_{U0}} \sim A^{-1}, \quad \text{for} \quad \Delta = \frac{d}{2}.$$
 (13.2.10)

The differential equation for \mathcal{U}_1 reads:

$$\left(\frac{d}{dr} + 2\Delta - d - 2\right)\mathcal{U}_1 = 1, \qquad (13.2.11)$$

with the solution given by

$$\mathcal{U}_{1} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2\Delta - d - 2} + \dots & \Delta \neq \frac{d}{2} + 1, \quad d > 2\\ A + C_{U1} & \Delta = \frac{d}{2} + 1. \end{cases}$$
(13.2.12)

The part depending on U_1 in our counterterm eq.(12.5.2) reads, for one scalar systems

$$-\frac{1}{2}U_{1}(\nabla\Phi)^{2} = \begin{cases} -\frac{1}{4\Delta - 2d - 4}(\nabla\Phi)^{2} & \Delta \neq \frac{d}{2} + 1\\ -\frac{A + C_{U1}}{2}(\nabla\Phi)^{2} & \Delta = \frac{d}{2} + 1. \end{cases}$$
(13.2.13)

The numerical factors are exactly what we found with the Hamilton-Jacobi method, see eq.(7.3.18).

13.3 Counterterms from metric solution

The differential equation for \mathcal{T}_1 becomes

$$\left(\frac{d}{dr} + d - 2 + \frac{(d - \Delta)(d - 2)}{d - 1}\phi^2 + \mathcal{O}(\phi^3)\right)\mathcal{T}_1 = -1.$$
 (13.3.1)

The solution reads

$$\mathcal{T}_{1} = \begin{cases} -\frac{1}{d-2} + \frac{d-\Delta}{(d-1)(2\Delta - d - 2)}\phi^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\phi^{3}) & \Delta \neq \frac{d}{2} + 1, \quad d > 2\\ -\frac{1}{d-2} + \frac{d-2}{2(d-1)}(r+C)\phi^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\phi^{3}) & \Delta = \frac{d}{2} + 1, \quad d > 2 \end{cases}$$

$$\Delta = \frac{d}{2} + 1, \quad d > 2 \quad (13.3.2)$$

$$-(r+C_{T1}) + \mathcal{O}(\phi^{3}) & d = 2.$$

The part depending on T_1 in our counterterm eq.(12.5.2) reads

$$-\frac{1}{4}T_{1}R = \begin{cases} \left(\frac{1}{4(d-2)} - \frac{d-\Delta}{8(d-1)(\Delta - d/2 - 1)}\Phi^{2}\right)R & \Delta \neq \frac{d}{2} + 1, \quad d > 2\\ \left(\frac{1}{4(d-2)} - \frac{d-2}{8(d-1)}\left(r + C_{T1}\right)\Phi^{2}\right)R & \Delta = \frac{d}{2} + 1, \quad d > 2\\ \frac{r + C_{T1}}{4}R & d = 2. \end{cases}$$
(13.3.3)

This is exactly like in eq.(7.3.18). The last line of eq.(13.2.13) and the last two lines of eq.(13.3.3) depend explicitly on the cut-off and hence give contributions to the linear anomaly

$$\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[2]} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} \left(\nabla \Phi \right)^2 + \frac{d-2}{8(d-1)} \Phi^2 R & \Delta = \frac{d}{2} + 1 \\ -\frac{1}{4} R & d = 2. \end{cases}$$
(13.3.4)

This is exactly what we found with the Hamilton-Jacobi method in eq.(7.3.20).

The differential equation for \mathcal{T}_2 becomes¹

$$\left(\frac{d}{dr} + d - 4\right) \mathcal{T}_2 = -\frac{1}{(d-2)^2}, \quad \text{for} \quad d \neq 2.$$
 (13.3.5)

The solution reads

$$\mathcal{T}_2 = \begin{cases} -\frac{1}{(d-4)(d-2)^2} & d > 4\\ -\frac{r+C_{T2}}{4} & d = 4. \end{cases}$$
(13.3.6)

The part depending on T_2 in our counterterm eq.(12.5.2) reads

$$-\frac{1}{4}T_2\left(R^{ij}R_{ij} - \frac{d-2}{2(d-1)}R^2\right).$$

Thus we see that

$$-\frac{1}{4}T_{2}(\ldots) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{4(d-4)(d-2)^{2}} \left(R^{ij}R_{ij} - \frac{d-2}{2(d-1)}R^{2} \right) & d > 4\\ \frac{r+C_{T2}}{16} \left(R^{ij}R_{ij} - \frac{1}{3}R^{2} \right) & d = 4. \end{cases}$$
(13.3.7)

The second line contributes to the linear anomaly

$$\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{[4]} = \frac{1}{16} \left(\frac{1}{3} R^2 - R^{ij} R_{ij} \right), \quad \text{for} \quad d = 4,$$
 (13.3.8)

which is exactly like eq.(7.3.20). We have shown that our method reproduces all results from the Hamilton-Jacobi method.

¹For d = 2, the counterterm proportional to T_2 goes to zero when the cut-off is taken to infinity.

13.4 Four-dimensional aAdS counterterms

For four dimensions, the counterterms are classified below.²

$$\mathcal{L}_{cov} = \frac{1}{8}R + \frac{r + C_{T2}}{16} \left(R^{ij} R_{ij} - \frac{1}{3} R^2 \right) + \left\{ \begin{aligned} &-\frac{\Phi^2}{2 \left(r + C_{U0} \right)} & \Delta = 2 \\ &+ \left\{ \frac{C_{U0}}{12} \Phi^4 - \frac{r + C_{U1}}{2} \left((\nabla \Phi)^2 + \frac{1}{6} \Phi^2 R \right) & \Delta = 3. \end{aligned} \right.$$
(13.4.1)

Indeed, these are the counterterms for the Coulomb Branch Flow, which is a $\Delta = 2$ vev flow as we will discuss in section 15, and for GPPZ, which is a $\Delta = 3$ operator flow as we will discuss in section 14.³

- 2. In the definition of the supergravity action eq.(2.1) of [4], there is a plus sign in front of the Ricci scalar, whereas we have a minus sign in our definition. Hence, in order to compare with our model, we adapted this minus sign to our conventions in the counterterm above.
- 3. The two radial coordinates ϵ and r are related by $-\log \epsilon = 2r$.

The CBF counterterm is equal to eq.(5.42) in [4]. We again note that the constant term and the term quadratic in Φ of eq.(5.42) in [4] are the first terms of the expansion of $-W(\Phi)$, which we have already included in the definition of the bare action.

²We will see in section 14 that the conformal Ward identity requires $C_{U1} = C_{T1}$, which we have anticipated here.

³The GPPZ counterterm is given by eq.(5.61) in [4], but we note the following differences in conventions

^{1.} We noticed that the constant term and the terms quadratic and quartic in Φ of eq.(5.61) in [4] are the first three terms in the Taylor expansion of $-W(\Phi)$. We have already included $-W(\Phi)$ in the definition of the bare action, so we have left these terms out of the counterterm.

Part III Case Studies

Chapter 14

GPPZ

 \diamond The GPPZ flow is an operator flow. The operator dual to the bulk scalar has conformal dimension $\Delta = 3$. We find the counterterms, calculate the one-point functions and show that the Ward identities are satisfied. \diamond

14.1 Conventional Construction of Counterterms

We will first construct the counterterms by solving the equations of motion for the scalars and the metric, and using the definitions eq.(9.2.1) and eq.(9.2.2). The GPPZ flow has the following superpotential, see eq.(4.1) in [6],

$$W(\Phi) = -\frac{3}{4} \left(\cosh \frac{2\Phi}{\sqrt{3}} + 1 \right) = -\frac{3}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \Phi^2 - \frac{1}{18} \Phi^4 + \mathcal{O}(\Phi^6) \,. \tag{14.1.1}$$

This immediately yields, see eq.(4.1.6)

$$\dot{A} = -\frac{2}{3}\mathcal{W} = 1 + \frac{1}{3}\phi^2 + \mathcal{O}(\phi^4).$$
 (14.1.2)

The superpotential yields the following mass term, see eq.(5.1.10)

$$M = W'' - \frac{(W')^2}{W} = -1 + \mathcal{O}(\Phi^4), \qquad (14.1.3)$$

where the $\mathcal{O}(\Phi^2)$ terms cancelled and the primes denote partial derivatives with respect to the scalar. The background equation reads

$$\partial_r \phi = \mathcal{W}' = -\phi - \frac{2}{9}\phi^3 + \mathcal{O}(\phi^5), \qquad (14.1.4)$$

which has the solution

$$\phi = \phi_{\mathfrak{s}} e^{-r} + \frac{1}{9} \phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^3 e^{-3r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-5r}), \qquad (14.1.5)$$

where $\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}$ is the background value of the source. On the background, the superpotential reads

$$\mathcal{W} = -\frac{3}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\phi^2 + \mathcal{O}(\phi^4) = -\frac{3}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2 e^{-2r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-4r}).$$
(14.1.6)

From this and eq.(14.1.2) we find

$$e^{-2A} = e^{-2r} + \frac{1}{3}\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2 e^{-4r}.$$
 (14.1.7)

14.1.1 Scalars

The scalar equation of motion eq.(5.1.8) becomes

$$\left[(3+\partial_r) \left(1+\partial_r\right) + e^{-2r} \Box \right] \mathfrak{a} = \mathcal{O}\left(e^{-4r}\right).$$
(14.1.8)

The solution reads, see eq.(4.12) in [6]

$$\mathfrak{a}(r,\Box) = \left(e^{-r} + \frac{1}{2}re^{-3r}\Box + C_0\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2e^{-3r} + C_1e^{-3r}\Box\right)\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}} + e^{-3r}\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-5r}), \quad (14.1.9)$$

where C_0 and C_1 are scheme constants.¹Using $\mathbf{a} = \hat{\mathbf{a}}\mathbf{a}_s + \check{\mathbf{a}}\mathbf{a}_r$ from eq.(5.1.13), we find

$$\hat{\mathfrak{a}}(r,\Box) = e^{-r} + \frac{1}{2}re^{-3r}\Box + C_0\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2e^{-3r} + C_1\Box e^{-3r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-5r})$$

$$\check{\mathfrak{a}}(r,\Box) = e^{-3r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-5r}).$$
(14.1.10)

From eq.(5.1.14) and eq.(14.1.7) follows

$$\hat{\mathfrak{a}} = \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_0 + \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_1 e^{-2r} \Box + \mathcal{O}(e^{-5r}), \qquad \check{\mathfrak{a}} = \check{\mathfrak{a}}_0 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-5r}).$$
(14.1.11)

Comparing eq.(14.1.10) and eq.(14.1.11), we read off

$$\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_0 = e^{-r} + C_0 \phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2 e^{-3r}, \qquad \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_1 = \left(\frac{1}{2}r + C_1\right) e^{-r}, \qquad \check{\mathfrak{a}}_0 = e^{-3r}.$$
 (14.1.12)

The zeromode solution eq.(5.1.18) is given by (the term proportional to e^{-3r} is zero)

$$\frac{\mathcal{W}'}{\mathcal{W}} = \frac{2}{3}\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}e^{-r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-5r}). \qquad (14.1.13)$$

Comparing this to the general expression given by eq.(5.1.20) and using eq.(14.1.12),

$$\frac{\mathcal{W}'}{\mathcal{W}} = \hat{c}\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_0 + \check{c}\check{\mathfrak{a}}_0 = \hat{c}e^{-r} + \left(C_0\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2\hat{c} + \check{c}\right)e^{-3r} + \mathcal{O}\left(e^{-5r}\right), \qquad (14.1.14)$$

$$\alpha_2 = C_0 \phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2 + C_1 \square \,.$$

¹The relation between C_0 and C_1 to α_2 from [6] is

we read off

$$\hat{c} = \frac{2}{3}\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}, \qquad \check{c} = -\frac{2}{3}\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^3 C_0.$$
 (14.1.15)

From the first line of eq.(14.1.10) we construct the counterterm "matrix", see eq.(9.2.1),

$$\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{M} - \hat{\mathfrak{a}}^{-1} \partial_r \hat{\mathfrak{a}} = 2C_0 \phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2 e^{-2r} + \left(r - \frac{1}{2} + 2C_1\right) e^{-2r} \Box + \mathcal{O}(e^{-4r}).$$
(14.1.16)

Using

$$\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}_0'' + \mathcal{U}_1 e^{-2A} \Box + \mathcal{O}\left(e^{-4A}\right), \qquad (14.1.17)$$

we read off

$$\mathcal{U}_0'' = 2C_0 \phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2 e^{-2r}, \qquad \mathcal{U}_1 = r - \frac{1}{2} + 2C_1.$$
 (14.1.18)

To find \mathcal{U}_0 from \mathcal{U}''_0 , we need to integrate twice with respect to the scalar. We therefore first need to go from $\mathcal{U}_0(r, \phi_{\mathfrak{s}})''$ to $\mathcal{U}_0(r, \phi)''$, which in this case is trivial,

$$\mathcal{U}_0(r,\phi)'' = 2C_0\phi^2. \tag{14.1.19}$$

Integrating twice yields

$$\mathcal{U}_0 = \frac{C_0}{6}\phi^4. \tag{14.1.20}$$

Any terms weaker than ϕ^4 can be neglected. In our definition of the bare action we already included -W, which in its expansion includes the finite term, see eq.(14.1.1),

$$\frac{1}{18}\Phi^4.$$

Below eq.(4.6) in [6] it is mentioned that the coefficient of this term respects the susy scheme, which is equivalent to the scheme choice $C_0 = 0$.

14.1.2 Metric

The metric equation of motion is given by eq.(5.1.9). Substituting d = 4, eq.(14.1.6) and eq.(14.1.7) yields

$$\left[\partial_r^2 + \left(4 + \frac{4}{3}\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2 e^{-2r}\right)\partial_r + e^{-2r}\Box + \frac{1}{3}\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2 e^{-4r}\Box\right]\mathfrak{e}_j^i = \mathcal{O}\left(e^{-6r}\right).$$
(14.1.21)

The dominant and subdominant solutions read

$$\hat{\mathbf{e}} = 1 + \frac{1}{4}e^{-2r} \Box - \frac{1}{12}\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^{2}re^{-4r} \Box + \frac{1}{16}re^{-4r} \Box^{2} + \qquad \check{\mathbf{e}} = e^{-4r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-6r}) + C_{1\hat{\mathbf{e}}}\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^{2}e^{-4r} \Box + C_{2\hat{\mathbf{e}}}e^{-4r} \Box^{2} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-6r}).$$
(14.1.22)

From the dominant solution we calculate $\mathcal{T} \equiv \hat{\mathbf{e}}^{-1} \partial_r \hat{\mathbf{e}}$, see eq.(9.2.2),

$$\mathcal{T} = -\frac{1}{2}e^{-2r}\Box + \left(\frac{1}{3}r - \frac{1}{12} - 4C_{1\hat{\epsilon}}\right)\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^{2}e^{-4r}\Box + \left(-\frac{1}{4}r + \frac{3}{16} - 4C_{2\hat{\epsilon}}\right)e^{-4r}\Box^{2} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-6r}).$$
(14.1.23)

Now we use eq.(14.1.7) again to return to the variable A,

$$\mathcal{T} = -\frac{1}{2}e^{-2A}\Box + \left(\frac{1}{3}A + \frac{1}{12} - 4C_{1\hat{\epsilon}}\right)\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^{2}e^{-4A}\Box + \left(-\frac{1}{4}A + \frac{3}{16} - 4C_{2\hat{\epsilon}}\right)e^{-4A}\Box^{2} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-6A}), \qquad (14.1.24)$$

from which we read off

$$\mathcal{T}_1 = -\frac{1}{2} + \left(\frac{1}{3}A + \frac{1}{12} - 4C_{1\hat{\mathfrak{e}}}\right)\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2 e^{-2A}, \qquad \mathcal{T}_2 = -\frac{1}{4}A + \frac{3}{16} - 4C_{2\hat{\mathfrak{e}}}.$$
(14.1.25)

It is trivial to go from $\mathcal{T}_1(A, \phi_{\mathfrak{s}})$ to $\mathcal{T}_1(A, \phi)$,

$$\mathcal{T}_1 = -\frac{1}{2} + \left(\frac{1}{3}A + \frac{1}{12} - 4C_{1\hat{\mathfrak{e}}}\right)\phi^2.$$
(14.1.26)

Full counterterms Away from the background, we find

$$U_0 = \frac{C_0}{6} \Phi^4, \qquad U_1 = A - \frac{1}{2} + 2C_1$$
$$T_1 = -\frac{1}{2} + \left(\frac{1}{3}A + \frac{1}{12} - 4C_{1\hat{\mathfrak{e}}}\right) \Phi^2, \qquad T_2 = -\frac{1}{4}A + \frac{3}{16} - 4C_{2\hat{\mathfrak{e}}}. \quad (14.1.27)$$

14.2 Solving differential equations

Instead of first finding the explicit dominant solutions $\hat{\mathfrak{a}}$ and $\hat{\mathfrak{e}}$, which requires solving second order differential equations, we can find the counterterms by solving the first order differential equations for \mathcal{U}_0 , \mathcal{U}_1 , \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 , given by eq.(10.1.8) and eq.(10.2.3).

14.2.1 Scalar

For one-scalar systems, the differential equation for \mathcal{U}_0'' reads, see eq.(10.1.8),

$$\left(\frac{d}{dr} + d\dot{A} + 2\mathcal{M} - \mathcal{U}_0''\right)\mathcal{U}_0'' = \mathcal{O}(\phi^4).$$
(14.2.1)

For GPPZ, this becomes, using d = 4, eq.(14.1.2) and eq.(14.1.3),

$$\left(\frac{d}{dr} + 2 - \mathcal{U}_0''\right)\mathcal{U}_0'' = \mathcal{O}(\phi^4).$$
(14.2.2)

The solution reads

$$\mathcal{U}_0'' = C_{U0}\phi^2 + \mathcal{O}(\phi^4),$$
 (14.2.3)

where C_{U0} is a scheme constant. Integrating \mathcal{U}_0'' twice yields

$$\mathcal{U}_0 = \frac{C_{U0}}{12} \phi^4, \tag{14.2.4}$$

where all weaker terms can be neglected. For one-scalar systems, the differential equation for \mathcal{U}_1 reads, see eq.(10.1.8),

$$\left(\frac{d}{dr} + (d-2)\dot{A} + 2\mathcal{M}\right)\mathcal{U}_1 = 1.$$
(14.2.5)

For GPPZ, this becomes, using d = 4, eq.(14.1.2) and eq.(14.1.3),

$$\frac{d}{dr}\mathcal{U}_1 = 1. \tag{14.2.6}$$

The solution reads

$$\mathcal{U}_1 = A + C_{U1} + \mathcal{O}(\phi^2), \qquad (14.2.7)$$

where C_{U1} is a scheme constant. As we saw in eq.(14.1.16), we do not need the counterterm proportional to U_2 .

14.2.2 Metric

The differential equation for \mathcal{T}_1 is given by eq.(10.2.3). Using d = 4 and eq.(14.1.2) yields

$$\left(\frac{d}{dr} + 2 + \frac{2}{3}\phi^2\right)\mathcal{T}_1 = -1 + \mathcal{O}(\phi^4), \qquad (14.2.8)$$

The solution reads

$$\mathcal{T}_{1} = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} \left(A + C_{T1} \right) \phi^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\phi^{4}), \qquad (14.2.9)$$

where C_{T1} is a scheme constant. The differential equation for \mathcal{T}_2 is given by eq.(10.2.3). For GPPZ, we find, using d = 4 and eq.(14.2.9),

$$\frac{d}{dr}T_2 = -\frac{1}{4} + \mathcal{O}(\phi^2).$$
 (14.2.10)

The solution is then

$$\mathcal{T}_2 = -\frac{1}{4} \left(A + C_{T2} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\phi^2) , \qquad (14.2.11)$$

where C_{T2} is a scheme constant. Away from the background, we find

$$U_0 = \frac{C_{U0}}{12} \Phi^4, \qquad U_1 = A + C_{U1}$$
$$T_1 = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3} \left(A + C_{T1} \right) \Phi^2, \qquad T_2 = -\frac{1}{4} \left(A + C_{T2} \right). \qquad (14.2.12)$$

Comparing to eq.(14.1.27), we see that the scheme constants are related by

$$C_{U0} = 2C_0, \qquad C_{U1} = -\frac{1}{2} + 2C_1,$$

$$C_{T1} = \frac{1}{4} - 12C_{1\hat{\epsilon}}, \qquad C_{T2} = -\frac{3}{4} + 16C_{2\hat{\epsilon}}.$$
(14.2.13)

From the general expression eq.(11.2.4) we can construct the full counterterm action for GPPZ, which is given by the second line of eq.(13.4.1).

14.2.3 One-point functions

In GPPZ, we have

$$Z = 2, \qquad \tilde{Z} = 0, \qquad Y = -4, \qquad \hat{c} = \frac{2}{3}\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}, \qquad a_R = \frac{1}{4}\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2, \qquad (14.2.14)$$

yielding the following one-point functions, see eq.(C.4.1),

$$\partial_i \left\langle T_j^i \right\rangle = 0, \qquad \left\langle T_k^k \right\rangle = -2\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}\varphi_{\mathfrak{r}} - \phi_{\mathfrak{s}} \left(C_{U1} - C_{T1} \right) \Box \,\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}} - \frac{1}{12}\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2 \Box \,h, \qquad (14.2.15)$$

$$\langle \mathcal{T}_{j}^{i} \rangle = -\mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{r}j}^{i}, \qquad \langle \mathcal{O} \rangle = 2\varphi_{\mathfrak{r}} + \frac{1}{6}\phi_{\mathfrak{s}} \left(C_{U1} - C_{T1} \right) \Box h, \qquad \hat{\mathcal{A}} = -\frac{1}{12}\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^{2} \Box h. \quad (14.2.16)$$

We have set $C_{U0} = 0$ since in this scheme the vacuum energy vanishes, e = 0. The conformal Ward identity for GPPZ reads, see eq.(6.2.3),

$$\langle T_k^k \rangle + \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}} \langle \mathcal{O} \rangle = \hat{\mathcal{A}}.$$
 (14.2.17)

Up to linear order we find, using eq.(14.1.15), eq.(C.2.7), $\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}} = \phi_{\mathfrak{s}} + \varphi_{\mathfrak{s}}$ and $\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle_0 = 0$,

$$\left\langle T_k^k \right\rangle + \phi_{\mathfrak{s}} \left\langle \mathcal{O} \right\rangle = -\phi_{\mathfrak{s}} \left(C_{U1} - C_{T1} \right) \Box \varphi_{\mathfrak{s}} - \frac{1}{12} \phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2 \Box h, \qquad (14.2.18)$$

We see that the conformal Ward identity requires $C_{U1} = C_{T1}$, which we anticipated in the second line of eq.(13.4.1). The following one-point functions then simplify

$$\langle T_k^k \rangle = -2\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}\varphi_{\mathfrak{r}} - \frac{1}{12}\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}^2 \Box h, \qquad \langle \mathcal{O} \rangle = 2\varphi_{\mathfrak{r}}.$$
 (14.2.19)

From the first equation in eq.(14.2.15) and the fact that the GPPZ is an operator flow, *i.e.* $\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle_0 = 0$, we see that the translational Ward identity eq.(6.1.2) is satisfied up to linear order.

Chapter 15 Coulomb Branch Flow

 \diamond The Coulomb Branch Flow is a vev flow. The operator dual to the bulk scalar has conformal dimension $\Delta = 2$. We find the counterterms, calculate the one-point functions and show that the Ward identities are satsified. \diamond

15.1 Conventional Construction of Counterterms

We will first construct the counterterms by solving the equations of motion for the scalars and the metric, and using the definitions eq.(9.2.1) and eq.(9.2.2). The superpotential is given by

$$W(\Phi) = -e^{-2\Phi/\sqrt{6}} - \frac{1}{2}e^{4\Phi/\sqrt{6}} = -\frac{3}{2} - \Phi^2 + \mathcal{O}(\Phi^3).$$
 (15.1.1)

This superpotential yields the mass term, see eq.(5.1.10),

$$M = W'' - \frac{(W')^2}{W} = -2 + \mathcal{O}(\Phi^2).$$
(15.1.2)

On the background we have, see eq.(4.1.6)

$$\partial_r \phi = \mathcal{W}' = -2\phi + \mathcal{O}(\phi^2), \qquad (15.1.3)$$

with solution, see eq.(4.22) and eq.(4.23) in [6]

$$\phi = \phi_{\mathfrak{r}} e^{-2r}, \tag{15.1.4}$$

where the constant $\phi_{\mathfrak{r}}$ is the background value of the response function $\Phi_{\mathfrak{r}}(x)$ of the full scalar Φ . From eq.(4.1.6) we find

$$\dot{A} = 1 + \mathcal{O}(\phi^2)$$
. (15.1.5)

The warp function A is related to the radial variable by

$$e^{-2A} = e^{-2r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-6r}).$$
 (15.1.6)

15.1.1 Scalar

The scalar equation of motion eq.(5.1.8) becomes

$$\left[\left(\partial_r + 2\right) \left(\partial_r + 2\right) + e^{-2r} \Box \right] \mathfrak{a} = \mathcal{O}\left(\phi^3\right).$$
(15.1.7)

The solution reads

$$\hat{\mathfrak{a}} = (r + \tilde{\alpha}) e^{-2r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-3r}), \qquad \check{\mathfrak{a}} = e^{-2r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-3r}), \qquad (15.1.8)$$

where $\tilde{\alpha}$ is a scheme constant. From \mathcal{M} and $\hat{\mathfrak{a}}$ we construct the counterterm "matrix", see eq.(9.2.1),

$$\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{M} - \hat{\mathfrak{a}}^{-1} \partial_r \hat{\mathfrak{a}} = \mathcal{U}_0'' + \mathcal{O}(\Box) = -\frac{1}{r} + \frac{\tilde{\alpha}}{r^2} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-3}).$$
(15.1.9)

Integrating \mathcal{U}_0'' twice yields

$$\mathcal{U}_0 = \left(-\frac{1}{2r} + \frac{\tilde{\alpha}}{2r^2} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-3})\right)\phi^2.$$
(15.1.10)

The zero mode solution reads, see eq.(5.1.18) and eq.(5.1.20),

$$\frac{\mathcal{W}'}{\mathcal{W}} = \frac{4}{3}\phi_{\mathfrak{r}}e^{-2r} = \hat{c}\hat{\mathfrak{a}} + \check{c}\check{\mathfrak{a}}, \qquad (15.1.11)$$

from which we read off

$$\hat{c} = 0, \qquad \check{c} = \frac{4}{3}\phi_{\mathfrak{r}}.$$
 (15.1.12)

15.1.2 Metric

The metric equation of motion eq.(5.1.9) becomes

$$\left[\left(\partial_r + 4 \right) \partial_r + e^{-2r} \Box \right] \mathfrak{e}^i_j = \mathcal{O} \left(e^{-6r} \right), \qquad (15.1.13)$$

which has the solutions

$$\hat{\mathbf{e}} = 1 + \frac{1}{4}e^{-2r} \Box + \left(\frac{1}{16}r + C_{\hat{\mathbf{e}}}\right)e^{-4r} \Box^2 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-6r}), \qquad \check{\mathbf{e}} = e^{-4r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-6r}).$$
(15.1.14)

From the dominant solution we find, see eq.(9.2.2),

$$\mathcal{T} \equiv \hat{\mathbf{e}}^{-1} \partial_r \hat{\mathbf{e}} = -\frac{1}{2} e^{-2r} \Box + \left(-\frac{1}{4}r + \frac{3}{16} - 4C_{\hat{\mathbf{e}}} \right) e^{-4r} \Box^2 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-6r}) .$$
(15.1.15)

Using eq.(15.1.6) we can rewrite this in terms of A,

$$\mathcal{T} = -\frac{1}{2}e^{-2A}\Box + \left(-\frac{1}{4}A + \frac{3}{16} - 4C_{\hat{\epsilon}}\right)e^{-4A}\Box^2 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-6A}), \qquad (15.1.16)$$

which allows us to read off

$$\mathcal{T}_1 = -\frac{1}{2}, \qquad \mathcal{T}_2 = -\frac{1}{4}A + \frac{3}{16} - 4C_{\hat{\mathfrak{e}}}.$$
 (15.1.17)

Away from the background, we find

$$U_0 = \left(-\frac{1}{2A} + \frac{\tilde{\alpha}}{2A^2}\right)\Phi^2, \qquad T_1 = -\frac{1}{2}, \qquad T_2 = -\frac{1}{4}A + \frac{3}{16} - 4C_{\hat{\mathfrak{e}}}, \qquad (15.1.18)$$

15.2 Solving differential equations

Alternatively, we can obtain the counterterms by solving the differential equations for \mathcal{U}_0'' , \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 .

15.2.1 Scalars

For one scalar systems, the general differential equation for \mathcal{U}_0'' is given by eq.(10.1.8). For CBF, it becomes, using d = 4, eq.(15.1.5) and eq.(15.1.2),

$$\left(\frac{d}{dr} - \mathcal{U}_0''\right)\mathcal{U}_0'' = \mathcal{O}(\phi^2).$$
(15.2.1)

The solution reads

$$\mathcal{U}_0'' = -\frac{1}{A} + \frac{C_{U0}}{A^2} + \mathcal{O}(A^{-3}), \qquad (15.2.2)$$

where C_{U0} is a scheme constant, related to $\tilde{\alpha}$ by $C_{U0} = \tilde{\alpha}$. Integrating \mathcal{U}_0'' twice yields

$$\mathcal{U}_0 = \left(-\frac{1}{A} + \frac{C_{U0}}{A^2} + \mathcal{O}(A^{-3})\right)\phi^2.$$
 (15.2.3)

15.2.2 Metric

The differential equation for \mathcal{T}_1 is given by eq.(10.2.3). Substituting d = 4 and eq.(15.1.5) yields

$$\left(\frac{d}{dr}+2\right)\mathcal{T}_1 = -1 + \mathcal{O}(\phi)^2.$$
(15.2.4)

The solution reads

$$T_1 = -\frac{1}{2} + \mathcal{O}(\phi),$$
 (15.2.5)

where the integration constant is contained in the term $\mathcal{O}(\phi)$. The differential equation for \mathcal{T}_1 is given by eq.(10.2.3). For CBF it becomes, using eq.(15.2.4)

$$\frac{d}{dr}\mathcal{T}_2 = -\frac{1}{4} + \mathcal{O}(\phi) \,. \tag{15.2.6}$$

The solution reads

$$\mathcal{T}_2 = -\frac{1}{4} \left(A + C_{T2} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\phi) \,, \tag{15.2.7}$$

where C_{T2} is a scheme constant, related to $C_{\hat{\mathfrak{c}}}$ by

$$C_{T2} = -\frac{3}{4} + 16C_{\hat{\mathfrak{e}}}.$$
(15.2.8)

Away from the background, we find

$$U_0 = -\frac{\Phi^2}{2(A + C_{U0})}, \qquad T_1 = -\frac{1}{2}, \qquad T_2 = -\frac{1}{4}(A + C_{T2}), \qquad (15.2.9)$$

which, after substitution in eq.(11.2.4), yields the first line of eq.(13.4.1).

15.2.3 One-point functions

For CBF, we have

$$Z = 1,$$
 $\tilde{Z} = 0,$ $Y = -4,$ $\check{c} = \frac{4}{3}\phi_{\mathfrak{r}},$ $v_i = \phi_{\mathfrak{r}},$ $x_{0i} = \frac{4}{3}\phi_{\mathfrak{r}}.$ (15.2.10)

The vacuum energy is independent of the scheme and vanishes automatically. Then we find to linear order, see eq.(C.4.1),

while the anomaly vanishes $\hat{\mathcal{A}} = 0$ to linear order. To first order in the fluctuations the conformal Ward identity reads, see eq.(6.2.3) and using $\phi_{\mathfrak{s}} = 0$,

$$\langle T_k^k \rangle + 2\varphi_{\mathfrak{s}} \langle \mathcal{O} \rangle = \hat{\mathcal{A}}.$$
 (15.2.12)

Using eq.(15.2.11), we see that the conformal Ward identity is indeed satisfied. From eq.(15.2.11) also follows that the translational Ward identity is satisfied, see eq.(6.1.2). The CBF flow has a scheme independent vev, in contrast to GPPZ.

Chapter 16

Two Scalars in aAdS

 \diamond The $SU(2) \times U(1)$ flow has two scalars, one with $\Delta = 2$ and one with $\Delta = 3$. We find the counterterms and show that when the $\Delta = 3$ scalar is made inert, the counterterms reduce to the counterterms for the Coulomb Branch Flow, such that the operator dual to the remaining scalar has a non-zero vev independently of the scheme. \diamond

16.1 Conventional Construction of Counterterms

We will first construct the counterterms by solving the equations of motion for the scalars and the metric, and using the definitions eq.(9.2.1) and eq.(9.2.2). The superpotential for the $SU(2) \times U(1)$ flow reads

$$W(\Phi) = -\frac{1}{2} \exp\left(-\frac{2\Phi_{\beta}}{\sqrt{6}}\right) \left[1 + \cosh\left(2\Phi_{\chi}\right)\right] + \frac{1}{4} \exp\left(\frac{4\Phi_{\beta}}{\sqrt{6}}\right) \left[\cosh\left(2\Phi_{\chi}\right) - 3\right], \quad (16.1.1)$$

which has the following expansion

$$W = -\frac{3}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\Phi_{\chi}^{2} + \sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\Phi_{\beta}\Phi_{\chi}^{2} - \Phi_{\beta}^{2} - \frac{1}{6}\Phi_{\chi}^{4} + \frac{1}{3}\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\Phi_{\chi}^{4}\Phi_{\beta} + \frac{1}{3}\Phi_{\beta}^{2}\Phi_{\chi}^{2} - \frac{1}{6}\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\Phi_{\beta}^{3} - \frac{1}{45}\Phi_{\chi}^{6} + \dots$$
(16.1.2)

The background equations read, see eq.(4.1.6)

$$\dot{\phi}^{\beta} = \mathcal{W}^{\beta} = -2\phi_{\beta} + \sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_{\chi}^{2} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-4r})$$
$$\dot{\phi}^{\chi} = \mathcal{W}^{\chi} = -\phi_{\chi} + 2\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_{\beta}\phi_{\chi} - \frac{2}{3}\phi_{\chi}^{3} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-5r}), \qquad (16.1.3)$$

with corresponding solutions

$$\phi_{\beta} = \sqrt{\frac{8}{3}} \phi_1^2 r e^{-2r} + \phi_2 e^{-2r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-4r}),$$

$$\phi_{\chi} = \phi_1 e^{-r} - \left(\frac{8}{3} \phi_1^3 r + \sqrt{\frac{8}{3}} \phi_1 \phi_2 + \phi_1^3\right) e^{-3r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-5r}), \qquad (16.1.4)$$

where the constants ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are combinations of the background values of the sources $\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}1}$, $\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}2}$ and responses $\Phi_{\mathfrak{r}1}$, $\Phi_{\mathfrak{r}2}$ of the full scalar solutions, see eq.(4.1.4). The mass matrix eq.(5.1.10) reads

$$\mathcal{M}_{\chi}^{\chi} = -1 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-2r}), \quad \mathcal{M}_{\beta}^{\beta} = -2 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-2r}), \quad \mathcal{M}_{\chi}^{\beta} = 2\phi_1 \sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}e^{-r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-3r}).$$
(16.1.5)

We can switch from r to A using

$$r = A + \frac{1}{6}\phi_1^2 e^{-2A} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-4A}), \qquad e^{-r} = e^{-A} - \frac{1}{6}\phi_1^2 e^{-3A} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-5A}).$$
(16.1.6)

In terms of A the background solutions read

$$\phi_{\beta} = \sqrt{\frac{8}{3}} \phi_1^2 \left(A + C^* \right) e^{-2A} + \mathcal{O}\left(e^{-4A} \right)$$

$$\phi_{\chi} = \phi_1 e^{-A} - \frac{8}{3} \phi_1^3 \left(A + C^* + \frac{7}{16} \right) e^{-3A} + \mathcal{O}\left(e^{-5A} \right), \qquad (16.1.7)$$

where we have defined

$$C^* \equiv \sqrt{\frac{3}{8}} \frac{\phi_2}{\phi_1^2}.$$
 (16.1.8)

16.1.1 Scalars

The equations of motion for the two scalar fluctuations are, see eq.(5.1.8)

$$0 = \left[\left(\partial_r + \mathcal{M}^{\beta}_{\beta} - \frac{2d}{d-1} \mathcal{W} \right) \left(\partial_r - \mathcal{M}^{\beta}_{\beta} \right) - \left(\mathcal{M}^{\beta}_{\chi} \right)^2 + e^{-2A} \Box \right] \mathfrak{a}^{\beta} + \left[\mathcal{M}^{\beta}_{\chi} \left(\partial_r - \mathcal{M}^{\chi}_{\chi} \right) - \left(\partial_r + \mathcal{M}^{\beta}_{\beta} - \frac{2d}{d-1} \mathcal{W} \right) \mathcal{M}^{\beta}_{\chi} \right] \mathfrak{a}^{\chi} \right]$$
$$0 = \left[\mathcal{M}^{\chi}_{\beta} \left(\partial_r - \mathcal{M}^{\beta}_{\beta} \right) - \left(\partial_r + \mathcal{M}^{\chi}_{\chi} - \frac{2d}{d-1} \mathcal{W} \right) \mathcal{M}^{\chi}_{\beta} \right] \mathfrak{a}^{\beta} + \left[\left(\partial_r + \mathcal{M}^{\chi}_{\chi} - \frac{2d}{d-1} \mathcal{W} \right) \left(\partial_r - \mathcal{M}^{\chi}_{\chi} \right) - \left(\mathcal{M}^{\beta}_{\chi} \right)^2 + e^{-2A} \Box \right] \mathfrak{a}^{\chi}. \quad (16.1.9)$$

The dominant solutions read

$$\hat{\mathfrak{a}}^{\chi} = a_{\chi}e^{-r} + a_{\chi}re^{-3r}\left(\frac{1}{2}\Box - 8\phi_{1}^{2}\right) + C_{\chi}e^{-3r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-5r})$$

$$\hat{\mathfrak{a}}^{\beta} = a_{\beta}re^{-2r} - \frac{a_{\beta}}{4}\left(r+1\right)e^{-4r}\Box +$$

$$+ a_{\beta}\left[\frac{4}{3}\phi_{1}^{2}r^{2} + \left(\frac{13}{3}\phi_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_{2}\right)r + \frac{10}{3}\phi_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_{2}\right]e^{-4r} +$$

$$+ C_{\beta}\left[e^{-2r} - \frac{1}{4}e^{-4r}\Box + \frac{4}{3}\phi_{1}^{3}\left(r + \frac{9}{4} + C^{*}\right)e^{-4r}\right] +$$

$$+ \frac{8}{3}\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}a_{\chi}\phi_{1}^{3}\left(r + \frac{9}{8} + C^{*}\right)e^{-4r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-6r}), \qquad (16.1.10)$$

where C_{χ} and C_{β} are scheme constants. The first set of solutions has the basis $a_{\chi} = 1, a_{\beta} = 0$,

$$\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{1}^{\chi} = e^{-r} + re^{-3r} \left(\frac{1}{2} \Box - 8\phi_{1}^{2} \right) + C_{1\chi}\phi_{1}^{2}e^{-3r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-5r})$$

$$\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{1}^{\beta} = C_{1\beta} \left[\phi_{1}e^{-2r} - \frac{1}{4}\phi_{1}e^{-4r} \Box + \frac{4}{3}\phi_{1}^{3} \left(r + \frac{9}{4} + C^{*} \right) e^{-4r} \right] + \frac{8}{3}\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_{1}^{3} \left(r + \frac{9}{8} + C^{*} \right) e^{-4r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-6r}), \qquad (16.1.11)$$

and the second set of dominant solutions has the basis $a_{\chi} = 0, a_{\beta} = 1$,

$$\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{2}^{\chi} = C_{2\chi}\phi_{1}e^{-3r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-5r})$$

$$\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{2}^{\beta} = re^{-2r} - \frac{1}{4}(r+1)e^{-4r}\Box +$$

$$+ \left[\frac{4}{3}\phi_{1}^{2}r^{2} + \left(\frac{13}{3}\phi_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_{2}\right)r + \frac{10}{3}\phi_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_{2}\right]e^{-4r} +$$

$$+ C_{2\beta}\left[e^{-2r} - \frac{1}{4}e^{-4r}\Box + \frac{4}{3}\phi_{1}^{2}\left(r + \frac{9}{4} + C^{*}\right)e^{-4r}\right] + \mathcal{O}(e^{-6r}). (16.1.12)$$

In terms of A, the solutions read

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{1}^{\chi} &= e^{-A} + \left(\frac{1}{2}A + C_{1\chi}^{1}\right) \Box e^{-3A} + \left(-8A - \frac{1}{6} + C_{1\chi}^{0}\right) \phi_{1}^{2} e^{-3A} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-5A}) \\ \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{1}^{\beta} &= C_{1\beta}\phi_{1}e^{-2A} - \frac{1}{4}C_{1\beta}\phi_{1}e^{-4A} \Box + \\ &+ \frac{8}{3}\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}} \left[\left(1 + \frac{3}{16}\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}C_{1\beta}\right) (A + C^{*}) + \frac{9}{8} + \frac{3}{8}\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}C_{1\beta} \right] \phi_{1}^{3}e^{-4A} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-6A}) \\ \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{2}^{\chi} &= C_{2\chi}\phi_{1}e^{-3A} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-5A}) \\ \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{2}^{\beta} &= (A + C_{2\beta})e^{-2A} + \\ &+ \frac{4}{3} \left[(A + C_{2\beta})^{2} + (3 + C^{*} - C_{2\beta}) (A + C_{2\beta}) + C^{*} - C_{2\beta} + \frac{21}{8} \right] \phi_{1}^{2}e^{-4A} + \\ &- \frac{1}{4} (A + C_{2\beta} + 1) e^{-4A} \Box + \mathcal{O}(e^{-6A}) , \end{aligned}$$

$$(16.1.13)$$

where we have defined

$$C_{1\chi} \equiv C_{1\chi}^0 + C_{1\chi}^1 \frac{\Box}{\phi_1^2}.$$
 (16.1.14)

The solutions can be combined into a matrix as follows

$$\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{i}^{a} = \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{1}^{\chi} & \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{2}^{\chi} \\ \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{1}^{\beta} & \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{2}^{\beta} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(16.1.15)

Counterterm Matrix From the mass matrix \mathcal{M}_{ab} given by eq.(16.1.5) and the matrix of dominant solutions $\hat{\mathfrak{a}}_i^a$ whose elements are given by eq.(16.1.13) we construct the matrix \mathcal{U}_{ab} , defined by eq.(9.2.1),

$$\mathcal{U}_{\chi\chi} = \left[-\frac{32}{3} \phi_1^2 \left(A - \frac{1}{2} C^* - \frac{5}{8} - \frac{3}{16} C_{1\chi}^0 \right) + \left(A - \frac{1}{2} + 2C_{1\chi}^1 \right) \Box \right] e^{-2A} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{e^{-2A}}{A}\right) \\
\mathcal{U}_{\beta\beta} = -\frac{1}{A} + \frac{C_{2\beta}}{A^2} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{A^3}\right) \\
\mathcal{U}_{\beta\chi} = 2\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}} \phi_1 e^{-A} + C_{\beta\chi} \frac{e^{-A}}{A} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{e^{-A}}{A^2}\right),$$
(16.1.16)

where we have defined

$$C_{\beta\chi} \equiv C_{2\chi} + \frac{C_{1\beta}}{2}.$$
 (16.1.17)

We read off

$$\mathcal{U}_{0\chi\chi} = -\frac{32}{3}\phi_1^2 \left(A - \frac{1}{2}C^* - \frac{5}{8} - \frac{3}{16}C_{1\chi}^0 \right) e^{-2A}, \qquad \mathcal{U}_{1\chi\chi} = A - \frac{1}{2} + 2C_{1\chi}^1. \quad (16.1.18)$$

From the requirements $\mathcal{U}_{0\chi\chi} = \partial_{\chi}^2 \mathcal{U}_0$, $\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\beta} = \partial_{\beta}^2 \mathcal{U}_0$ and $\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\chi} = \partial_{\chi} \partial_{\beta} \mathcal{U}_0$, we find

$$\mathcal{U}_{0} = \left(-\frac{1}{2A} + \frac{C_{2\beta}}{2A^{2}}\right)\phi_{\beta}^{2} + \left(\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}} + \frac{C_{\beta\chi}}{2A}\right)\phi_{\beta}\phi_{\chi}^{2} + \left(-\frac{4}{3}A + \frac{5}{9} + \frac{C_{1\chi}^{0}}{6} - \frac{1}{12}\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}C_{\beta\chi}\right)\phi_{\chi}^{4}.$$
(16.1.19)

Later we will show how to determine \mathcal{U}_0 systematically.

Zero modes The zero mode solutions are given by

$$\frac{\mathcal{W}^{\beta}}{\mathcal{W}} = \frac{4}{3}\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_1^2 \left(A + C^* - \frac{1}{2}\right)e^{-2A} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-4A})$$
$$\frac{\mathcal{W}^{\chi}}{\mathcal{W}} = \frac{2}{3}\phi_1 e^{-A} - \frac{16}{3}\phi_1^3 \left(A + C^* + \frac{5}{48}\right)e^{-3A} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-5A}), \qquad (16.1.20)$$

from which we read off, see eq.(5.1.20) and eq.(16.1.13),

$$\hat{c}_{1} = \frac{2}{3}\phi_{1}, \qquad \check{c}_{1} = -\frac{4}{9}\phi_{1}^{3} - 2\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_{1}\phi_{2} - \frac{2}{3}\phi_{1}^{3}C_{1\chi}^{0}$$
$$\hat{c}_{2} = \frac{4}{3}\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_{1}^{2}, \qquad \check{c}_{2} = -\frac{2}{3}\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_{1}^{2} + \frac{4}{3}\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_{1}^{2}\left(C^{*} - C_{2\beta}\right). \qquad (16.1.21)$$

16.1.2 Metric

The results for $\hat{\mathfrak{e}}$ and \mathcal{T} are exactly like in GPPZ, with $\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}$ replaced by ϕ_1 .

16.2 Solving differential equations

Now we determine the counterterms using the differential equations given by eq.(10.1.8)

$$0 = \left(\mathcal{D}_r + d\dot{A}\right) \mathcal{U}_{0ab} + \mathcal{M}^c_{(a} \mathcal{U}_{0b)c} - \tilde{\mathcal{U}}^c_{0a} \tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{0bc}$$

$$\bar{G}_{ab} = \left(\mathcal{D}_r + (d-2)\dot{A}\right) \mathcal{U}_{1ab} + \mathcal{M}^c_{(a} \mathcal{U}_{1b)c} - \tilde{\mathcal{U}}^c_{0(a} \tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{1b)c}.$$
 (16.2.1)

The two scalar system is more complicated than the one scalar system since now the differential equations are coupled, *i.e.* they mix the two scalar types β and χ together. For example, the first differential equation actually contains three differential equations, one for each function $\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\beta}, \mathcal{U}_{0\beta\chi}$, and $\mathcal{U}_{0\chi\chi}$. But since there is a sum over c, the differential equation for each function depends on at least one of the other functions as well, so, where do we start?

CHAPTER 16. TWO SCALARS IN AADS

First, we will determine which of the functions is the strongest. Then we start with the differential equation for the strongest function (in this case $\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\beta}$, as we will see), so we can neglect the terms proportional to the weaker functions (in this case $\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\chi}$ and $\mathcal{U}_{0\chi\chi}$). The differential equation for the strongest function thus decouples from the other functions, and can easily be solved. Then we evaluate the differential equation for the next-to-strongest function (in this case $\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\chi}$). It decouples from all weaker functions (in this case only $\mathcal{U}_{0\chi\chi}$) but remains coupled to the strongest function ($\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\beta}$). We already know the solution for the strongest function, so we can simply substitute this solution, leaving us again with a decoupled differential equation that can easily be solved. This procedure can be continued down to the weakest function (in this case $\mathcal{U}_{0\chi\chi}$). Every time we have found the solution for some function, we can check for consistency if it really is of the order we expected. If everything is consistent, then we know the solutions must be correct, since they are unique.

Let us first determine the order up to which we need $\mathcal{U}_{\chi\chi}$, $\mathcal{U}_{\beta\beta}$ and $\mathcal{U}_{\beta\chi}$. In the action, they appear in the combinations

$$e^{4r}\phi_{\chi}\mathcal{U}_{\chi\chi}\phi_{\chi}, \qquad e^{4r}\phi_{\beta}\mathcal{U}_{\beta\chi}\phi_{\chi}, \qquad e^{4r}\phi_{\beta}\mathcal{U}_{\beta\beta}\phi_{\beta}.$$
 (16.2.2)

Substituting the expressions for ϕ_{χ} and ϕ_{β} yields

$$\sim e^{2r} \mathcal{U}_{\chi\chi}, \qquad \sim r e^r \mathcal{U}_{\beta\chi}, \qquad \sim r^2 \mathcal{U}_{\beta\beta}.$$
 (16.2.3)

We see that we need

$$\mathcal{U}_{\chi\chi} \to \mathcal{O}(e^{-2r}), \qquad \mathcal{U}_{\beta\chi} \to \mathcal{O}(r^{-1}e^{-r}), \qquad \mathcal{U}_{\beta\beta} \to \mathcal{O}(r^{-2}).$$
 (16.2.4)

Since we need $\mathcal{U}_{\chi\chi}$ up to order e^{-2r} , we need to find $\mathcal{U}_{1\chi\chi}$ as well

$$\mathcal{U}_{\chi\chi} = \mathcal{U}_{0\chi\chi} + \mathcal{U}_{1\chi\chi}e^{-2A} \Box + \mathcal{O}(\Box^2). \qquad (16.2.5)$$

We thus need to find $\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\beta}, \mathcal{U}_{0\beta\chi}, \mathcal{U}_{0\chi\chi}$, and $\mathcal{U}_{1\chi\chi}$. From eq.(16.2.4) we see that the strongest function is $\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\beta}$, so let us start by substituting $a = b = \beta$ in the differential equation for \mathcal{U}_{0ab} , given by the first line of eq.(16.2.1)

$$\frac{d}{dr}\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\beta} = \left(\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\beta}\right)^2 + \mathcal{O}\left(e^{-2r}\right).$$
(16.2.6)

The solution reads

$$\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\beta} = -\frac{1}{r} + \frac{C_{U0\beta\beta}}{r^2} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^3}\right).$$
 (16.2.7)

The next-to-strongest function is $\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\chi}$, whose differential equation can be found by substituting $a = \beta, b = \chi$ in eq.(16.2.1). This time we may neglect terms with $\mathcal{U}_{0\chi\chi}$ because they are weaker than $\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\chi}$. The differential equation is still coupled to $\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\beta}$, but we can substitute the solution given by eq.(16.2.7), yielding a decoupled equation for $\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\chi}$,

$$0 = \left(\frac{d}{dr} + 1\right) \mathcal{U}_{0\beta\chi} - \frac{1}{r} \left(2\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_1 e^{-r} - \mathcal{U}_{0\beta\chi}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{e^{-r}}{r^2}\right).$$
(16.2.8)

The solution reads

$$\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\chi} = 2\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_1 e^{-r} + C_{U0\beta\chi}\frac{e^{-r}}{r} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{e^{-r}}{r^2}\right), \qquad (16.2.9)$$

Finally, substituting $a = b = \chi$ and the solution for $\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\chi}$ in eq.(16.2.1) yields

$$\left(\frac{d}{dr}+2\right)\mathcal{U}_{0\chi\chi} = -\frac{32}{3}\phi_1^2 e^{-2r}.$$
(16.2.10)

The solution reads

$$\mathcal{U}_{0\chi\chi} = -\frac{32}{3}\phi_1^2 \left(r + C_{U0\chi\chi}\right) e^{-2r}.$$
 (16.2.11)

Substituting $a = b = \chi$ in the differential equation for \mathcal{U}_{1ab} yields, up to the required order

$$\frac{d}{dr}\mathcal{U}_{1\chi\chi} = 1, \tag{16.2.12}$$

which has the solution

$$\mathcal{U}_{1\chi\chi} = r + C_{U1\chi\chi}.\tag{16.2.13}$$

Determining \mathcal{T} is equivalent to the GPPZ case. Let us summarize our results

$$\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\beta} = -\frac{1}{r + C_{U0\beta\beta}} \qquad \qquad \mathcal{U}_{1\chi\chi} = r + C_{U1\chi\chi}$$
$$\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\chi} = 2\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_1 e^{-r} + C_{U0\beta\chi}\frac{e^{-r}}{r} \qquad \qquad \mathcal{T}_1 = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{3}\phi_1^2 \left(r + C_{T1}\right)e^{-2r} \qquad (16.2.14)$$
$$\mathcal{U}_{0\chi\chi} = -\frac{32}{3}\phi_1^2 \left(r + C_{U0\chi\chi}\right)e^{-2r} \qquad \qquad \mathcal{T}_2 = -\frac{1}{4} \left(r + C_{T2}\right).$$

The solution for the matrix \mathcal{U}_{0ab} is consistent with our previous estimate for the strength of its components $\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\beta}$, $\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\chi}$ and $\mathcal{U}_{0\chi\chi}$. The relations between the constants are

$$C_{U0\chi\chi} = -\frac{1}{2}\Delta - \frac{5}{8} - \frac{3}{16}\tilde{C}^{0}_{1\chi}, \quad C_{U0\beta\beta} = C_{2\beta}, \quad C_{U0\beta\chi} = C_{\beta\chi}$$
$$C_{U1\chi\chi} = 2\tilde{C}^{1}_{1\chi} - \frac{1}{2}, \quad C_{T1} = \frac{1}{4} - 12C_{1\hat{\imath}}, \quad C_{T2} = -\frac{3}{4} + 16C_{2\hat{\imath}}. \quad (16.2.15)$$

16.3 Preferred Scheme

We see from eq.(16.2.14) that all scheme constants come from the ambiguity in choosing the cut-off and can therefore be written as r + constant, with the exception of $C_{U0\beta\chi}$. We may therefore argue that $C_{U0\beta\chi} = 0$ in a natural scheme.¹ Then we find

$$\mathcal{U}_{0} = -\frac{\phi_{\beta}^{2}}{2\left(r + C_{U0\beta\beta}\right)} + \sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_{\chi}^{2}\phi_{\beta} - \frac{4}{3}\left(r + C_{U0\chi\chi}\right)\phi_{\chi}^{4}.$$
 (16.3.1)

¹In GPPZ, we have the finite term $C\Phi^4$. The scheme constant C can not be written as r + C, so it may seem unnatural. However, we can argue that the condition of zero vacuum energy is a more important condition for a natural scheme, which sets the scheme constant to C = 1/18. This term is already included in the counterterm -W, so we find $C_{U0} = 0$ in GPPZ.

CHAPTER 16. TWO SCALARS IN AADS

We may even argue that all scheme constants at a certain order in \Box have to be equal to each other when written as r + constant. This means that all counterterms of the same order in \Box live at the same cut-off boundary. Then we find $C_{U0\chi\chi} = C_{U0\beta\beta}$ and $C_{U1\chi\chi} = C_{T1}$. Furthermore, we may argue that the vacuum energy vanishes in a natural scheme, e = 0. These criteria of naturalness, namely e = 0, $C_{U0\beta\chi} = 0$ and $C_{U0\chi\chi} = C_{U0\beta\beta}$, lead to $C_{U0\chi\chi} = C_{U0\beta\beta} = C^*$. Then both vevs v_i defined by eq.(12.2.7) vanish automatically. Furthermore, it allows us to complete the square,

$$\mathcal{U}_0 = -\frac{4}{3} \left(A + C^* \right) \left(\phi_{\chi}^2 - \sqrt{\frac{3}{8}} \frac{\phi_{\beta}}{(A + C^*)} \right)^2.$$
(16.3.2)

We see that our criteria of naturalness are sufficient to remove all scheme dependence from the correlators. We also note that we would have gotten the same result by requiring all scheme constants, at all orders in \Box , to be equal to C^* , implying that all counterterms live at the same cut-off boundary. The covariant counterterm then reads

$$\mathcal{L}_{cov} = \frac{1}{8}R + (A + C^*) \left[-\frac{4}{3} \left(\Phi_{\chi}^2 - \sqrt{\frac{3}{8}} \frac{\Phi_{\beta}}{(A + C^*)} \right)^2 + \frac{1}{2} (\nabla \Phi_{\chi})^2 - \frac{1}{12} \Phi_{\chi}^2 R + \frac{1}{16} \left(R^{ij} R_{ij} - \frac{1}{3} R^2 \right) \right].$$
(16.3.3)

16.4 Spontaneous Vev

If we make the scalar χ inert by setting $\phi_1 = 0$, then e = 0 automatically, and the scheme constants remain unfixed. Using eq.(12.2.7), we see a spontaneous vev appear $v_2 = \phi_2$, as expected because $\Delta_{\beta} = 2$. All the terms proportional to Φ_{χ} disappear from the counterterm, leaving exactly the counterterm for the Coulomb Branch Flow given by the first line of eq.(13.4.1).² It is intriguing that the mixed counterterm comes from a complete square between the individual counterterms

$$\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\Phi_{\chi}^{2}\Phi_{\beta}$$

Furthermore, this is exactly the same term as the mixed term in the superpotential W.

²On the other hand, removing Φ_{β} from the counterterm does not give the counterterm for GPPZ.

16.5 Inversion in the two-scalar system

We will now show how to systematically obtain $\mathcal{U}_0(r, \phi_{\chi}, \phi_{\beta})$ from $\mathcal{U}_0(r, \phi_1, \phi_2)$. We repeat eq.(16.1.4),

$$\phi_{\beta} = \sqrt{\frac{8}{3}} \phi_1^2 r e^{-2r} + \phi_2 e^{-2r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-4r}),$$

$$\phi_{\chi} = \phi_1 e^{-r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-3r}).$$
(16.5.1)

The inverse relations are

$$\phi_1 = e^r \phi_{\chi} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-2r})$$

$$\phi_2 = e^{2r} \phi_{\beta} - \sqrt{\frac{8}{3}} r e^{2r} \phi_{\chi}^2 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-2r}).$$
(16.5.2)

We repeat our result for the elements of $\mathcal{U}_{0ab}(r, \phi_1, \phi_2)$,

$$\mathcal{U}_{0\chi\chi} = -\frac{32}{3}r\phi_1^2 e^{-2r} + \text{const}(\phi_1, \phi_2) e^{-2r}$$

$$\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\chi} = 2\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_1 e^{-r}$$

$$\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\beta} = -\frac{1}{r} + \frac{\text{const}(\phi_1, \phi_2)}{r^2},$$
 (16.5.3)

where "const" stands for any combination of its arguments, reflecting the scheme dependence. Using the inverse relations eq.(16.5.2), we find the desired $\mathcal{U}_{0ab}(r, \phi_{\chi}, \phi_{\beta})$,

$$\mathcal{U}_{0\chi\chi} = -\frac{32}{3}r\phi_{\chi}^{2} + \operatorname{const}(r,\phi_{\chi},\phi_{\beta})e^{-2r}$$
$$\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\chi} = 2\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_{\chi}$$
$$\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\beta} = -\frac{1}{r} + \frac{\operatorname{const}(r,\phi_{\chi},\phi_{\beta})}{r^{2}}, \qquad (16.5.4)$$

where "const" stands for any combination of its arguments such that they combine to a constant. Without any loss of generality we may write

$$\mathcal{U}_0 = f_1(r, \phi_{\chi}) + f_2(r, \phi_{\chi}, \phi_{\beta}) + f_3(\phi_{\beta}).$$
(16.5.5)

It is easiest to start with $\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\chi}$, because it involves only f_2

$$\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\chi} = \partial_{\beta}\partial_{\chi}f_2(r, \phi_{\chi}, \phi_{\beta}) = 2\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_{\chi}.$$
(16.5.6)

This can easily be integrated

$$\mathcal{U}_0 = f_1(r, \phi_\chi) + \sqrt{\frac{8}{3}} \phi_\beta \phi_\chi^2 + f_3(r, \phi_\beta).$$
(16.5.7)

Now we find

$$\mathcal{U}_{0\beta\beta} = \partial_{\beta}^2 f_3(\phi_{\beta}) = -\frac{1}{r} + \operatorname{const}(r, \phi_{\chi}, \phi_{\beta})r^{-2}.$$
 (16.5.8)

The constant may be a function of ϕ_{β} , and hence when we integrate we find

$$\mathcal{U}_{0} = f_{1}(r,\phi_{\chi}) + \sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_{\beta}\phi_{\chi}^{2} - \frac{\phi_{\beta}^{2}}{2r} + \frac{1}{r^{2}}\int d^{2}\phi_{\beta}\operatorname{const}(r,\phi_{\chi},\phi_{\beta}).$$
(16.5.9)

However, we know that the last term is a scheme dependent term, so we can write

$$\mathcal{U}_0 = f_1(r, \phi_{\chi}) + \sqrt{\frac{8}{3}} \phi_{\beta} \phi_{\chi}^2 - \frac{\phi_{\beta}^2}{2r} + \text{finite.}$$
(16.5.10)

From this we find

$$\mathcal{U}_{0\chi\chi} = \partial_{\chi}^2 f_1(r, \phi_{\chi}) + 2\sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_{\beta} = -\frac{32}{3}r\phi_{\chi}^2 + \operatorname{const}(r, \phi_{\chi}, \phi_{\beta})e^{-2r}.$$
 (16.5.11)

Our goal is to find f_1

$$\partial_{\chi}^{2} f_{1}(r, \phi_{\chi}) = -\frac{32}{3} r \phi_{\chi}^{2} - 2 \sqrt{\frac{8}{3}} \phi_{\beta} + \operatorname{const}(r, \phi_{\chi}, \phi_{\beta}) e^{-2r}$$

$$= -\frac{32}{3} r \phi_{1}^{2} e^{-2r} - \frac{16}{3} r \phi_{1}^{2} e^{-2r} - 2 \sqrt{\frac{8}{3}} \phi_{2} e^{-2r} + \operatorname{const}(\phi_{1}, \phi_{2}) e^{-2r}$$

$$= -16r \phi_{1}^{2} e^{-2r} + \operatorname{const}(\phi_{1}, \phi_{2}) e^{-2r}$$

$$= -16r \phi_{\chi}^{2} + \operatorname{const}(r, \phi_{\chi}, \phi_{\beta}) e^{-2r}.$$
(16.5.12)

We can integrate this to find

$$f_1(r,\phi_{\chi}) = -\frac{4}{3}r\phi_{\chi}^4 + \int d^2\phi_{\chi} \text{const}(r,\phi_{\chi},\phi_{\beta})e^{-2r}.$$
 (16.5.13)

The last term is scheme dependent so it must be finite

$$f_1(r, \phi_\chi) = -\frac{4}{3}r\phi_\chi^4 + \text{finite.}$$
 (16.5.14)

Then we find

$$\mathcal{U}_0 = -\frac{4}{3}r\phi_{\chi}^4 + \sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\phi_{\beta}\phi_{\chi}^2 - \frac{\phi_{\beta}^2}{2r} + \text{finite.}$$
(16.5.15)

Now we can go unambiguously (up to scheme dependence) from the background to the full fields,

$$U_0 = -\frac{4}{3}r\Phi_{\chi}^4 + \sqrt{\frac{8}{3}}\Phi_{\beta}\Phi_{\chi}^2 - \frac{\Phi_{\beta}^2}{2r} + \text{finite.}$$
(16.5.16)

Chapter 17 Non-aAdS: Klebanov-Strassler

 \diamond Covariant Holographic Renormalization is constructed to be applicable to both aAdS and non-aAdS spacetimes. The previous case studies were all in aAdS backgrounds. In this section we perform a first calculation in a non-aAdS background, namely the Klebanov-Strassler background. More details can be found in [2] and [3]. \diamond

17.1 Background

The KS theory is four-dimensional, has seven scalars fields $(x, p, y, \Phi, b, h_1, h_2)$ and the superpotential is given by, see eq.(5.2) in [6]

$$W = -\frac{1}{2} \left(e^{-2p-2x} + e^{4p} \cosh y \right) + \frac{1}{4} e^{4p-2x} \left[Q + 2P \left(bh_2 + h_1 \right) \right], \qquad (17.1.1)$$

The superpotential does not have a fixed point, so the metric solution will be non-aAdS. The sigma-model metric is given by eq.(5.1) in [6], but we will not need it here. We use the variable τ and in favor of r,

$$\partial_r = e^{4p} \partial_\tau. \tag{17.1.2}$$

We also introduce

$$h(\tau) \equiv \int_{\tau}^{\infty} d\theta \frac{\theta \coth \theta - 1}{\sinh^2 \theta} \left[2\sinh(2\theta) - 4\theta \right]^{1/3}.$$
 (17.1.3)

In the limit of large τ , we find

$$h(\tau) = 3\left(\tau - \frac{1}{4}\right)e^{-4\tau/3} + \mathcal{O}\left(e^{-10\tau/3}\right).$$
(17.1.4)

The background solutions are given by

$$\Phi = \Phi_{0}$$

$$e^{y} = \tanh(\tau/2)$$

$$b = -\frac{\tau}{\sinh \tau}$$

$$h_{1} = -\frac{Q}{2P} + Pe^{\Phi_{0}} \coth \tau (\tau \coth \tau - 1)$$

$$h_{2} = Pe^{\Phi_{0}} (\tau \coth \tau - 1) \sinh^{-1} \tau$$

$$\frac{2}{3}e^{6p+2x} = \coth \tau - \frac{\tau}{\sinh^{2} \tau}$$

$$e^{2x/3-4p} = 3^{-2/3}2P^{2}e^{\Phi_{0}}h(\tau) \sinh^{4/3} \tau.$$
(17.1.5)

The warp function is given by

$$e^{-2A} \sim e^{4p} \left(e^{-2x} \sinh \tau \right)^{2/3} h(\tau) \sim \left(\tau - \frac{1}{4} \right)^{-1/3} e^{-2\tau/3} + \mathcal{O}\left(e^{-4\tau/3} \right),$$
 (17.1.6)

where the proportionality factor sets the momentum scale. From this we find, see eq.(4.1.6),

$$\dot{A} = -\frac{3}{2}\mathcal{W} = \frac{1}{6}P^{-4/3}e^{-2\Phi_0/3}\left(\tau - \frac{1}{4}\right)^{-2/3}\left[2 + \left(\tau - \frac{1}{4}\right)^{-1}\right],$$
(17.1.7)

showing that $\mathcal{W} \to 0$ at the boundary so there is no aAdS solution, see subsection 7.1.

17.2 Cancellation of Divergences

In section 12, we showed that under some mild assumptions

$$e^{(d-2)A}\left(\frac{\mathcal{W}^a\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}^2}\mathcal{U}_{1ab} + \frac{1}{\mathcal{W}} - \frac{2(d-2)}{d-1}\mathcal{T}_1\right) = \text{finite},\qquad(17.2.1)$$

even though neither of the terms is finite by itself, in general. We verified this result in all cases we considered, including the Klebanov Strassler (KS) theory. We now roughly sketch how we performed this calculation, without focussing on the details.

The vector $\mathcal{W}^a/\mathcal{W}$ is given by eq.(5.26) in [6], and the matrix \mathcal{U}_{ab} is given by eq.(5.20) and eq.(5.21) in the same reference, from which we can read off \mathcal{U}_{1ab} using eq.(9.2.3).¹ This allowed us to calculate the first term in eq.(17.2.1). The second term follows from eq.(17.1.7). The last term in eq.(17.2.1) follows from the differential equation for \mathcal{T}_1 given by eq.(10.2.3), which reads, using d = 4 and eq.(17.1.7),

$$-P^{4/3}e^{2\Phi_0/3}\left(\tau - \frac{1}{4}\right)^{2/3} = \left(\partial_\tau + \frac{2}{3} + \frac{1}{3\tau - 3/4}\right)\mathcal{T}_1, \quad (17.2.2)$$

 $^{{}^{1}}$ In [6] only the leading terms are given, but we also need the subleading terms in this calculation. This section only aims to sketch the steps of the calculation.

where the left-hand side is just $-e^{-4p}$. The solution reads

$$\mathcal{T}_{1} = -\frac{3}{2}P^{4/3}e^{2\Phi_{0}/3}\left[\left(\tau - \frac{1}{4}\right)^{2/3} - \frac{3}{2}\left(\tau - \frac{1}{4}\right)^{-1/3}\right] + C_{T1}\left(\tau - \frac{1}{4}\right)^{-1/3}e^{-2\tau/3},$$
(17.2.3)

where C_{T1} is a scheme constant. We found that eq.(17.2.1) is indeed finite in KS. This is an important result because neither one of the three terms in eq.(17.2.1) is finite by itself. The counterterms proportional to U_{1ab} and T_1 apparently conspire to kill the divergences at order \Box coming externally from from the bare action, while the remaining divergences within the counterterm cancel internally.

Part IV

Summary, Outlook and Appendix

Chapter 18

Summary

 \diamond By construction, Covariant Holographic Renormalization (CHR) can be applied to both aAdS and non-aAdS spacetimes. This is progress, because alternative holographic renormalization programs work only in aAdS. The advantage of aAdS is that there exists a fixed point around which one can make a Taylor expansion, which simplifies the procedure considerably. In non-aAdS there is no fixed point. Instead, CHR is based on an expansion in small fluctuations around the background solutions for the scalars and the metric. To calculate *n*-point functions, we need to keep terms to *n*-th order in the fluctuations. In this thesis we considered only one- and two-point functions, and therefore kept terms up to quadratic order in the fluctuations. \diamond

18.1 Covariant Holographic Renormalization

Our approach was the following. First, we wrote down the divergences of the bare, onshell action up to second order in the gauge invariant fluctuations, given by eq.(8.4.2),

$$S_{\text{bare}} = \frac{e^{dA}}{2} \int d^d x \left(\mathfrak{a}^a \left(\bar{G}_{ab} \mathcal{D}_r - \mathcal{M}_{ab} \right) \mathfrak{a}^b + \frac{1}{8} \dot{\mathfrak{e}}^j_j \mathfrak{e}^j_i - \frac{e^{-2A}}{16\mathcal{W}} h \Box h \right) + \mathcal{O}(f^3) \,. \quad (18.1.1)$$

From previous work on holographic renormalization in non-aAdS, we know the explicit expression for the matrix \mathcal{U}_{ab} , given by eq.(9.2.1), that appears in the counterterm between the scalar fluctuations as $\mathfrak{a}^{a}\mathcal{U}_{ab}\mathfrak{a}^{b}$. Since the metric behaves as a massless scalar, we also know the equivalent expression for \mathcal{T} , given by eq.(9.2.2), that appears in the counterterm between the metric fluctuations as $\mathfrak{e}^{i}_{j}\mathcal{T}\mathfrak{e}^{j}_{i}$. It was therefore straightforward to write down the required counterterms, given by eq.(9.2.4),

$$S_{\rm cnt} = \frac{e^{dA}}{2} \int d^d x \left(\mathfrak{a}^a \mathcal{U}_{ab} \mathfrak{a}^b - \frac{1}{8} \mathfrak{e}^i_j \mathcal{T} \mathfrak{e}^j_i + \frac{e^{-2A}}{16\mathcal{W}} h \Box h \right) + \mathcal{O}(f^3) \,. \tag{18.1.2}$$

We showed how this non-covariant required piece arises from a boundary covariant counterterm. We therefore wrote down the most simple and general structure of the covariant counterterm action which is known to reproduce the correct results in aAdS,

$$S_{\rm cov} = \int d^d x \sqrt{\gamma} \mathcal{L}_{\rm cov}, \qquad (18.1.3)$$

where \mathcal{L}_{cov} is given by eq.(11.2.4),

$$\mathcal{L}_{cov} = U_0 - \frac{1}{2} U_{1ab} \nabla^n \Phi^a \nabla_n \Phi^b + \frac{1}{2} U_{2ab} \nabla^2 \Phi^a \nabla^2 \Phi^b + \frac{1}{4} T_1 R - \frac{1}{4} T_2 R^{ij} R_{ij} + B R^2 + C_a \nabla^i \Phi^a \nabla_i R + \mathcal{O}(\Box^3). \quad (18.1.4)$$

This way we reduced the problem to finding a set of unknown counterterm functions $U_0, U_{1ab}, U_{2ab}, T_1, T_2, B, C_a$. Boundary covariance allows each of these functions to depend both on the scalars Φ^a and the explicit cut-off A.

Since we focussed our attention on calculating one- and two-point functions, we expanded the action (bare action plus counterterm) in small fluctuations around the background, keeping terms up to quadratic order in the (gauge invariant) fluctuations. This reduced the problem to finding only the background solutions \mathcal{U}_0 , \mathcal{U}_{1ab} , \mathcal{U}_{2ab} , \mathcal{T}_1 , \mathcal{T}_2 , \mathcal{B} , \mathcal{C}_a , which are functions of the background scalar modes ϕ^a and the explicit cutoff A. In turn, $\phi^a(r)$ and A(r) are functions of the cut-off A only, so the background solutions $\mathcal{U}_0(A)$, $\mathcal{U}_{1ab}(A)$, ... are also functions of A only.

After the expansion, the following terms appeared in the counterterm

$$\mathfrak{a}^{a} \left[\mathcal{U}_{0ab} + \mathcal{U}_{1ab}(\phi, A) e^{-2A} \Box + \mathcal{U}_{2ab}(\phi, A) e^{-4A} \Box^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\Box^{3}) \right] \mathfrak{a}^{b},$$

$$\mathfrak{e}^{i}_{j} \left[\mathcal{T}_{1} e^{-2A} \Box + \mathcal{T}_{2} e^{-4A} \Box^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\Box^{3}) \right] \mathfrak{e}^{j}_{i}.$$
(18.1.5)

The terms within brackets are precisely the expansions in \Box of the counterterm matrices \mathcal{U}_{ab} and \mathcal{T} respectively, given by eq.(9.2.3). Thus, the requirement that we find the terms $\mathfrak{a}^{a}\mathcal{U}_{ab}\mathfrak{a}^{b}\mathfrak{a}^{b}$ and $\mathfrak{e}_{j}^{i}\mathcal{T}\mathfrak{e}_{i}^{j}$ in the counterterm fixed the functions $\mathcal{U}_{0}, \mathcal{U}_{1ab}, \mathcal{U}_{2ab}, \mathcal{T}_{1}, \mathcal{T}_{2}$. Thus we have shown how the required non-covariant piece S_{cnt} arises from a boundary covariant counterterm S_{cov} .

The next task was to show that our theory does not introduce any new divergences. We therefore wrote

$$S_{\rm cov} = S_{\rm cnt} + S_{\rm fin},\tag{18.1.6}$$

and showed in section 12 that all terms in $S_{\rm fin}$ are finite under some reasonable assumptions.

We ended up with an action that

- 1. is boundary covariant (satisfies the translational Ward identity),
- 2. includes the zeroth and first order terms (vacuum energy e and vevs),
- 3. includes the unphysical fields ϵ^i , H, h (no gauge has been fixed),
- 4. does not introduce any new divergences,
- 5. reproduces the correct counterterms $\mathfrak{a}^{a}\mathcal{U}_{ab}\mathfrak{a}^{b}$ and $\mathfrak{e}_{i}^{i}\mathcal{T}\mathfrak{e}_{i}^{j}$,
- 6. reproduces known results in aAdS and can be applied to non-aAdS as well,
- 7. is the generating functional of connected correlation functions for both conformal and non-conformal QFT's.

From the renormalized action that is expanded up to second order in the fluctuations eq.(11.2.13) we calculated renormalized one-point functions given by eq.(C.4.1) by functional differentiation of the renormalized action with respect to the sources. We kept the one-point functions up to linear order in the sources, so we can immediately obtain the two-point functions from them by functionally differentiating a second time. A finite renormalized action guarantees finite one- and two-point functions.
Chapter 19

Outlook

 \diamond We conclude by indicating the direction of our future research. \diamond

19.1 Leaving the background

The counterterm matrices \mathcal{U}_{ab} and \mathcal{T} are determined on the background. We have shown that the counterterms lead to finite correlation functions, but in order to explicitly calculate the correlators we need to know the counterterm functions away from the background. For example, the vevs v_{0i} are given by, see eq.(12.2.7),

$$v_{0i} = -e^{dA} \mathcal{U}_{0a} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}^a_{0i}, \qquad (19.1.1)$$

where $\mathcal{U}_{0a} \equiv \mathcal{D}_a \mathcal{U}_0(A, \phi)$. We know the matrix $\mathcal{U}_{0ab}(A, \phi)$ as a function of A, but we do not know which part of the dependence on A is implicit through the background values of the scalars, and which part is explicit. This prevents us from integrating the matrix \mathcal{U}_{0ab} to obtain \mathcal{U}_{0a} . Hence, we must find $U_{0ab}(A, \Phi)$ from $\mathcal{U}_{0ab}(A, \phi)$. We have shown how to do this systematically for a two-scalar system in aAdS in subsection 16.5, but we do not know if we can apply the same procedure to non-aAdS. We are very interested in developping a systematic method to leave the background and explicitly determine the full counterterms in non-aAdS.

19.2 Recombination

Another interesting question that we would like to answer in future research comes from the following observation. To zeroth order in \Box , we have, see eq.(C.4.1),

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle = v_{0i} + Z_{0ij} \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}j} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{Z}_{0ij} \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}j} - \frac{1}{4} x_{i0} h + \mathcal{O}(\Box) .$$
 (19.2.1)

Using the expression for x_{i0} from eq.(12.2.2) and the expressions for $\varphi_{\mathfrak{s}j}$ and $\varphi_{\mathfrak{r}j}$ from eq.(C.2.7), we find

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle = v_{0i} + Z_{0ij} \varphi_{\mathfrak{r}j} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{Z}_{0ij} \varphi_{\mathfrak{s}j} + \mathcal{O}(\Box) \,. \tag{19.2.2}$$

Possibly this recombination of $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}$, $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}i}$ and h into $\varphi_{\mathfrak{s}i}$ and $\varphi_{\mathfrak{r}i}$ happens at higher order in \Box as well,

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle \stackrel{?}{=} v_{0i} + Z_{ij} \varphi_{\mathfrak{r}j} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{Z}_{ij} \varphi_{\mathfrak{s}j}.$$
 (19.2.3)

We would like to check this at linear order in \Box . At quadratic order in \Box , we can always choose the counterterms such that this happens (which then automatically leads to finite correlation functions). This choice may be consistent with the recombination of the components \mathcal{U}_{0ab} , \mathcal{U}_{1ab} , and \mathcal{U}_{2ab} into the full matrix \mathcal{U}_{ab} , and of \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_2 into the full function \mathcal{T} , which happens when we choose the counterterms according to eq.(11.2.10). If this is true, then we consider the choice eq.(11.2.10) to be a more natural scheme than the choice eq.(12.5.1). The latter choice leads to vanishing contributions proportional to $\mathfrak{a}^a \Box^2 h$ and $h \Box^2 h$, such that $\langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle$ has no part proportional to $\Box^2 h$ and no recombination is possible with $Z_{2ij} \Box^2 \mathfrak{a}_{rj}$ and $\tilde{Z}_{2ij} \Box^2 \mathfrak{a}_{sj}$.

It might seem natural that $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}$, $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}i}$ recombine with h into $\varphi_{\mathfrak{s}i}$ and $\varphi_{\mathfrak{r}i}$ because we are working with covariant counterterms, in which \mathfrak{a}^a always comes from φ^a . However, when we put the action on-shell, we use the equations of motions for \mathfrak{b} and \mathfrak{c} to eliminate them in favor of \mathfrak{a}^a , see eq.(5.1.7), such that \mathfrak{a}^a stems from \mathfrak{b} and \mathfrak{c} instead of from φ^a . We therefore can not expect that in the correlators, which come from the on-shell action, $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}$, $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}i}$ always recombine with h into $\varphi_{\mathfrak{s}i}$ and $\varphi_{\mathfrak{r}i}$. Still, looking at eq.(C.4.1), this does seem to happen.

19.3 Translational Ward identity

The translational Ward identity should always be satisfied, because we always require our theories to have translational invariance. Eq.(6.1.2) gives the translational Ward identity,

$$\nabla_i \left\langle T_j^i \right\rangle = -\left\langle \mathcal{O}_i \right\rangle \nabla_j \Phi_{\mathfrak{s}i}. \tag{19.3.1}$$

Up to first order in the fluctuations, this reads¹

$$\partial_i \left\langle T_j^i \right\rangle = -v_{0i} \partial_j \varphi_{\mathfrak{s}i} + \mathcal{O}(f^2) , \qquad (19.3.2)$$

where we have used $\langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle_0 = v_{0i}$ from eq.(C.4.1). On the other hand, we find from eq.(C.4.1)

$$\partial_i \left\langle T_j^i \right\rangle = e^{dA} \mathcal{U}_{0a} \partial_j \varphi^a + \mathcal{O}(f^2) \,. \tag{19.3.3}$$

Using eq.(5.1.6), we find

$$e^{dA}\mathcal{U}_{0a}\varphi^{a} = e^{dA}\mathcal{U}_{0a}\hat{\mathfrak{a}}^{a}_{0i}\left(\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i} - \frac{1}{4}\hat{c}_{i}h\right) + \mathcal{O}(\Box) = -v_{0i}\varphi_{\mathfrak{s}i} + \mathcal{O}(\Box), \qquad (19.3.4)$$

¹We have used

$$\nabla_i \left\langle T_j^i \right\rangle = \partial_i \left\langle T_j^i \right\rangle - \Gamma_{ij}^k \left\langle T_k^i \right\rangle_0 + \Gamma_{ki}^i \left\langle T_j^k \right\rangle_0 = \partial_i \left\langle T_j^i \right\rangle - \Gamma_{ij}^i e + \Gamma_{ji}^i e = \partial_i \left\langle T_j^i \right\rangle.$$

where the contributions proportional to \check{c}_i and \mathfrak{a}_{ri} can be neglected because v_{0i} is finite by assumption, see eq.(12.2.7). Substituting this into eq.(19.3.3) yields

$$\partial_i \left\langle T_j^i \right\rangle = -v_{0i} \partial_j \varphi_{\mathfrak{s}i} + \mathcal{O}(\Box) + \mathcal{O}(f^2) \,. \tag{19.3.5}$$

Comparing this result to eq.(19.3.2), we see that the translational Ward identity is satisfied if the contributions of order \Box vanish. We would like to understand better how to interpret this result.

19.4 Higher *n*-point functions

This thesis focussed on two-point functions, but Covariant Holographic Renormalization can be generalized to higher n-point functions. If we want the counterterms for threepoint functions, we have to keep terms up to cubic order in the fluctuations. We then repeat the steps, starting by identifying the divergences of the bare action up to cubic order, followed by an expansion of the counterterm action up to cubic order using

$$U_0 = \mathcal{U}_0 + \varphi^a \mathcal{U}_{0a} + \frac{1}{2} \varphi^a \varphi^b \mathcal{U}_{0ab} + \frac{1}{3!} \varphi^a \varphi^b \varphi^c \mathcal{D}_c \mathcal{U}_{0ab} + \mathcal{O}(f^4), \qquad (19.4.1)$$

and similarly for the other terms in eq.(11.2.4). As explained below eq.(11.2.1), for the two-point functions we can neglect counterterms proportional to

$$\nabla^i \nabla^j \Phi^a \nabla_i \nabla_j \Phi^b, \qquad R^{klmn} R_{klmn}, \qquad \nabla^2 R,$$

but we expect these counterterms to be necessary for higher *n*-point functions. It may happen that we can fix the counterterm matrices proportional to B and C_a more naturally when we consider higher *n*-point functions.

To switch terms to gauge invariant variables, we have to know the relations eq.(5.1.4) up to quadratic order in the fluctuations. These relations are much more complicated, so the level of difficulty increases rapidly. Nevertheless, the conclusion of this thesis is that one- and two-point functions of both conformal and non-conformal field theories can be holographically renormalized by covariant counterterms, which strengthens our hope that this continues to be the case for higher *n*-point functions.

Acknowledgements Many thanks to my supervisor Dr. W. Mück, my co-supervisors Dr. F. Lizzi and Dr. L. Cappiello, and the university of Naples "Federico II".

Appendix A

Notation

A.1 Scalars

Symbol	Meaning
$\Phi(r,x)$	Scalar
$\phi(r)$	Scalar, background
$\varphi(r,x)$	Scalar, fluctuation
$\Phi_{\mathfrak{s}}(x)$	Scalar source
$\phi_{\mathfrak{s}}$	Scalar source, background
$\varphi_{\mathfrak{s}}(x)$	Scalar source, fluctuation
$\Phi_{\mathfrak{r}}(x)$	Scalar response
$\phi_{\mathfrak{r}}$	Scalar response, background
$\varphi_{\mathfrak{r}}(x)$	Scalar response, fluctuation

A.2 Metric

Symbol	Meaning
$G(\Phi)$	Sigma model metric
$\bar{G}(\phi)$	Sigma model metric, background
$\mathcal{G}(\Phi)$	Sigma model connection
$ar{\mathcal{G}}(\phi)$	Sigma model connection, background
$\mathbf{g}_{\mu u}$	Bulk metric
γ_{ij}	Boundary metric
$e^{2A}\eta_{ij}$	Boundary metric, background
$e^{2A}h_{ij}$	Boundary metric, fluctuation
$\mathbf{R}[\mathbf{g}]_{\mu u}$	Ricci tensor, bulk
R_{ij}	Ricci tensor, boundary
$\Gamma[\mathbf{g}]^{ ho}_{\mu u}$	Bulk connection
Γ^k_{lm}	Boundary connection
$ abla [\mathbf{g}]_{\mu}$	Bulk nabla
∇_m	Boundary nabla

Appendix B Counterterm expansion

We now show how we expanded the general counterterm eq.(11.2.4) up to second order in the gauge invariant fluctuations, leading to eq.(11.2.6).

B.1 Expansion of Individual Counterterms

The counterterm action is given by

$$S_{\rm cov} = \int d^d x \sqrt{\gamma} \mathcal{L}_{\rm cov}, \qquad (B.1.1)$$

where the Lagrangian is given by eq.(11.2.4), which we repeat here for simplicity,

$$\mathcal{L}_{cov} = U_0 - \frac{1}{2} U_{1ab} \nabla^i \Phi^a \nabla_i \Phi^b + \frac{1}{2} U_{2ab} \nabla^2 \Phi^a \nabla^2 \Phi^b + \frac{1}{4} T_1 R - \frac{1}{4} T_2 R^{ij} R_{ij} + B R^2 + C_a \nabla^i \Phi^a \nabla_i R + \dots$$
(B.1.2)

Up to second order and up to boundary terms, we find

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{\gamma}U_{0} &= e^{dA}\mathcal{U}_{0}\Big(1 + \frac{1}{2}H + \frac{d}{2(d-1)}h - \frac{1}{4}\epsilon_{j}^{i}\epsilon_{i}^{j} + \frac{1}{2}\epsilon^{i}\Box\epsilon_{i} + \\ &- \frac{1}{8}H^{2} + \frac{d-2}{4(d-1)}Hh + \frac{d(d-2)}{8(d-1)^{2}}h^{2}\Big) + \\ &+ e^{dA}\mathcal{U}_{0a}\left(\mathfrak{a}^{a} + \frac{1}{2}H\mathfrak{a}^{a} + \frac{d}{2(d-1)}h\mathfrak{a}^{a} + \\ &- \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{4\mathcal{W}}\left[h + \frac{1}{2}Hh + \frac{d}{2(d-1)}h^{2}\right]\right) + \\ &+ \frac{e^{dA}}{4\mathcal{W}}\Big(\mathfrak{a}^{a}\mathfrak{a}^{b} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{2\mathcal{W}}\mathfrak{a}^{b}h + \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}\mathcal{W}^{b}}{16\mathcal{W}^{2}}h^{2}\Big) \\ \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\gamma}U_{1ab}\nabla^{i}\Phi^{a}\nabla_{i}\Phi^{b} &= \frac{1}{2}e^{(d-2)A}\mathcal{U}_{1ab}\left(\mathfrak{a}^{a}\Box\mathfrak{a}^{b} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{2\mathcal{W}}\mathfrak{a}^{b}\Box h + \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}\mathcal{W}^{b}}{16\mathcal{W}^{2}}h\Box h\right) \\ \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\gamma}U_{2ab}\nabla^{2}\Phi^{a}\nabla^{2}\Phi^{b} &= \frac{1}{2}e^{(d-4)A}\mathcal{U}_{2ab}\left(\mathfrak{a}^{a}\Box^{2}\mathfrak{a}^{b} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{2\mathcal{W}}\mathfrak{a}^{b}\Box^{2}h + \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}\mathcal{W}^{b}}{16\mathcal{W}^{2}}h\Box^{2}h\right) \\ &- \frac{1}{4}\sqrt{\gamma}T_{1}R &= -\frac{e^{(d-2)A}}{16}\mathcal{T}_{1}\left(\epsilon_{j}^{i}\Box\mathfrak{e}_{i}^{j} - \frac{d-2}{d-1}h\Box h\right) + \\ &+ \frac{1}{4}e^{(d-2)A}\mathcal{D}_{a}\mathcal{T}_{1}\left(\mathfrak{a}^{a}\Box h - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{4\mathcal{W}}h\Box h\right) \\ &- \frac{1}{4}\sqrt{\gamma}T_{2}R^{ij}R_{ij} &= -\frac{e^{(d-4)A}}{16}\mathcal{T}_{2}\left(\mathfrak{e}_{j}^{i}\Box^{2}\mathfrak{e}_{i}^{j} + \frac{d}{d-1}h\Box^{2}h\right) \\ &\sqrt{\gamma}BR^{2} &= e^{(d-4)A}\mathcal{B}h\Box^{2}h \\ &\sqrt{\gamma}C_{a}\nabla^{i}\Phi^{a}\nabla_{i}R &= e^{(d-4)A}\mathcal{C}_{a}\left(\mathfrak{a}^{a}\Box^{2}h - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{4\mathcal{W}}h\Box^{2}h\right). \end{split}$$

B.2 General Expansions

We made use of the following expressions below.

Metric

$$\gamma_{ij} = e^{2A} \left(\eta_{ij} + h_{ij} \right).$$
 (B.2.1)

Connection

$$2\Gamma_{ij}^{k} = \partial_{(i}h_{j)}^{k} - \partial^{k}h_{ij} - h_{p}^{k}\left(\partial_{(i}h_{j)}^{p} - \partial^{p}h_{ij}\right) + \mathcal{O}(h^{3}).$$
(B.2.2)

Riemann tensor

$$2R^{k}{}_{mln} = \partial_{l}\partial_{(m}h^{k}{}_{n)} - \partial_{l}\partial^{k}h_{mn} - \partial_{l}\left[h^{k}{}_{p}\left(\partial_{(m}h^{p}{}_{n)} - \partial^{p}h_{mn}\right)\right] + \\ - \partial_{n}\partial_{(m}h^{k}{}_{l)} + \partial_{n}\partial^{k}h_{ml} + \partial_{n}\left[h^{k}{}_{p}\left(\partial_{(m}h^{p}{}_{l)} - \partial^{p}h_{ml}\right)\right] + \\ + \frac{1}{2}\left(\partial_{(l}h^{k}{}_{p)} - \partial^{k}h_{lp}\right)\left(\partial_{(m}h^{p}{}_{n)} - \partial^{p}h_{mn}\right) + \\ - \frac{1}{2}\left(\partial_{(n}h^{k}{}_{p)} - \partial^{k}h_{np}\right)\left(\partial_{(m}h^{p}{}_{l)} - \partial^{p}h_{ml}\right) + \mathcal{O}(h^{3}).$$
(B.2.3)

Ricci tensor

$$2R_{mn} = \partial_k \partial_{(m} h_{n)}^k - \Box h_{mn} - \partial_n \partial_{(m} h_{k)}^k + \partial_n \partial^k h_{mk} + \\ + \partial_n \left[h_p^k \left(\partial_{(m} h_{k)}^p - \partial^p h_{mk} \right) \right] - \partial_k \left[h_p^k \left(\partial_{(m} h_{n)}^p - \partial^p h_{mn} \right) \right] + \\ + \frac{1}{2} \partial_p h_k^k \left(\partial_{(m} h_{n)}^p - \partial^p h_{mn} \right) + \\ - \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_{(n} h_{p)}^k - \partial^k h_{np} \right) \left(\partial_{(m} h_{k)}^p - \partial^p h_{mk} \right) + \mathcal{O}(h^3) .$$
(B.2.4)

Ricci scalar

$$e^{2A}R = \partial_i\partial^j h^i_j - \Box h^k_k + \frac{1}{4}h^i_j \Box h^j_i + \frac{1}{2}\partial^j h^i_j \partial_k h^k_i + \frac{1}{4}h^k_k \Box h^m_m + \mathcal{O}(h^3)$$

$$= -\Box h + \frac{1}{4}\mathfrak{e}^i_j \Box \mathfrak{e}^j_i + \frac{1}{2}H\Box h + \frac{d+2}{4(d-1)}h\Box h + \mathcal{O}(h^3).$$
(B.2.5)

Determinant To compute the determinant $\gamma \equiv \det \gamma_{ij}$, we used

$$\gamma \equiv \det \gamma_{ij} = e^{2dA} \det \left(\eta_{ij} + h_{ij} \right), \tag{B.2.6}$$

where

$$\det(\eta_{ij} + h_{ij}) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m!} \left(-\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^n}{n} \operatorname{tr}(h_{ij}^n) \right)^m.$$
(B.2.7)

Up to second order, this reads

$$\det(\eta_{ij} + h_{ij}) = 1 + \operatorname{tr} h_{ij} + \frac{1}{2} \left[(\operatorname{tr} h_{ij})^2 - \operatorname{tr} (h_{ij}^2) \right] + \mathcal{O}(h_{ij}^3).$$
(B.2.8)

Then we find

$$\gamma = e^{2dA} \left[1 + h_k^k + \frac{1}{2} \left(\left(h_k^k \right)^2 - h_k^m h_m^k \right) \right] + \mathcal{O}(h^3) .$$
 (B.2.9)

Substituting eq.(4.2.10) and eq.(4.2.12), we find

$$\gamma = e^{2dA} \left(1 + H + \frac{d}{d-1}h - \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{e}_k^m \mathbf{e}_m^k + \epsilon^k \Box \epsilon_k + Hh + \frac{d}{2(d-1)}h^2 \right) + \mathcal{O}(f^3) .$$
(B.2.10)

To calculate the square root, we use

$$\sqrt{\gamma} = e^{dA}\sqrt{1+\varepsilon} = e^{dA}\left(1 + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon - \frac{1}{8}\varepsilon^2 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^3)\right), \qquad (B.2.11)$$

where we defined

$$\varepsilon \equiv H + \frac{d}{d-1}h - \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{e}_k^m \mathbf{e}_m^k + \epsilon^k \Box \epsilon_k + Hh + \frac{d}{2(d-1)}h^2.$$
(B.2.12)

Substituting eq.(B.2.12) in eq.(B.2.11) yields

$$\sqrt{\gamma} = e^{dA} \left(1 + \frac{1}{2}H + \frac{d}{2(d-1)}h - \frac{1}{4} \mathbf{e}_k^m \mathbf{e}_m^k + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^k \Box \epsilon_k + \frac{1}{8} H^2 + \frac{d-2}{4(d-1)} Hh + \frac{d(d-2)}{8(d-1)^2} h^2 \right) + \mathcal{O}(f^3) .$$
(B.2.13)

Appendix C One-point functions

Here we show how to obtain one-point functions up to linear order in the sources from the renormalized action.

C.1 Renormalized Action

The renormalized action is given by eq.(11.2.13),

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{\gamma} \mathcal{L}_{\text{ren}} &= \frac{e^{dA}}{2} \mathfrak{a}^a \left(\bar{G}_{ab} \mathcal{D}_r - \mathcal{M}_{ab} + \mathcal{U}_{ab} \right) \mathfrak{a}^b + \frac{e^{dA}}{16} \mathfrak{e}^i_j \left(\partial_r - \mathcal{T} \right) \mathfrak{e}^j_i + \\ &+ \frac{e^{dA}}{4} h \left(\mathcal{D}_a \mathcal{T} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^b}{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{U}_{ab} + \mathcal{O} (\Box^2) \right) \left(\mathfrak{a}^a - \frac{\mathcal{W}^a}{8\mathcal{W}} h \right) + \\ &- \left(1 + \frac{1}{2} H + \frac{d}{2(d-1)} h \right) \left(v_i \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i} - \frac{v}{4} h \right) + \\ &- \frac{e^{(d-2)A}}{16(d-1)} \mathcal{T}_1 h \Box h + e \left[1 + \frac{1}{2} H + \frac{d}{2(d-1)} h + \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \mathfrak{e}^m_k \mathfrak{e}^k_m + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^k \Box \epsilon_k - \frac{1}{8} H^2 + \frac{d-2}{4(d-1)} \left(H + \frac{d}{2(d-1)} h \right) h \right]. (C.1.1) \end{split}$$

We used the definitions,

$$e \equiv e^{dA} \mathcal{U}_0, \qquad v_i \equiv -e^{dA} \mathcal{U}_{0a} \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_i^a, \qquad v \equiv -e^{dA} \mathcal{U}_{0a} \frac{\mathcal{W}^a}{4\mathcal{W}}.$$
 (C.1.2)

In the main text we set e = 0, but we keep it around here to show its interpretation. The QFT one-point functions can be obtained from eq.(C.1.1) as follows

$$\langle T_{ij} \rangle = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{\gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}}} \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}^{ij}}, \qquad \langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}}} \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \varphi_{\mathfrak{s}i}}.$$
 (C.1.3)

This means that the variation of the action reads

$$\delta S_{\rm ren} = -\int d^d x \sqrt{\gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}} \left[\frac{1}{2} \langle T_{ij} \rangle \, \delta \gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}^{ij} + \langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle \, \delta \varphi_{\mathfrak{s}i} \right]. \tag{C.1.4}$$

C.2 Linear Expansion

Let us expand eq.(C.1.4) first to linear and then to quadratic order in the fluctuations. From eq.(B.2.13) we find

$$\sqrt{\gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}} = 1 + \frac{1}{2}H + \frac{d}{2(d-1)}h + \mathcal{O}(f^2).$$
 (C.2.1)

From eq.(4.2.10) we find

$$\gamma^{i}_{\mathfrak{s}j} = \mathfrak{e}^{i}_{\mathfrak{s}j} + \partial^{i}\epsilon_{j} + \partial_{j}\epsilon^{i} + \frac{\partial^{i}\partial_{j}}{\Box}H + \frac{\delta^{i}_{j}}{d-1}h.$$
(C.2.2)

We decompose T_j^i similar to h_j^i in eq.(4.2.10),

$$T_j^i = \mathcal{T}_j^i + \partial^i \mathcal{T}_j + \partial_j \mathcal{T}^i + \frac{\partial^i \partial_j}{\Box} \mathcal{T}_H + \frac{\delta_j^i}{d-1} \mathcal{T}_h.$$
(C.2.3)

Here, \mathcal{T}^i_j is traceless and transversal and \mathcal{T}^i is transversal

$$\mathcal{T}_{j}^{i} \equiv \Pi_{jl}^{ik} T_{k}^{l}, \qquad \partial_{i} \mathcal{T}^{i} \equiv 0,$$
 (C.2.4)

where the traceless transverse projector Π_{jl}^{ik} is defined by

$$\Pi_{jl}^{ik} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \left(\Pi^{ik} \Pi_{jl} + \Pi_l^i \Pi_j^k \right) - \frac{1}{d-1} \Pi_j^i \Pi_l^k, \qquad (C.2.5)$$

and the transverse projector Π_j^i is defined by eq.(4.2.9). We also decompose $\varphi_{\mathfrak{s}i}$ into $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}$ and h. From eq.(5.1.6) and eq.(5.1.20) we find

$$\varphi^{a} = \mathfrak{a}^{a} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{a}}{4\mathcal{W}}h = \hat{\mathfrak{a}}_{0i}^{a}\left(\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i} - \frac{1}{4}\hat{c}_{i}h\right) + \check{\mathfrak{a}}_{0i}^{a}\left(\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}i} - \frac{1}{4}\check{c}_{i}h\right) + \mathcal{O}(\Box), \qquad (C.2.6)$$

from which we read off

$$\varphi_{\mathfrak{s}i} = \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i} - \frac{1}{4}\hat{c}_i h, \qquad \varphi_{\mathfrak{r}i} = \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}i} - \frac{1}{4}\check{c}_i h.$$
 (C.2.7)

Substituting the decompositions eq.(C.2.3) and eq.(C.2.7) in eq.(C.1.4) yields

$$\delta S_{\rm ren}^{(1)} = \int d^d x \left[\frac{1}{2} \left\langle \mathcal{T}_i^j \right\rangle_0 \delta \mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{s}j}^i - \left\langle \Box \, \mathcal{T}_i \right\rangle_0 \delta \epsilon^i + \frac{1}{2} \left(\left\langle \mathcal{T}_H \right\rangle_0 + \frac{1}{d-1} \left\langle \mathcal{T}_h \right\rangle_0 \right) \delta H + \left(\frac{1}{2(d-1)} \left\langle \mathcal{T}_H \right\rangle_0 + \frac{d}{2(d-1)^2} \left\langle \mathcal{T}_h \right\rangle_0 + \frac{\hat{c}_i}{4} \left\langle \mathcal{O}_i \right\rangle_0 \right) \delta h + \left(\left\langle \mathcal{O}_i \right\rangle_0 \delta \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i} \right].$$
(C.2.8)

From this we find

$$\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}^{(1)}}{\delta \epsilon^{i}} = -\langle \Box \mathcal{T}_{i} \rangle_{0}$$

$$\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}^{(1)}}{\delta \epsilon_{\mathfrak{s}j}^{i}} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathcal{T}_{i}^{j} \rangle_{0}$$

$$\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}^{(1)}}{\delta h} = \frac{1}{2(d-1)} \langle \mathcal{T}_{H} \rangle_{0} + \frac{d}{2(d-1)^{2}} \langle \mathcal{T}_{h} \rangle_{0} + \frac{\hat{c}_{i}}{4} \langle \mathcal{O}_{i} \rangle_{0}$$

$$\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}^{(1)}}{\delta H} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathcal{T}_{H} \rangle_{0} + \frac{1}{2(d-1)} \langle \mathcal{T}_{h} \rangle_{0}$$

$$\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}^{(1)}}{\delta \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}} = - \langle \mathcal{O}_{i} \rangle_{0}.$$
(C.2.9)

We can invert these relations to

$$\langle \mathcal{T}_{h} \rangle_{0} = 2(d-1) \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}^{(1)}}{\delta h} - 2 \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}^{(1)}}{\delta H} + \frac{d-1}{2} \hat{c}_{i} \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}^{(1)}}{\delta \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}} \langle \mathcal{T}_{H} \rangle_{0} = -2 \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}^{(1)}}{\delta h} + \frac{2d}{d-1} \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}^{(1)}}{\delta H} - \frac{\hat{c}_{i}}{2} \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}^{(1)}}{\delta \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}} \langle \Box \mathcal{T}^{i} \rangle_{0} = -\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}^{(1)}}{\delta \epsilon^{i}} \langle \mathcal{T}_{i}^{j} \rangle_{0} = 2 \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}^{(1)}}{\delta \mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{s}j}^{i}} \langle \mathcal{O}_{i} \rangle_{0} = -\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}^{(1)}}{\delta \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}}.$$
 (C.2.10)

From eq.(C.2.3) and eq.(C.2.10) we find

$$\left\langle T_k^k \right\rangle_0 = \left\langle \mathcal{T}_H \right\rangle_0 + \frac{d}{d-1} \left\langle \mathcal{T}_h \right\rangle_0 = 2(d-1)\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}^{(1)}}{\delta h} + \frac{d-1}{2}\hat{c}_i \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}^{(1)}}{\delta \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}}.$$
 (C.2.11)

The linear part of the on-shell action eq.(C.1.1) reads

$$S_{\rm ren}^{(1)} = \int d^d x \left[\frac{1}{2} e H + \left(\frac{d}{2(d-1)} e + \frac{v}{4} \right) h - v_{0i} \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i} \right].$$
(C.2.12)

Notice that we were allowed to replace v_i by v_{0i} , because terms with \Box acting on $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}$ are total derivatives, which drop out since we integrate them over the boundary. From eq.(C.2.12) we find

$$\frac{\delta S_{\rm ren}^{(1)}}{\delta h} = \frac{d}{2(d-1)}e + \frac{1}{4}v, \qquad \frac{\delta S_{\rm ren}^{(1)}}{\delta H} = \frac{1}{2}e, \qquad \frac{\delta S_{\rm ren}^{(1)}}{\delta \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}} = -v_{0i}. \tag{C.2.13}$$

This gives

$$\langle \mathcal{T}_i^j \rangle_0 = \langle \Box \mathcal{T}^i \rangle_0 = \langle \mathcal{T}_H \rangle_0 = 0, \qquad \langle \mathcal{T}_h \rangle_0 = (d-1)e, \qquad \langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle_0 = v_{0i}.$$
 (C.2.14)

From eq.(C.2.11) we then find

$$\left\langle T_k^k \right\rangle_0 = de. \tag{C.2.15}$$

We can summarize the two equations above as follows

$$\langle T_j^i \rangle_0 = \delta_j^i e, \qquad \langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle_0 = v_{0i}.$$
 (C.2.16)

This shows that e has the interpretation of the vacuum energy density and v_{0i} has the interpretation of the vev of the QFT operator \mathcal{O}_i .

C.3 Quadratic Expansion

Using the results from the expansion up to first order, we can continue to expand eq.(C.1.4) up to second order,

$$\delta S_{\rm ren} = \int d^d x \Biggl\{ \frac{1}{2} \left(\left\langle \mathcal{T}_i^j \right\rangle - e \mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{s}i}^j \right) \delta \mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{s}j}^i + \Box \left(e \epsilon_k - \left\langle \mathcal{T}_k \right\rangle \right) \delta \epsilon^k + \\ + \left[\frac{1}{2} \left\langle \mathcal{T}_H \right\rangle + \frac{1}{2(d-1)} \left\langle \mathcal{T}_h \right\rangle + \frac{e}{4} \left(\frac{d-2}{d-1} h - H \right) \right] \delta H + \\ + \left[\frac{1}{2(d-1)} \left\langle \mathcal{T}_H \right\rangle + \frac{d}{2(d-1)^2} \left\langle \mathcal{T}_h \right\rangle + \frac{1}{4} \hat{c}_i \left\langle \mathcal{O}_i \right\rangle + \\ + \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{d-2}{d-1} e + \frac{1}{2} v \right) \left(H + \frac{d}{d-1} h \right) \Biggr] \delta h + \\ - \left(\left\langle \mathcal{O}_i \right\rangle + \frac{1}{2} v_{0i} H + \frac{d}{2(d-1)} v_{0i} h \right) \delta \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i} \Biggr\}.$$
(C.3.1)

We have used the relation

$$v \equiv -e^{dA} \mathcal{U}_{0a} \frac{\mathcal{W}^a}{\mathcal{W}} = -e^{dA} \mathcal{U}_{0a} \hat{c}_i \hat{\mathbf{a}}^a_{0i} = \hat{c}_i v_{0i}, \qquad (C.3.2)$$

where the contribution proportional to \check{c}_i can be neglected because v_{0i} is finite by assumption, see eq.(12.2.7).

From eq.(C.3.1) we read off

$$\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{s}i}^{j}} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\left\langle T_{j}^{i} \right\rangle - e \mathbf{e}_{\mathfrak{s}j}^{i} \right) \\
\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \epsilon^{k}} = e \Box \epsilon_{k} - \Box \left\langle T_{k} \right\rangle \\
\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta H} = \frac{1}{2} \left\langle T_{H} \right\rangle + \frac{1}{2(d-1)} \left\langle T_{h} \right\rangle + \frac{e}{4} \left(\frac{d-2}{d-1} h - H \right) \\
\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta h} = \frac{1}{2(d-1)} \left\langle T_{H} \right\rangle + \frac{d}{2(d-1)^{2}} \left\langle T_{h} \right\rangle + \frac{1}{4} \hat{c}_{i} \left\langle \mathcal{O}_{i} \right\rangle + \\
+ \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{d-2}{d-1} e + \frac{1}{2} v \right) \left(H + \frac{d}{d-1} h \right) \\
\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}} = - \left\langle \mathcal{O}_{i} \right\rangle - \frac{1}{2} v_{0i} \left(H + \frac{d}{d-1} h \right).$$
(C.3.3)

We can invert the relations to

$$\langle T_j^i \rangle = 2 \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{s}i}^j} + e \mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{s}j}^i$$

$$\Box \langle T_k \rangle = e \Box \epsilon_k - \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \epsilon^k}$$

$$\langle T_H \rangle = \frac{2d}{d-1} \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta H} - 2 \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta h} + \frac{1}{2} \hat{c}_i \langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle - \frac{d}{2(d-1)} e \left(\frac{d-2}{d-1}h - H\right) +$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{d-2}{d-1}e + \frac{1}{2}v\right) \left(H + \frac{d}{d-1}h\right)$$

$$\langle T_h \rangle = 2(d-1) \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta h} - 2 \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta H} - \frac{d-1}{2} \hat{c}_i \langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle +$$

$$- \frac{d-1}{2} \left(e + \frac{1}{2}v\right) H - \left(\frac{1}{d-1}e + \frac{d}{4}v\right) h$$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle = -\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}i}} - \frac{1}{2} v_{0i} \left(H + \frac{d}{d-1}h\right).$$

$$(C.3.4)$$

For the Ward identities, the following combinations of $\langle \mathcal{T}_H \rangle$ and $\langle \mathcal{T}_h \rangle$ are interesting,

$$\langle T_k^k \rangle = \langle \mathcal{T}_H \rangle + \frac{d}{d-1} \langle \mathcal{T}_h \rangle, \qquad \partial_i \langle T_j^i \rangle = \Box \mathcal{T}_j + \partial_j \left(\langle \mathcal{T}_H \rangle + \frac{1}{d-1} \langle \mathcal{T}_h \rangle \right). \quad (C.3.5)$$

Substituting eq.(C.3.4) in eq.(C.3.5) yields

$$\partial_i \left\langle T_j^i \right\rangle = -\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \epsilon^i} + 2\partial_j \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta H} + e \left(\Box \epsilon_i - \frac{d-2}{2(d-1)} \partial_j h + \frac{1}{2} \partial_j H \right)$$

$$\left\langle T_k^k \right\rangle = 2(d-1) \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta h} - \frac{d-1}{2} \hat{c}_i \left\langle \mathcal{O}_i \right\rangle + \frac{d-1}{2} \left(\frac{d-2}{d-1} e + \frac{1}{2} v \right) \left(H + \frac{d}{d-1} h \right).$$
(C.3.6)

Let us summarize our results with e = 0,

$$\Box \langle T_i \rangle = -\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \epsilon^i}$$

$$\langle \Pi_{jm}^{ik} T_k^m \rangle = 2 \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \epsilon_{si}^j}$$

$$\partial_i \langle T_j^i \rangle = -\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \epsilon^i} + 2 \partial_j \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta H}$$

$$\langle T_k^k \rangle + \frac{d-1}{2} \hat{c}_i \langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle = 2(d-1) \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta h} - \frac{d-1}{4} v \left(H + \frac{d}{d-1} h \right)$$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_i \rangle = -\frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}}{\delta \mathfrak{a}_{si}} - \frac{1}{2} v_{0i} \left(H + \frac{d}{d-1} h \right). \quad (C.3.7)$$

C.4 One-point Functions

Using the renormalized action given by eq.(11.2.13) we find the following one-point functions up to linear order

$$\Box \langle \mathcal{T}_{k} \rangle = 0$$

$$\langle \Pi_{jm}^{ik} \mathcal{T}_{k}^{m} \rangle = \frac{1}{4} Y \mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{r}_{j}}^{i}$$

$$\partial_{i} \langle \mathcal{T}_{j}^{i} \rangle = e^{dA} \mathcal{U}_{0a} \partial_{j} \varphi^{a}$$

$$\langle \mathcal{T}_{k}^{k} \rangle + \frac{d-1}{2} \hat{c}_{i} \langle \mathcal{O}_{i} \rangle = \frac{d-1}{2} v + \frac{d-1}{2} e^{dA} \left(\mathcal{D}_{a} \mathcal{T} - \frac{\mathcal{W}^{b}}{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{U}_{ab} + \mathcal{O}(\Box^{2}) \right) \varphi^{a} + de^{dA} \mathcal{U}_{0a} \varphi^{a} - \frac{a_{R}}{4} \Box h$$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{i} \rangle = v_{0i} + Z_{ij} \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{r}_{j}} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{Z}_{ij} \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{s}_{j}} - \frac{1}{4} x_{i} h$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}} = a - e^{dA} \varphi^{a} \partial_{A} \mathcal{U}_{0a} - \frac{a_{R}}{4} \Box h.$$
(C.4.1)

The matrices Z_{ij} and \tilde{Z}_{ij} are given by eq.(9.3.4), the operator $x_i(\Box)$ is defined by eq.(11.2.14), and the functions a and a_R are defined by eq.(11.3.4).

Bibliography

- Ofer Aharony, Steven S. Gubser, Juan Martin Maldacena, Hirosi Ooguri, and Yaron Oz. Large N field theories, string theory and gravity. *Phys. Rept.*, 323:183– 386, 2000.
- [2] Marcus Berg, Michael Haack, and Wolfgang Mueck. Bulk dynamics in confining gauge theories. Nucl. Phys., B736:82–132, 2006.
- [3] Marcus Berg, Michael Haack, and Wolfgang Mueck. Glueballs vs. gluinoballs: Fluctuation spectra in non- AdS/non-CFT. *Nucl. Phys.*, B789:1–44, 2008.
- [4] Massimo Bianchi, Daniel Z. Freedman, and Kostas Skenderis. Holographic Renormalization. Nucl. Phys., B631:159–194, 2002.
- [5] Massimo Bianchi, Maurizio Prisco, and Wolfgang Mueck. New results on holographic three-point functions. JHEP, 11:052, 2003.
- [6] Natalia Borodatchenkova, Michael Haack, and Wolfgang Muck. Towards Holographic Renormalization of Fake Supergravity. Nucl. Phys., B815:215–239, 2009.
- [7] Alessio Celi, Anna Ceresole, Gianguido Dall'Agata, Antoine Van Proeyen, and Marco Zagermann. On the fakeness of fake supergravity. *Phys. Rev.*, D71:045009, 2005.
- [8] Jan de Boer, Erik P. Verlinde, and Herman L. Verlinde. On the holographic renormalization group. *JHEP*, 08:003, 2000.
- [9] Eric D'Hoker and Daniel Z. Freedman. Supersymmetric gauge theories and the AdS/CFT correspondence. 2002.
- [10] Paolo Di Vecchia. An introduction to AdS/CFT correspondence. Fortsch. Phys., 48:87–92, 2000.
- [11] Michael R. Douglas and S. Randjbar-Daemi. Two lectures on AdS/CFT correspondence. 1999.
- [12] Daniel Z. Freedman, Samir D. Mathur, Alec Matusis, and Leonardo Rastelli. Correlation functions in the CFT(d)/AdS(d+1) correspondence. *Nucl. Phys.*, B546:96–118, 1999.

- [13] S. S. Gubser, Igor R. Klebanov, and Alexander M. Polyakov. Gauge theory correlators from non-critical string theory. *Phys. Lett.*, B428:105–114, 1998.
- [14] M. Henningson and K. Skenderis. The holographic Weyl anomaly. JHEP, 07:023, 1998.
- [15] Hong Liu and Arkady A. Tseytlin. D = 4 super Yang-Mills, D = 5 gauged supergravity, and D = 4 conformal supergravity. Nucl. Phys., B533:88–108, 1998.
- [16] Juan Martin Maldacena. The large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys., 2:231–252, 1998.
- [17] Dario Martelli and Wolfgang Mueck. Holographic renormalization and Ward identities with the Hamilton-Jacobi method. Nucl. Phys., B654:248–276, 2003.
- [18] Wolfgang Muck. Running Scaling Dimensions in Holographic Renormalization Group Flows. JHEP, 08:085, 2010.
- [19] Wolfgang Mueck and K. S. Viswanathan. Conformal field theory correlators from classical scalar field theory on AdS(d+1). *Phys. Rev.*, D58:041901, 1998.
- [20] Hirosi Ooguri. Gauge theory and string theory: An introduction to the AdS/CFT correspondence. Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl., 83:77–81, 2000.
- [21] Ioannis Papadimitriou and Kostas Skenderis. Correlation functions in holographic RG flows. JHEP, 10:075, 2004.
- [22] Michael Edward Peskin and Daniel V. Schroeder. An Introduction to Quantum Field Theory. Addison-Wesley Pub. Co., 1995.
- [23] Jens Lyng Petersen. Introduction to the Maldacena conjecture on AdS/CFT. Int. J. Mod. Phys., A14:3597–3672, 1999.
- [24] Kostas Skenderis. Lecture notes on holographic renormalization. Class. Quant. Grav., 19:5849–5876, 2002.
- [25] Leonard Susskind. The World as a hologram. J. Math. Phys., 36:6377–6396, 1995.
- [26] Gerard 't Hooft. Dimensional reduction in quantum gravity. 1993.
- [27] Robert M. Wald. General Relativity. University Of Chicago Press, first edition edition, 1984.
- [28] Edward Witten. Anti-de Sitter space and holography. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys., 2:253–291, 1998.
- [29] Marco Zagermann. N = 4 fake supergravity. *Phys. Rev.*, D71:125007, 2005.